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Our StrateGy

1
Growth

2
Capabilities

3
Cost

4
Synergies

We provide power transmission 
components, engineering and other
related industrial services and fulfil 
a pivotal role between customers 
and suppliers, adding value 
to both through services of the 
highest quality.

Our strategy has been clear and 
consistent over the past eight years 
– and is focused on four key areas
of growth, capabilities, costs 
and synergies.

> Country organic growth
> Key Accounts
> Insites™
> Product range extension
> Customer service

> People development
> Business skills development
> Distributed learning programme
> Internal communications and involvement

> Supplier rationalisation
> European buying
> IT and other cost reductions
> Capital employed management

> Business best practice
> Systems integration
> Brand development
> Supplier relationship management



Our perfOrmanCe Our priOritieS

Our value prOpOSitiOn

Customer requires

> Reduce total 
acquisition 
costs

> Improve 
production 
efficiency

> Reduce working
capital

> Brammer product
portfolio

> Brammer product
portfolio

> Brammer product
portfolio

> Product and brand 
rationalisation

> Standardisation

> Stock profiling

> Performance 
measurement

> Condition monitoring
> Technical support
> Repairs
> Drive design
> Application advice

> Technical consultancy
> 24/7/365 service
> Component kitting
> Delivery to line

> Product transformation/
adaption

> Original Equipment 
(“OE”) parts conversion

> Substitute parts

> Transaction analysis 
reporting

> Consolidated invoicing
> Blanket orders
> Electronic ordering/

invoicing
> Purchase cards
> Self billing

> Supplier reduction
> Vendor managed 

inventory
> Training
> Equipment surveys
> Insite™ services
> Energy survey/monitoring
> Consignment stock 

management

Brammer capability

Portfolio Products Business processes Organisation

> SPWD growth
> Key Account growth (in revenue and contracts)
> Insites™ growth (in revenue and number)
> Non-bearings / T&GM / market segment growth
> Customer satisfaction

> Sales per employee / training spend per employee
> Graduate training scheme
> E-learning programme
> Employee satisfaction survey / European council 

of employee representatives

> Supplier ‘brandings’ (80% of purchases)
> Gross margin %
> RoS % growth / EPS growth / SDA % : sales
> ROCE % / stock turns

> Standard internal processes and manuals
> MDM / E-shop / Brammer online / inline
> Roebuck brand awareness and sales
> Supplier scorecards

Our number one priority is growth – achieved in five areas: using our 
experience to focus on key market segments and producing solutions 
for our customers based on this experience; providing solutions for Key
Account customers on a national and pan-European basis; developing the
Insite™ concept with our larger customers; cross-selling; and acquisition.

Our capabilities strategy aims to ensure that our people are the best 
recruited, best trained, and most highly skilled people in the industry.

Our cost strategy ensures that we source product under the most 
advantageous terms for our customers, and that our sales, distribution
and administration costs are spent as efficiently as possible.

Our synergies strategy provides benefits by leveraging the fact that 
we supply the same service and products to the same type of customer 
in over 350 locations in 16 countries.

Our extensive range of added value services are categorised
under (i) the extensive portfolio of mechanical MRO products
that we have available – from bearings to belts, from seals to
chain, from motors to gearboxes; (ii) the way in which we can
modify and adapt these products to ensure that our customers’

specific needs can be addressed; (iii) the business processes
by which we can assist our customers improve their internal 
efficiencies and (iv) the organisation solutions through which
we can assist our customers manage more effectively their 
mechanical MRO requirements.



Our reCOrd

Revenue
2012 £639.6m +12%
2011 £571.5m +22%
2010 £468.4m +10%
pROfiT befORe Tax before amortisation and exceptional items

2012 £34.5m +19%
2011 £29.0m +41%
2010 £20.6m +49%
eaRninGs peR sHaRe before amortisation and exceptional items

2012 21.9p +11%
2011 19.8p +42%
2010 13.9p +6%
dividend peR sHaRe
2012 9.4p +12%
2011 8.4p +27%
2010 6.6p +20%

TOTal sHaReHOldeR ReTuRn OveR five yeaRs
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GROWTH fROm incepTiOn Of sTRaTeGy
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Revenue £270.8m £287.4m £314.3m £379.6m £478.4m £426.1m £468.4m £571.5m £639.6m

Gross margin 30.1% 30.9% 30.5% 30.4% 30.0% 30.1% 30.1% 30.3% 30.5%

Operating profit 1 £9.8m £12.5m £15.1m £19.9m £26.2m £18.4m £23.0m £31.8m £37.2m

Return on sales1 3.6% 4.4% 4.8% 5.2% 5.5% 4.3% 4.9% 5.6% 5.8%

Operating cash flow1 £18.7m £15.7m £11.9m £16.7m £29.2m £33.3m £27.5m £28.9m £28.6m

Net debt £57.0m £50.7m £54.2m £59.4m £83.9m £39.9m £36.7m £35.3m £53.8m

Total customer signed 
off cost savings £0.4m £2.6m £8.8m £15.1m £15.0m £25.8m £30.0m £34.9m £51.5m

Earnings per share1&2 6.5p 11.2p 11.8p 14.9p 18.2p 13.1p 13.9p 19.8p 21.9p

Dividends per share2 3.4p 3.8p 4.3p 5.1p 5.5p 5.5p 6.6p 8.4p 9.4p

1 Based on profit before amortisation of acquired intangibles and exceptional items.
2 Amounts per share for 2008 and prior years were restated to reflect the effect of the 1 for 1 rights issue completed in November 2009.
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inCreaSinG Our marKet SHare
We have 10% of the bearings market in Europe and this 
is often our ‘entry ticket’. The engineers who install the bearings
and maintain the machines are also normally responsible 
for fluid power and power transmission. And, every day, they
use our range of tools and general maintenance products.

This represents a major cross-selling opportunity within 
our existing 100,000+ customers across Europe. As these 
customers use more of our products, they drastically 
reduce their number of MRO suppliers and their overall 
cost of procurement.
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Our unmatched pan-European footprint is highly valued by
customers who are seeking quality, service, transparency and
simplicity across many countries and locations. We help our
customers reduce their number of suppliers and the cost of 
acquiring MRO supplies. This increases production efficiencies
and reduces working capital – an essential part of the Brammer
value proposition to our customers.

Pan-European manufacturers who continue to use many
suppliers to satisfy their MRO requirements complicate their
procurement process and waste time and money. They are
increasingly looking to rationalise their MRO purchasing.

Brammer’s model consolidates MRO supply – reducing the
total costs of component acquisition, increasing production
efficiency and making life easier for our customers.

multi Supplier mOdel

Brammer mOdel
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marKet pOtential
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We estimate the market for our whole product range to 
be worth in excess of £33 billion. We currently have a market
share of just under 2%. It is a highly fragmented marketplace
but we are the European market leader. As pan–European 
manufacturers understand the benefits of switching all 
their MRO purchasing to Brammer, market share will not 
be a constraint on growth for decades to come.

2010
222

2011
270

2012
327

47%
Growth in Brammer Insites™
in just two years

WitH Over 350 lOCatiOnS in 16 COuntrieS, Brammer
HaS tHe WideSt COveraGe availaBle

POTENTIAl MARKET 
£33+ BilliOn 
bRammeR sales 
£640 milliOn
sHaRe Of jusT undeR 

2%
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GrOWtH driverS
Country organic growth
Our consistent market segmentation approach enables 
us to demonstrate to our customers that we understand 
the specific needs and requirements of their industry sector.
This strategy of focusing our sales and marketing efforts 
on resilient and even growing markets as well as continuing 
to sustain our hold on some more traditional sectors, has 
enabled us to grow our revenues by 16.2% even during 
the economically testing times. We aim to continue with this
proven strategy across europe, ensuring each country targets
both defensive and growth industry segments to maintain 
our current levels of revenue growth.
Jakob Alkil Group growth director

insites™
Our insite™ service provides our customers with a range 
of outsourced solutions giving them full or part-time site-based
personnel to deliver technical support, purchasing and inventory
management. Our insite™ customers benefit from access 
to our knowledge, support and services with the aim 
of minimising their costs, and maximising their productivity 
and the production time of their workforce and machinery. 
since the introduction of our insite™ programme over a decade
ago, we’ve seen a growing demand for them. We now have
brammer employees working in customer sites across europe.
Piotr Kokoszka European Insite™ development manager

Key accounts
Our business with Key accounts has continued to flourish; 
we now have a total of 50 at the end of 2012 with a record 
13 new pan-european Key accounts won. Key accounts now
make up 37% of our revenue and are a major growth driver.
The number of manufacturing companies looking to reduce
and consolidate their number of suppliers has risen significantly,
prompting them to look for partners who can meet their needs
both locally and on a european level. Our unique pan-european
mRO supply capability enables us to meet this demand.
Ralf Hellwig Group Key Account director

product range extension
We are the leading european distributor of mechanical 
mRO products, yet we have under 2% of this €40 billion 
market. This gives us significant opportunities for growth
within our current customer base. following our acquisition 
of buck & Hickman in 2011, 2012 saw us focus particularly 
in the Tools, personal protection equipment (ppe) and 
General maintenance market in europe, a market worth 
over €25 billion. October 2012 saw the pan-european 
launch of our Tools and General maintenance catalogue. 
This helped us towards a 20.1% sales growth in this area 
in 2012 and will continue to help us generate further 
growth in 2013.
Philippe Hervieux European managing director, 
Tools and General Maintenance

Customer service
service is at the very core of our business. so to structure 
and recognise the key importance of service to everything 
we do, we decided in 2012 to extend our four strategic
growth drivers, for the first time in more than eight years, 
by adding a fifth growth driver; customer service. We have
consistently scored highly in relation to customer service 
but, recognising its importance in this way, will allow 
us to put new processes and procedures in place in every 
part of the business and therefore be able to accelerate 
our growth performance even faster.
Ian Fraser Chief executive

BRAMMER IS THE LEADING
PAN-EUROPEAN ADDED 
VALUE DISTRIBUTOR 
OF INDUSTRIAL MAINTENANCE,
REPAIR AND OVERHAUL 
PRODUCTS WITH A STRONG
LOCAL PRESENCE.
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i was delighted to become chairman of brammer plc 
at the last annual General meeting. since being appointed 
a non-executive director in 2008 i have been impressed 
by the group’s resilient strategy which has seen it successfully
trade through a deep recession and emerge on a dynamic
growth path.

Our thanks go to david dunn, who has chaired the board
since 2001 and worked closely with ian fraser to reconfigure
brammer into the focused business it is today.

everyone who has worked or come into contact with david
will have been impressed by his diligence, incisiveness, 
and warmth. Our best wishes go to him in his retirement.

trading and strategy
2012 was a successful year for the group against an 
increasingly difficult trading environment across its continental
european markets. Total sales for the year were up 11.9% 
to £639.6 million, an increase of 16.2% on a constant currency
basis. Revenue in the uK grew by 48.8%, reflecting a full 
year contribution from the buck & Hickman business acquired
on 30 september 2011.

The underlying gross margin was up by 100 basis points 
excluding the dilutive impact of buck & Hickman during 
integration, and by 20 basis points overall. profit before tax,
before amortisation and exceptional items, increased by
19.0% to £34.5 million. at constant currency this represented
an increase of 23.2%. Operating return on sales increased 
to a new high of 5.8%, 6.6% excluding buck & Hickman.
These strong results were testament to the key initiatives 
and strategies of the group which are referred to in detail 

in the main review. The integration benefits and performance 
of buck & Hickman since acquisition have exceeded 
our expectations. a key strategic benefit of this acquisition 
is the development of a pan-european Tools and General
maintenance business, which saw the launch of a 
comprehensive catalogue in the fourth quarter.

dividend
The interim dividend for 2012 was increased by 11.1% 
to 3.0p per share. Given our future prospects, the board 
is proposing a final dividend of 6.4p, resulting in a full 
year dividend of 9.4p, an increase of 11.9% on 2011. 
This dividend would be covered 2.33 times by earnings. 
subject to shareholder approval, the final dividend 
will be paid on 2 july 2013 to shareholders on the register 
at the close of business on 7 june 2013.

Corporate social responsibility
brammer is committed to embedding sound corporate social
responsibility policies and practices, and believes that good
governance is about managing the business effectively and 
in a manner which is transparent and accountable. The group
continues to make progress in its performance in the areas 
of employee engagement, environmental performance, 
and health and safety which can be seen in the employee 
initiatives and training outlined in the capabilities section 
of the main report. carbon clear was employed to produce 
a carbon accounting tool, to enable the organisation to identify
opportunities for improving its environmental performance.
being a distribution business, brammer monitors carefully 
its packaging and distribution costs from both an efficiency
and environmental point of view, and managed to reduce
packaging costs from 0.23% to 0.18% of cost of goods sold.

CHairman’S Statement

STRONG 
PLATFORM TO
ACHIEVE 
FURTHER GAINS
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Board
The board was strengthened by the appointment of duncan
magrath as a non-executive director on 1 march 2012. 
duncan is the chief financial Officer of balfour beatty plc, 
and has a wide range of financial and corporate experience.
On my appointment as chairman, charles irving-swift took
over as chairman of the remuneration committee.

employees
On behalf of the board, i wish to express my thanks to all 
of our colleagues across the businesses for their dedication
and support through a busy and challenging year. The growth
strategies of the business could not have been implemented
without their commitment and hard work.

prospects
Our european footprint and our specialisation in the field 
of bearings, mechanical power Transmission, fluid power 
and Tools and General maintenance is a strong platform 
upon which to achieve further gains in market share 
in our fragmented market place.

Our Key accounts business remains strong, cross-selling 
initiatives to both the Key account and the base business 
are progressing well which should allow us to achieve 
healthy growth in 2013. moreover, we will continue to lead 
the consolidation of the european market in our chosen 
areas and are increasingly confident that our strategy 
will give us growth substantially above that of the market.

Bill Whiteley
19 february 2013

Bill Whiteley 
chairman
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market overview
brammer addresses the enormous market for the provision 
of bearings, mechanical power Transmission, fluid power,
Tools and General maintenance, and associated services 
to the maintenance repair and overhaul “(mRO)” market 
in europe.

We estimate the bearings market to be worth around €2 billion
annually and we have about a 10% share of that market 
making us the clear european market leader. Our bearings
presence gives us access to a significant proportion of the 
key industrial procurement personnel within businesses 
of all sizes across europe. We see bearings as the entry ticket
into our customers allowing us to sell the rest of our product
range. The engineer who installs bearings, to repair and 
maintain the machinery on the shop floor, is normally also 
responsible for installing power Transmission and fluid power
products and in doing his job uses our range of tools and 
general maintenance products. Those responsible for 
purchasing bearings at our customers are generally also 
responsible for purchasing the rest of our product range.

in mechanical power Transmission we have approximately 
3% of an estimated €5 billion market. in fluid power we have
just over 1% of an estimated €10 billion european market 
and in our relatively new product range of Tools and General
maintenance we have just 1% of what we estimate to be 
a market worth at least €25 billion across europe. Overall 
we estimate the market for our entire range of products to 
be worth in excess of €40 billion, of which we currently have 
a market share of just under 2%. Ours is a highly fragmented
marketplace and, in spite of our tiny market share, we are 
the european market leader. as a result our market share 
will not be a constraint to growth for decades to come.

Our geographic footprint across 16 countries gives us 
a european coverage far greater than any of our competitors
and is highly valuable to our customers who are increasingly
seeking a trusted level of quality and service across multiple
countries and locations.

Our customers realise that purchasing mRO supplies can 
be complex and expensive, so they have chosen to partner
with us to make it easier and help reduce their costs. 
Our value proposition is now a quotidian activity within 
brammer and specifically addresses a significant number 
of methodologies which can help the customer reduce 
their total cost of acquisition of mRO supplies. in addition,
many businesses have undergone permanent change 
in the way they operate and most are facing increased cost
pressures and more competition.

Our value proposition specifically addresses opportunities 
for the customer to improve productivity, assisted by our field
sales engineers and technical specialists, often in association
with our suppliers. finally, all of our customers recognise 
the need to have healthy cash flow and a strong balance
sheet, and our value proposition here has provided many 
cost savings to our customers by helping them better manage
their shop floor inventory, thereby reducing working capital. 
in 2012 we provided a record 5,500 recognised cost-saving
actions to our customers yielding them a financial benefit 
of £51.5 million.

Strategy implementation
Our consistent, pellucid and proven strategy encompasses
Growth, capabilities, costs and synergies.

CHief exeCutive’S revieW

HIGHEST 
NUMBER OF NEW
KEY ACCOUNTS 
IN ANY ONE YEAR*
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“Brammer’s local presence
and their strong technical 
expertise in the packaging
segment was the key 
reason we selected them 
as our preferred supplier 
to consolidate Huhtamaki’s
MRO spend and spares 
requirements. With the 
implementation of a recent
pan-European pilot project
they have managed to 
exceed our high expectations.
Brammer is a key player 
in our spare part – MRO 
management, contributing 
to Huhtamaki’s success and
we look forward to seeing
this continue in the future.”

Jan Bertels
Sourcing Category Manager
Indirect Spend
Huhtamaki Foodservice 
Europe-Asia-Oceania

* Brammer won an unprecedented 13 new pan-European Key Accounts in 2012,
each with a minimum contract period of three years and, in aggregate, ultimate
potential revenues in excess of £75 million.
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Growth
Our growth drivers have served us well over the past nine
years; in 2012 we continued to invest in and benefit from our
growth strategy focused on Key accounts, product Range 
extension, insites™ and segment-based marketing, giving
rise, once more, to growth significantly ahead of the market.

Overall organic sales per working day (“spWd”) revenue
growth (including incremental growth in buck & Hickman since
acquisition) was 2.9%, with growth of 9.4% in the first quarter
of the year, declining to –0.7% in the final quarter as our 
markets became more difficult. it is evident that our strategies
of attacking market segments with focused marketing material
and specialist sales people, growth through Key accounts, 
the development of insites™, and growth through cross-selling
and product Range extension are contributing to significant
market share gains in most territories. unless stated otherwise,
all numbers below exclude the impact of buck & Hickman,
and are shown at constant currency.

We continued to focus on a market segmentation approach,
increasing our knowledge of customers’ processes and selling
to their specific needs. in particular:

> food and drink grew by 7.7%, to £71.0 million.
> pulp and paper grew by 13.2% overall to £25.6 million.
> utilities grew by 10.8% to £20.8 million.
> automotive grew by 1.4% to £54.9 million.
> metals grew by 3.6% to £68.4 million.

Key account spWd grew by 9.8%, well below our target 
of 25%, as customers tightened their belts to counter 
the economic uncertainty which increased throughout 
the year. Key accounts now represent 37.0% of total sales.

Thirteen new european contracts were won, each with 
a minimum contract period of three years and, in aggregate,
ultimate potential annual revenues in excess of £75 million.

We continued to focus our business on more defensive 
segments and increased our Key account sales to the food
and drink segment by 11.7%, and fmcG by 7.6%. We also
saw good market share gains in the more cyclical sector 
of metals (up 15.0%).

We opened a record 88 new insites™, 38 full time and 
50 part time, with overall turnover growth of 9.0% to £105.2 
million. 31 existing insites™ were closed due to customer 
factory closures or reduced demand, giving rise to a net 
addition of 57 insites™ in the year and a total of 327 
insites™ at the year end.

extending the product offering to reflect the full brammer
range in every territory continued, and whilst bearing sales 
declined by 7.6%, non bearing sales (excluding buck 
& Hickman) rose by 5.2%, suggesting significant market 
share gains driven by growth of 20.1% in Tools and General
maintenance to £43.5 million and 6.4% growth in fluid 
power to £96.2 million.

during the year we spent a great deal of management time,
effort and investment in the development of our Tools and
General maintenance business. We created a new european
product division for Tools, General maintenance, and personal
protective equipment, headed by our former brammer 
france managing director. This division, now nearly 20 strong,
consists of senior managers and directors recruited from 
buck & Hickman as well as the wider Tools and General 
maintenance market.

GROWTH 
DRIVERS 
HAVE SERVED 
US WELL
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We have used the relationship, experience and knowledge
gained through the acquisition of buck & Hickman to develop
our relationship on a european basis with the key suppliers 
of these products, and to leverage our relationships with 
customers in every country. We identified and invited 50 key
european or Global suppliers to support us across europe,
and 48 accepted with great enthusiasm. in just five months
we produced a 1,008 page Tools and General maintenance
catalogue, with 17,369 part numbers, 665 product groups,
covering 50 brands. 60,000 copies of this catalogue were 
produced in 10 different languages, and these catalogues
(weighing 120 tonnes in total and produced on sustainably
sourced paper) were delivered to our operating companies
during september.

We have recruited Tools and General maintenance experts 
in each country, carried out extensive training, and developed
relationships and a supply chain with each of the 50 brands
locally. We have also placed a strategic stock of catalogue
products close to our national distribution centre near nozay,
south of paris, and are carrying out direct marketing campaigns
to existing brammer customers, often in conjunction with 
our suppliers. as a result, even though we delivered only
about 15% of the catalogues to customers in the final quarter
of the year, we saw a 14% increase in the sale of catalogue
items compared to the rate of sales in the first nine months.

Capabilities
The focus of our people and organisational capability continues
to be on supporting our growth. To that end, our pan-european
marketing team is continuing the roll-out of our new market
segmentation material across europe, with updated material
targeting 16 industry sectors translated into nine languages,
distributed across our 16 country businesses. We have also

developed and launched a new sales training programme 
covering best practice, our industry sector approach, and
brammer’s value proposition. The sales training is now in the
process of being delivered to all our sales teams.

We are continuing to develop the brammer insite™ Operations
manual, localised into english, french, German and spanish.
during 2012 we introduced an insite™ training programme
designed to raise awareness of the methods and processes
required to identify, target and set up a new insite™. 
an insite™ manager Training programme has also been 
developed during 2012 which sets out the mandatory, 
expected, and advanced service levels that our insite™ 
managers will deliver to our customers. We have also improved
the branding of our insites™, through the implementation 
of consistent insite™ workwear and improved signage. 
These help to distinguish our insites™ on the customers’
premises to help raise awareness of our presence, and 
to develop the brand. a european insite™ manager has been
appointed to manage the growth of insite™ services across 
all 16 countries.

in order to increase the focus on our extended product range
and strengthen our cross-selling initiatives, we have recruited
a number of european product managers who are responsible
for developing and growing our business particularly in Tools
and General maintenance products and also in fluid power
and power Transmission.

We developed a new website with e-commerce functionality,
aiming to increase customer conversions via an enhanced
user journey and easy to find call-to-action opportunities. 
The new site features more interactive content including
“Quick Tips video clips”; we have added new clips and other

OPERATING PERFORMANCE AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2012 2011

Revenue £639.6m £571.5m
Gross margin 30.5% 30.3%
Gross profit £194.8m £173.3m
sales, distribution and administration costs1 £(157.6)m £(141.5)m
Operating profit1 £37.2m £31.8m
Operating return on sales1 5.8% 5.6%
net interest £(2.7)m £(2.8)m
profit before tax1 £34.5m £29.0m
cash generated from operations £25.2m £28.2m
earnings per share1 21.9p 19.8p
dividend per share 9.4p 8.4p

Group sales growth 2 16.2% 22.0%
Organic spWd growth (including incremental growth in buck & Hickman since acquisition)2 2.9% 16.4%
Key account spWd growth2 9.8% 23.9%
Return on capital employed 34.3% 32.3%
net debt to ebiTda 1.3:1 1.0:1
interest cover 13.8 11.3
stock turn 4.4 4.7

1 before amortisation of intangible assets and exceptional items.
2 at constant currency.
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content regularly throughout 2012. We have e-commerce 
solutions live in poland, spain, france, Germany, netherlands
and belgium, and will be launching our central e-commerce
solution in the remaining countries during 2013.

in february 2012 we repeated our independently run 
europe-wide customer satisfaction survey, involving 45-minute
telephone interviews with over 300 customers across europe,
and an online questionnaire sent to a random sample 
consisting of 10% of our 100,000 customers. This confirmed
further progress. This research further strengthened our 
unprecedented insight into our customers’ requirements, 
helping us to appreciate their current and future needs 
in detail, and to assist us with our strategic and operational
planning and service delivery. Our 2012 customer satisfaction
survey was also targeted at lapsed customers and potential
customers in an effort to understand better some of the 
detractors and address the issues arising. There was also 
a customer satisfaction study conducted in 2012 with 
buck & Hickman customers in order to gauge their levels 
of satisfaction and compare and contrast this to brammer
customers and turn this valuable insight into strategic action
to help us to continue to deliver excellent customer service.

during the year brammer’s distributed learning programme
(e-learning) was updated with new product training modules
and enhanced functionality to provide a better learning 
experience in nine languages. This training is a key element 
of brammer’s employee induction programme and for critical,
customer-facing roles we are achieving 100% take-up of the
two major foundation programmes. We will continue to work
with our suppliers to ensure our employees receive the best
possible product training.

EXTENSIVE 
T&GM PRODUCT 
RANGE 
THROUGHOUT 
EUROPE*
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“Hereby I would like to thank
you for the very pleasant
partnership in 2012. Since
the beginning of the project
we have managed together
to identify and link over 
2,660 of our references. 
This year with Brammer’s
help we realised an increase
of over €1 million in turnover
compared to 2011. Your 
supplier performance on
price, quality and delivery 
is beyond average. 
Many suppliers could take
this as a reference.”

martijn troost
Project leader Purchasing
Robert Bosch BeNelux

* In just five months we produced a 1,008 page Tools and General Maintenance
catalogue with 17,369 part numbers, 665 products groups, covering 50 brands
and printed 60,000 copies in 10 languages targeted at our European customers.



10 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2012

following analysis of the 2012 internal employee survey, 
we have developed regional and functional action plans 
to maintain and enhance the excellent links between our 
strategy and our personnel.

The brammer european council of employee representatives
meets annually in june. This forum facilitates communication
between the Works councils and employee forums from
each country in the group, ensuring the concerns and issues
raised by our people can be heard and addressed.

in addition, during 2012 the group commenced a graduate
training programme designed to support the future 
development of the group. We recruited 10 graduates from 
six countries with each undertaking a structured two year
training programme including a minimum six month overseas
placement. This highlights the group’s desire to develop 
and train its people, to encourage mobility and to ensure the
consistent delivery of excellent service to all of our customers.

Costs
We continued to work on increasing our spend with a smaller
number of suppliers and improving the level of marketing 
support, pricing, and cooperation in the field received from
those suppliers. Gross margin, excluding buck & Hickman,
improved by 100 basis points year on year to 31.6%.

We continued to focus on efficient use of our sales distribution
and administrative expense “(sda)”. sda at constant currency
grew by 15.8% against a comparative sales growth of 16.2%.
in recognition of a significant slowdown in our markets we
took prompt and significant action in september to reduce our
cost base. We removed £5 million (3%) from our annualised
sda costs, which incurred an exceptional cost of £4.8 million.

This action has now properly matched our cost base 
to our revenues and will benefit 2013 significantly.

Synergies
in order to develop our european Tools and General 
maintenance catalogue we have made further investment 
in our master data management system. additional product
data to cover the tools and maintenance range has been 
incorporated into this system, giving rise to a total of 4.7 
million unique part numbers. To aid the production of the 
catalogue we have developed a rich content database and
have associated in excess of twelve million product attributes
with 500,000 part numbers. despite this extensive database
we continue to create in excess of 1,000 new and unique 
part numbers on a european basis each working day.

Operational review
UK (including Iceland and Norway)
Our largest operation, and the one where the brammer 
development strategy is most advanced, achieved organic
spWd growth of 7.6% and, including buck & Hickman, 
increased operating profit by 92.6% to £18.1 million.

Key account sales grew by 7.2% in the year, and now 
represent 67.1% of turnover. several new contracts were 
won with customers such as Welsh Water, anglian Water,
sRcl, london underground, innospec and many others. 
Key accounts won last year, including edf energy, Tata steel,
bae systems performed well and contributed to growth. 
Our value proposition continues to be attractive to customers
and we have further honed our skills in delivering cost savings
and adding value for our customers. in 2012 we recorded
3,054 individual cost savings for over 200 customers, with 
a combined saving of more than £34.2 million.

EXTERNAL REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHY1

2012 £283.4m UK+49%2011 £190.5m

2012 £115.6m Germany0%2011 £115.5m

2012 £87.7m France+4%2011 £84.5m

2012 £42.8m Spain0%2011 £42.9m

2012 £53.1m Benelux+8%2011 £49.2m

2012 £48.4m Eastern Europe–15%2011 £56.8m

2012 £16.3m Other–8%2011 £17.7m

OPERATING PROFIT BY GEOGRAPHY BEFORE AMORTISATION AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS1

2012 £18.1m UK+93%2011 £9.4m

2012 £7.9m Germany+1%2011 £7.8m

2012 £4.4m France+10%2011 £4.0m

2012 £4.3m Spain+30%2011 £3.3m

2012 £2.8m Benelux+8%2011 £2.6m

2012 £0.9m Eastern Europe–75%2011 £3.6m

2012 £(0.6)m Other
2011 £0.2m

1 at constant currency rates.
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We opened 17 new full-time insites™ and increased sales
through these insites™ and part-time insites™ (those locations
where we have several regular clinics with the customer’s 
staff each week) by 2.2%. six existing full-time insites™ closed
giving a net increase of 11. Our new brammer iceland 
branch in Reykjavik performed well, and our alcoa business 
in norway has grown substantially.

finally, our cross-selling initiatives continued to be 
successful with 19.6% sales growth in our Tools and 
General maintenance range.

Buck & Hickman
buck & Hickman performed well throughout the year and 
exceeded our expectations. several new Key account 
contracts were won and the existing key account contracts all
performed well giving rise to spWd growth of 9.3% (including
a full year comparative). We have successfully co-located the
two businesses obtaining synergies in 10 of the 28 branches
of buck & Hickman by incorporating the brammer branches
into those locations. additional synergies arising from purchase
leverage effects, price management initiatives and reduced 
logistics costs have contributed to an overall synergy benefit 
in excess of £3 million, well ahead of our original expectations.
We expect these synergy benefits to continue, and are 
confident we will achieve our three year target of £7.5 million
ahead of our original plan. There remains a significant benefit
to be had through cross-selling opportunities between the
brammer uK and buck & Hickman customers.

Germany
spWd grew by 0.6%, with the growth rate declining throughout
the year due to tougher comparators and significant slowing 
in the Original equipment manufacturing (“Oem”) segment of

the market. spWd growth in the first quarter was 6.4%, but
the fourth quarter declined to 0.8%. Operating profit improved
by 1.3%. Our investment in Key accounts paid off with an 
increase in sales in this segment of 8.4%, now representing
29.7% of total sales. We delivered a total of 933 signed 
off cost saving projects to our customers, representing 
€9.9 million of savings. We won new contracts with johnson
controls is, prettl Group, novatis Hexal, pepsico, albea, 
lisi and becton & dickinson.

Our continued investment in fluid power generated healthy
spWd growth of 14.6%, whilst our new investment in 
Tools and General maintenance products resulted in spWd
growth of 13.2%. We established ten new insites™ with 
total insite™ sales growing 16.7%. Our focus on the market
segments of food and drink, utilities, and construction 
and aggregates resulted in several new contract wins and 
increased market share; 155 customer events were held
across Germany addressing more than 1,600 mRO specialists
from those segments, raising the awareness of brammer 
as a solutions provider.

France
spWd increased by 3.5%, whilst operating profit increased 
by 10%. Key account sales increased 12.3% and, including
the automotive segment, now represent 39.7% of turnover.
We delivered a total of 579 signed-off cost saving projects 
to our customers, representing €3.3 million of savings. 
new contracts were won with Groupe seb, lisi, alcoa, upm,
and many others. We opened 15 new insites™, though seven
closed, bringing the total to 39, with revenue growth of 27.3%.
Tools and General maintenance and personal protection
equipment produced sales growth of 16.5%, while fluid power
grew by 14.6% and now represents 17.0% of total sales.

SEGMENT DATA1

eastern
uK Germany france spain benelux europe Other total

spWd growth 7.6% 0.6% 3.5% – 0.3% 7.5% – 9.4% –7.2% 2.9%

Key account sales growth 7.2% 8.4% 12.3% 15.3% 20.1% 10.5% 9.2% 9.8%

insite™ sales growth 2.2% 16.7% 27.3% 31.8% 33.1% 12.7% 62.4% 9.0%

insite™ numbers at december 2012 160 46 39 30 16 27 9 327

insite™ numbers at december 2011 149 36 31 22 9 16 7 270

Tools and General maintenance sales growth 19.6% 11.2% 16.5% 89.0% 20.8% – 5.2% 50.4% 20.1%

customer signed off cost savings £34.2m £8.2m £2.8m £2.2m £1.1m £2.3m £0.7m £51.5m

1 at constant currency rates.
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Spain
spWd were broadly flat due to tougher comparators 
and further slowdown in the Oem segment of our market. 
Operating profit increased by 30% due to gross profit 
improvement, tight management of costs and further 
consolidation of our supplier base. Our Key account revenues
increased by 15.3% (representing 36.4% of sales), and we
won new contracts with aGc, amcor, pepsico, Gates and
many others. We provided over €2.6 million of cost savings 
to our Key account customers. Ten new insites™ were 
established, bringing the total, after closures, to 30, with 
insite™ sales increasing by 31.8%. Our marketing focus 
was on food and drink (up 19.3%). 129 customer symposiums
attracted 421 organisations. extraordinary progress was made
in product Range extension, with sales of the Tools and 
General maintenance range up 89%, and fluid power up 24%.

Benelux
spWd in the benelux countries grew by 7.5%, whilst operating
profit increased by 7.7%. Key account spWd growth 
in Holland was 33.6% and in belgium 11.1%. We won new 
contracts with bosch, pepsico, sca, Kuhn and Refresco 
and many others. in Holland mechanical power Transmission
produced spWd growth of 5.4% whilst fluid power grew by
34.0%. We opened three new insites™ in belgium, increasing
sales through insites™ by 13.8%, and 10 new insites™ 
in Holland with sales growth of 103.7%. Our focus on food
and drink gave rise to 37.3% growth in Holland, though sales
were flat in belgium.

Eastern Europe
in our eastern european businesses (comprising poland, 
the czech Republic and slovakia, and Hungary), total spWd
declined by 9.4%, whilst operating profit declined by 75.0%.

in poland, spWd increased by 3.0%. Key accounts grew 
by 16%, and new contracts were won with imperial Tobacco
and pilkington. in the czech Republic and slovakia, spWd
decreased by 32.9% due to a significant slowdown in the
Oem sector and a high level of staff turnover leading to several
lost contracts.

Key accounts were flat but continued to offer significant
growth opportunities. in Hungary, the spWd growth was
3.8%, and new contracts were won with mercedes-benz,
Rockwool, delphi and pepsico.

Other segments
in respect of the other segments, austria, ireland and italy,
spWd declined by 7.2%, whilst operating profit declined 
by £0.8 million to a loss of £0.6 million. in austria spWd 
were down 14.3%, in italy, spWd were down 11.5% and 
in ireland spWd were up 32.4%.

Board
after more than ten years as chairman of brammer, david
dunn stepped down at the annual General meeting in may.
We were delighted that bill Whiteley agreed to take over 
at that time. bill joined brammer’s board as a non-executive
director in july 2008 and we are fortunate to have someone 
of his quality and experience as chairman. duncan magrath
(chief financial Officer balfour beatty plc) joined the board 
as a non-executive director on 1 march 2012. We are delighted
to welcome duncan whose wide international experience 
will be invaluable to the group.

The executive Team and all at brammer wish to thank david
dunn for his outstanding contribution and leadership over 
the last ten years.

NEW 
VALUE-ADDED
INSITE™

OPERATIONS*
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“Brammer’s approach
to business aligns very well
with ours. The Brammer 
MRO offering is a good fit 
for our requirements and 
we have high expectations
for their storeroom operation
processes and systems 
at Fjardaal. This approach 
is also new to Icelandic 
industry. Our co-operation
with Brammer will be one 
of the cornerstones in our 
operational effectiveness 
and long term sustainability.”

Janne Sigurdsson
Managing Director 
Alcoa Fjardaál

* Brammer opened a record 88 new Insites™, 38 full time and 50 part time, with
overall turnover growth of 9% to £105.2 million. 31 existing Insites™ were closed
due to customer factory closures or reduced demand, giving rise to a net addition
of 57 Insites™ in the year and a total of 327 Insites™ at the year end. 
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Ian Fraser 
chief executive

SERVICE 
AT THE CORE
OF OUR 
BUSINESS*

the future
Our european footprint and our specialisation in the field 
of bearings, mechanical power Transmission, fluid power 
and Tools and General maintenance products is a strong 
platform upon which to achieve further market share gains 
in our fragmented marketplace. We are finding many 
of our customers are seeking to buy additional products 
from us, or accelerate contract implementation, to achieve 
the cost savings available to them as part of their contract
with brammer – and we have significantly increased 
the rate at which we are able to deliver those savings.

since 1 january 2008, industrial production in the eurozone
has declined by 9.2%. in contrast, brammer’s revenues have
grown by 24.5% at constant currency excluding buck & 
Hickman, and by 51.8% including buck & Hickman. We believe
that through the further development of our four growth drivers,
and the provision of significant added value to our customers,
we can continue to outperform the market by at least 10% 
per annum even though uncertain economic conditions may
adumbrate continued tough trading conditions. Our Key 
account business remains strong, cross-selling initiatives 
to both Key accounts and the base business are proceeding
well and we expect to achieve healthy growth in 2013. 
moreover, we will continue to lead the consolidation of the 
european market in bearings, mechanical power Transmission,
fluid power, and Tools and General maintenance products. 
as a result, we are increasingly confident that our strategy 
will continue to give us growth substantially greater than 
the market.

ian r fraser
19 february 2013
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“The partnership with Brammer
is highly appreciated thanks
to the high self-commitment
from Brammer employees
and also to the quality 
of customer service. 
The reporting provided 
by Brammer gives Becton
Dickinson much more 
transparency for MRO spend,
which we believe will help 
us manage that spend more
efficiently and more profitably
in the coming months.”

rafael Blasco
Strategic Sourcing Manager
Corporate/Shared Services
Becton Dickinson

* Brammer invited 40,541 customers to take part in online surveys and 3,081 to take 
part in a telephone interview to rate their satisfaction with Brammer. Of those customers
who use Brammer as their preferred supplier, we achieved a recommendation rating
19% higher than the industry average representing a 7% increase compared to 2011.
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Overview
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with international financial Reporting standards (ifRs) as
adopted by the european union (eu).

revenue
Revenue increased by 11.9%, of which the uK contributed
16.3% compensating in part for a 4.4% reduction in 
continental europe, reflecting an adverse currency exchange
movement. Revenue in the uK grew by 48.8% reflecting 
a full year of the buck & Hickman business which was 
acquired on 30 september 2011. at constant exchange 
rates, revenue increased by 16.2%.

Gross profit
The gross profit for the year was £194.8 million (2011: £173.3
million). Gross margin increased to 30.5% (2011: 30.3%).
Gross margin, excluding buck & Hickman, increased by 100
basis points to 31.6%.

Sales, distribution and administrative expense
Total reported sda costs increased by £19.3 million from
£146.0 million in 2011 to £165.3 million; excluding amortisation
of acquired intangibles and exceptional items the increase 
was 11.4% from £141.5 million in 2011 to £157.6 million,
which includes the full year impact of buck & Hickman. 
Organic sda at constant currency increased by 3.6%, 
and reflected the recruitment of additional Key account 
and management personnel in support of the growth drivers,
together with the creation of the european product division 
for Tools and General maintenance products.

Operating profit
Operating profit (before amortisation and exceptional items) 
increased by £5.4 million to £37.2 million in 2012 from £31.8
million in 2011. Return on sales increased to 5.8% (2011: 5.6%).

interest
The net interest charge for the year was £2.7 million (2011:
£2.8 million). The effective interest rate on average net 
borrowings was 4.3% (2011: 4.5%). ebiT before exceptional
items covers interest by 13.8 times (2011: 11.3 times).

profit before tax
profit before tax from continuing operations for the year 
was £26.8 million (2011: £24.5 million). profit before tax,
amortisation and exceptional items but after finance expense
was £34.5 million (2011: £29.0 million).

tax
The overall tax charge for the year of £7.0 million (2011: £6.2
million) consisted of the current year charge of £6.9 million
and the prior year charge of £0.1 million. current year tax 
represents an effective tax rate of 26.0% which is higher than
the expected rate of 24.5% primarily as a result of charges
arising from the differences in tax rates across europe of 
£0.3 million and adjustments arising from tax losses in the
year on which no benefit was recognised of £0.8 million, offset
by a credit arising from a release of tax contingent liabilities 
of £0.7 million and miscellaneous credits of £0.1 million.

earnings per share
basic earnings per share increased by 0.1p from 16.8p to
16.9p in 2012. earnings per share, before amortisation and
exceptional items, increased by 10.6% from 19.8p in 2011 
to 21.9p in 2012.

finanCial revieW

TRADING DURING THE YEAR

first half second half full year
£m £m £m

2012
Revenue 331.1 308.5 639.6
underlying operating profit1 18.5 18.7 37.2

2011
Revenue 275.2 296.3 571.5
underlying operating profit1 15.4 16.4 31.8

1 profit from operations before exceptional items, amortisation, 
interest and tax.
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dividend
The interim dividend for 2012 was increased by 11.1% to 3.0
pence per share. Given the growth in earnings the board is
now proposing a 12.3% increase in the final dividend to 6.4
pence per share. Total dividends for 2012 would then amount
to 9.4 pence per share which is a 11.9% increase over the
prior year. at this level the total dividend would be covered
2.33 times by earnings. subject to shareholder approval, the
final dividend will be paid on 2 july 2013 to shareholders on
the register at close of business on 7 june 2013.

return on operating capital employed
The return on operating capital employed, based on operating
profit before amortisation and exceptional items, was 34.3%
(2011: 32.3%) for the total group.

Goodwill
Goodwill in the balance sheet stands at £89.8 million at the
end of the year (2011: £90.0 million), a net reduction of £0.2
million. in 2012, goodwill increased by £1.2 million arising 
from two small bolt-on acquisitions made during the year and
decreased by £1.4 million due to exchange movements on
goodwill held in foreign currencies. impairment reviews have
been performed in accordance with ias 36 and no impairment
has been identified.

trading during the year
profit from operations before exceptional items, amortisation,
interest and tax (“underlying operating profit”) increased 
by 17.0% to £37.2 million (2011: £31.8 million), of which
£18.5 million was delivered in the first half and £18.7 million 
in the second half (see table on page 16).

for the first half, revenue increased by £55.9 million reflecting
the full effect of the buck & Hickman acquisition made in the
second half of 2011. underlying operating profit increased by
£3.1 million. for the second half, revenue increased by £12.2
million reflecting increasingly challenging market conditions,
together with a smaller acquisition effect from buck & Hickman.
additional underlying operating profit of £2.3 million in the 
second half reflected continued focus on gross margin 
improvements and savings from cost control measures.

exchange rates had an adverse impact on the year’s results,
reducing growth in revenue by 5.2% and underlying operating
profit by 6.2%.

exceptional items
a total pre-tax operating exceptional charge of £6.4 million
has been recognised. as part of the continuing programme 
of integrating the buck & Hickman business, which was 
acquired on 30 september 2011, further lines of stock identified
as no longer integral to brammer’s core tools and general
maintenance product portfolio and future trading strategy
were written down to their estimated net realisable value. 
The resulting £0.8 million charge has been recognised as 
an exceptional item. software which will no longer be developed
or supported in the combined business going forward has
been written down to reflect its revised estimated useful life 
resulting in a further £0.8 million charge.

a wider review of the group’s operating cost base resulted 
in headcount and other restructuring costs of £4.8 million
being incurred and recognised as an exceptional charge. 

CASH FLOW

2012 2011
£m £m

cash inflow from operating activities 25.2 28.2

Cash inflow from operating activities before exceptional items 28.6 28.9
Cash outflow from exceptional items (3.4) (0.7)

Cash inflow from operating activities 25.2 28.2

net capital expenditure (purchases net of disposals) (8.9) (5.8)

Operational cash generation 16.3 22.4
acquisitions (including net debt acquired) (1.1) (26.9)
deferred consideration and earn out (10.4) (1.8)
Tax (7.9) (4.1)
interest, dividends, pension obligations & other (15.0) (13.6)
net proceeds from placing – 24.8
purchase of own shares (1.1) (0.1)
net proceeds from issue of shares 0.1 0.1

(increase)/decrease in net debt (19.1) 0.8
Opening net debt (35.3) (36.7)
exchange 0.6 0.6

closing net debt1 (53.8) (35.3)

1 Total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents.
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These actions were taken to optimise headcount in order 
to continue to realise operational benefits from the buck 
& Hickman acquisition and also in response to the increasingly
challenging market conditions in which the group operated
during the year.

following the acquisition of the buck & Hickman business 
the following exceptional charges were recognised in 2011.
acquisition costs incurred of £0.5 million, together with 
£0.8 million of branch co-location costs and a £0.4 million
charge for write-down of stock, being related costs incurred
up to 31 december 2011 in the first phases of integrating 
the business with that of brammer uK, were recognised 
as exceptional costs. in addition a further charge of £1.5 million,
the majority of which related to restructuring actions taken 
in the wider group as first steps in realising operational benefits
from the acquisition, was included in the total pre-tax operating
exceptional charge of £3.2 million.

Cash flow
net debt increased by £18.5 million from £35.3 million 
to £53.8 million. at the year end, net debt/ebiTda stood 
at 1.3:1 times (2011: 1.0:1 times).

net cash inflow from operating activities of £25.2 million 
decreased by £3.0 million from £28.2 million in 2011, which 
is after £10.8 million outflow relating to inventories, and £3.4
million outflow (2011: £0.7 million) associated with exceptional
items in the current year and provision utilisation in 2012 
of exceptional items from prior years. stock has increased 
significantly to support the development of the Tools and 
General maintenance product range and following the launch
of the Tools and General maintenance catalogue in the 
last quarter of the year. The operating cash inflow funded 
the payment of £10.4 million of deferred consideration, 
£7.9 million taxation payments, and £15.0 million for dividends,
interest and pension obligations. net capital expenditure 
increased significantly from £5.8 million to £8.9 million reflecting
continued increased investment in software development.
consequently, average net borrowings in 2012 were £62.8
million compared to £54.5 million in 2011.

pensions
The net pension liability relating to the defined benefit pension
schemes increased by £4.9 million to £21.7 million (2011:
£16.8 million). The principal factors contributing to this increase
were a £7.1 million net actuarial loss on scheme liabilities 
offset by £3.2 million of employer contributions.

The main financial assumptions used were a discount rate 
of 4.4% (2011: 4.8%), a 2.8% (2011: 3.0%) rate of increase
for pensions in payment and a 2.2% (2011: 2.4%) rate 
of increase for pensions in deferment. The main demographic
assumptions used are broadly unchanged. The charge 
recognised in the income statement increased to £0.9 million
(2011: £0.1 million) reflecting a lower expected return 
on scheme assets. preliminary indications are that the impact
of adopting ias19R will be an additional charge to profit 
in 2013 of up to £1.0 million.

financing and covenants
The group is financed by a €100 million floating rate revolving
credit facility which can be drawn until it expires on 30 june
2016. in addition to the revolving credit facility, £30 million 
of undrawn overdraft facilities are available. The amount drawn
under the revolving credit facility as at 31 december 2012 
was £51.3 million (€63.3 million).

The revolving credit facility requires, among other matters,
compliance with three financial covenant ratios. These 
requirements are (1) consolidated total net borrowings shall
not exceed 3.0 times consolidated ebiTda; (2) consolidated
net worth shall be not less than £50.0 million; (3) the ratio 
of consolidated ebiTda to consolidated net interest payable
shall not be less than 4.5:1; in addition, the guarantor 
subsidiaries must account for more than 75% of the group’s
total gross assets, turnover and pre-tax profit. ebiTda 
is a measure of liquidity and is defined in the finance facility.
The company has not breached these covenants throughout
the period to 31 december 2012, and current forecasts 
indicate significant headroom for all covenants in the next
twelve months.

derivative instruments and risk management
The company has limited dealings in derivative instruments.
derivatives used in hedging activities are considered risk 
management tools and are not used for trading purposes. 
The company uses derivative instruments to manage 
exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
and to reduce volatility in the interest charge.

The company uses foreign currency forward exchange 
contracts to minimise currency exposure from expected 
future cash flows. These contracts have not been designated
as hedging instruments.

most of the company’s debt bears floating rate interest. 
The group uses interest rate swaps to manage exposure 
to floating interest rates. during the year the company entered
into interest rate swap contracts to hedge a proportion of its
debt. These contracts are designated as hedging instruments.

The group is not subject to material exposure from fixed 
price contracts and has a track record of maintaining gross
margin irrespective of sales volumes thereby successfully
pushing back market pricing pressure to its suppliers.

principal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the
strategy are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties.

Operational risks are assessed by brammer subsidiaries.
These are reviewed with appropriate mitigation considered 
by brammer management. The board reviews these 
assessments on a regular basis.

a formal group-wide review of strategic risks is performed 
by the board. appropriate processes and controls are also 
put in place to monitor and mitigate these risks.

The principal risks affecting the group are as follows:

Slowdown of industrial activity
The group’s activities are almost entirely within the uK and 
the euro-zone which are geographical markets currently 
subject to economic uncertainty. a continued deterioration in
current economic conditions may lead to a decline in demand
within the industrial base of these markets with an associated
decline in demand in the maintenance and original equipment
markets which brammer supplies. The group has a well
spread market and geographic presence and has concentrated
growth activities in defensive sectors such as food and drink,
utilities and fast moving consumer goods. The group has also
focused growth activities in larger Key account customers
who have a wider global presence and are therefore likely 
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to prove more resilient during any economic downturns 
in europe and surrounding areas. economic conditions vary
throughout the euro-zone and accordingly a slowdown will
have a different level of impact on each country. The sales 
and purchasing activity for each business unit is largely confined
to its own geographical area which means each business 
can react to variations in demand without encountering issues
associated with cross border sales and purchase management.
also, in the extreme case of a breakup of the euro, currency
issues would be minimised because purchases and sales
would be largely in the same currency. The group has also
demonstrated the capability to reduce costs and to align 
the cost base in response to market conditions.

Withdrawal of a major supplier
brammer is dependent on its key suppliers which it represents
in a multi-brand environment to brammer’s existing customer
base. The relationship with strategic suppliers is mutually 
dependant and enhanced by our partnership approach 
to Key accounts. brammer is continuing to secure additional
support for its efforts to increase market share and is confident
any withdrawal could be sourced from another supplier.

Loss of major customers
a core part of the growth strategy for the group is a focus 
on winning and maintaining those significant customers it views
as Key accounts. The loss of significant numbers of Key 
accounts would have an adverse effect on turnover growth
and an impact on other strategic focus areas of cross-selling
opportunities and insite™ development. as a distributor in 
a fragmented market brammer derives great benefits from its
first class reputation as an industry leader in its service offering
to Key accounts, which could be potentially damaged with
significant loss of major customers. However, brammer does
not have dependency on any single customer. Key account
customers are carefully monitored by the senior management
team, who also document the acknowledged cost savings
achieved. further growth in Key accounts in the current year
suggests the template offering is proving attractive to a profit
conscious customer base.

Customers relocating to lower cost countries
brammer continues its strategy to grow its business successfully
by expanding in a fragmented market. We will continue 
to review suitable opportunities in this region as they arise.

Loss of infrastructure/systems
as with most large organisations that depend on information
Technology (iT) for their day-to-day operations, there are 
disaster recovery plans in place for the major countries where
brammer operates. in these territories, there are overnight
back up systems in place which can be expected to mitigate
the worst effects of such disruption. integration teams 
continually work to develop group-wide solutions to business
critical processes which provide improved resilience against
failure in the event that issues occur in our operations. 
for brammer, a quoted company which is a distributor 
of product, these key processes are in the area of stock 
and order management, sales and delivery management 
and transactional record keeping, including financial books
and records.

Adverse Euro exchange rates
brammer reports its results in sterling however the group
trades significantly in euros. The current economic conditions
create uncertainty over the exchange rate between sterling
and the euro. Whilst there is a natural hedge between buying

and selling for the majority of our business the ultimate 
profitability is expressed at the year’s average exchange rate.

Financial and capital risks
With our group financing facility in place until 2016, brammer
has sufficient available resources to meet its foreseeable 
requirements.

The closed defined benefit scheme in the uK continues 
to be subject to various financial risks, principally based around
the value of the current deficit in the scheme. The company
may be required to make exceptional additional contributions
outside the scope of its current funding plan by The pensions
Regulator. during 2010 the group agreed a deficit funding 
plan with the trustees of the scheme which provides for 
the group to make annual payments of £2.8 million, indexed
for inflation, in the years 2011 to 2023 inclusive.

Expected benefits from acquisitions may not be realised
part of the brammer strategy is growth through selective 
acquisitions. acquisitions involve a number of risks related 
to the performance of the acquired business and challenges
arising from integration. potential acquisitions are carefully 
researched prior to any purchase and closely monitored 
by brammer’s management subsequent to acquisition. 
brammer has a track record of successfully integrating 
acquired businesses with an established integration plan 
and an experienced management team.

Loss of key employees
The group regularly reviews its remuneration and succession
plan arrangements to ensure that key managers are recognised
and developed. To ensure continuity and maximise our 
competitive advantage the group remains committed 
to a number of incentive schemes linked to the group’s results,
which have been designed to retain key managers. Where 
appropriate, employment contracts also contain relevant 
provisions concerning interaction with competitors and 
customers. industry benchmarking and the use of external 
assessments and advisors form part of the recruitment process
for key managers to ensure high calibre recruits to key roles.

The board’s nominations committee reviews the structure,
size, diversity and composition of the board and advises 
on succession planning matters. This committee also retains
external search and selection consultants as appropriate

paul thwaite
19 february 2013

Paul Thwaite 
finance director
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Bill Whiteley<

Non-executive chairman
due to the retirement of david dunn, bill Whiteley took 
over as chairman of the company following the 2012 aGm. 
He was appointed to the board in july 2008 having retired 
as chief executive of Rotork plc. He is chairman of Hill 
and smith Holdings plc, and also spirax sarco engineering
plc and is a non-executive director of Renishaw plc.

david dunn
Retired chairman
david dunn was subject to annual election and decided 
not to offer himself for re-election at the 2012 aGm, 
following which he stepped down as chairman and director.
He joined the brammer board in november 2001 as chairman
and was also chairman of the nominations committee and 
a member of the remuneration committee. He is a chartered
accountant and in 2002 retired as chairman of scapa Group
plc, where he had also served since 1987 as finance director
and chief executive. He has held non-executive director 
positions on a number of uK listed company boards 
in recent years.

ian fraser<

Chief executive
appointed to the board in 1998. He has an Oxford ma 
and a Harvard mba. He held appointments in sales, marketing
and finance with exxon corporation both in the uK and 
usa. at Raychem corporation he held senior roles in sales,
marketing, manufacturing and general management. 
He became managing director of Reliance security services
ltd in 1991 and was appointed their group managing director
in 1993. He became a non-executive director of acal plc 
with effect from 1 january 2010 and retired from that position
on 31 december 2012.

terry GarthwaitekQ<

Senior independent non-executive director
appointed to the board in june 2004. He is chairman of the
audit committee. On qualifying as a chartered accountant 
he worked for price Waterhouse in london. He held a number
of senior finance positions within foseco plc including director
of corporate finance, prior to spending eleven years as group
finance director at senior plc. He is a non-executive director 
of Wilmington Group plc, having retired as non-executive 
director of Renishaw plc at their aGm in October 2012.

direCtOrS and OffiCerS

Bill Whiteley
David Dunn
Ian Fraser
Terry Garthwaite
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paul thwaite
Finance director
joined brammer in february 2002 and appointed to the board
in may 2002. after graduating with a degree in biochemistry,
he took an mba at the manchester business school and 
then qualified as an accountant. He worked for ici and bba 
in a variety of international posts before joining siebe where 
he held a number of positions including managing director 
of eliwell and group controller. after the merger between 
siebe and bTR, he became chief finance officer of invensys
controls division based in usa.

Charles irving-SwiftkQ<

Independent non-executive director
appointed to the board in march 2010. He took over as 
chairman of the remuneration committee with effect from 
the 2012 aGm following bill Whiteley taking over as chairman.
He joined armstrong World industries inc. in july 2010 as chief
executive of european flooring operations. He has previously
held senior positions in TT electronics plc, dana corporation
and T&n plc and has had a long association with the 
automotive manufacturing industries on a world-wide basis.
He has also previously served as a non-executive director 
of victrex plc and was chairman of their audit committee.

duncan magrathkQ<

Independent non-executive director
appointed to the board in march 2012. He joined balfour
beatty plc in 2006 as deputy finance director and was 
appointed to his position of chief financial Officer in 2008.
duncan is a fellow of the institute of chartered accountants
having qualified with price Waterhouse. He left price 
Waterhouse and joined exel plc where he held numerous 
positions in the uK and usa during his 13 year tenure, 
culminating in his appointment as director of investor 
Relations and financial strategy. duncan has a wide range 
of financial and corporate experience and also holds 
an engineering degree from cambridge university.

Steve Hodkinson
Company secretary
appointed group company secretary in july 2012. Qualified 
as a solicitor in 1998. He has previously held the position 
of General counsel for both umbro plc and bentley motors
ltd, having earlier been european counsel for the celestica
group of companies. He has a broad range of international
legal experience and holds both an llb and mba.

k Remuneration committee
Q audit committee
< nominations committee

Paul Thwaite
Charles Irving-Swift
Duncan Magrath
Steve Hodkinson
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The brammer executive team is subdivided into three elements:
> the corporate team is responsible for the operational 

leadership of the group;
> the team of country managing directors is responsible for

the management of the country based businesses; and
> the team of functional directors is responsible for the 

leadership of specific group-wide functions.

tHe exeCutive team

CORPORATE TEAM

Ian Fraser
chief executive

Paul Thwaite
finance director

Chris Short
corporate development director
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FUNCTIONAL DIRECTORS

Nigel Trend
business integration

Ralf Hellwig
Key accounts

Carl Friedrich Wayand
purchasing

Jakob Alkil
Group growth

Philippe Hervieux
european managing director
Tools and General maintenance

Steve Hodkinson
secretarial, legal and 
human resources

COUNTRY MANAGING DIRECTORS

Neil Rogers
Regional managing director

Jochen Diehm
Germany

Ian Ritchie
uK

Julien Monteiro
france
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registered office
brammer plc
st ann’s House
1 Old market place
Knutsford
cheshire Wa16 6pd

Registered in england and Wales 
number 00162925

Bankers
Hsbc bank plc
8 canada square
london e14 5HQ

clydesdale bank plc 
(trading as yorkshire bank)
The chancery
spring Gardens
manchester m2 1yb

Kbc bank nv
111 Old broad street
london ec2n 1bR

registrars
equiniti
aspect House
spencer Road
lancing
West sussex bn99 6da

independent auditors
pricewaterhousecoopers llp
chartered accountants & 
statutory auditors
101 barbirolli square
lower mosley street
manchester m2 3pW

financial advisers
investec bank plc
2 Gresham street
london ec2v 7Qp

Stockbrokers
investec bank plc
2 Gresham street
london ec2v 7Qp

peel Hunt llp
120 london Wall
london ec2y 5eT

austria
brammer Österreich industrie 
service GmbH
stefan Gehmayr +49 721 7906 503

Belgium
brammer nv*
Rudi Ramaekers +32 3821 0414

Czech republic
brammer czech as*
ladislav burian +420 277 003 465

france
brammer france sas
julien monteiro +33 3 88 40 40 88

Germany
brammer GmbH
jochen diehm +49 721 7906 503

Hungary
brammer magyarorszag Kft
+36 53 500 040

iceland
brammer island ehf
mick Wallwork +354 470 7961

ireland
brammer industrial ireland ltd 
t/a brammer ireland
chris davies +353 1 830 5455

italy
brammer italia srl*
alessandro lonardo +39 73 57 61 760

luxembourg
brammer sa*
Rudi Ramaekers +32 3821 0414

the netherlands
brammer nederland bv*
paul van der Rest +31 23 5 164164

norway
brammer norge as
mick Wallwork +354 470 7961

poland
fin sa t/a fin brammer*
stanislaw nowak +48 17 227 0000

Slovakia
brammer slovakia sro
ladislav burian +420 277 003 465

Spain
brammer iberia, sa
jesús martínez planas +34 94 457 94 00

united Kingdom
brammer uK limited
ian Ritchie +44 (0)161 953 8600

*shares owned directly by brammer plc.

all companies listed above are 
incorporated in the country under 
which they are listed. except as shown
above, all companies are owned 
through intermediate holding companies,
principally brammer industrial services
limited. further subsidiaries have not
been shown because they are dormant
or not material. Their particulars will 
be included in the next annual return.

all companies are accounted for 
as wholly owned subsidiaries as 
the group has effective ownership 
of those companies.

Brammer, itS adviSerS and prinCipal SuBSidiarieS



BRAMMER
SAVES 
CUSTOMERS
MONEY
Brammer plc Accounts for the group
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The directors present their audited consolidated annual Report for the year ended 31 december 2012.

principal activities of the group
brammer plc is the holding company for, and also provides management services to, the group. its principal operating subsidiaries,
all of which are wholly owned except where stated, are shown on page 24 together with details of their locations.

as at 31 december 2012, the principal activity of the group (including that of its principal operating subsidiaries as shown on page 24)
is the provision of value added business to business services, through being a leading pan-european added value distributor of industrial
maintenance, repair and overhaul products and related inventory management, procurement and logistics services.

financial results and dividend
The chairman’s statement, the chief executive’s review and the financial review all report on the group’s activities during the year and
likely future developments. The principal risks and uncertainties affecting the business are set out in the financial review. The financial
key performance indicators of the business, which are considered to be sales per working day, revenue per head, gross margin, return
on sales, return on operating capital employed, earnings per share and interest cover, are reviewed in the chief executive’s review, the
financial review and the directors’ report. non-financial key performance indicators affecting the business, such as employee and
environmental performance indicators, are set out in the employee and corporate social responsibility section of the directors’ report.

The directors recommend a final dividend of 6.4p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 december 2012 (2011: 5.7p), which,
together with the interim dividend of 3.0p (2011: 2.7p) per ordinary share, brings the total dividend paid and proposed to 9.4p (2011:
8.4p) per ordinary share for the year. subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting, the final dividend will be
paid on 2 july 2013 to all shareholders on the register at close of business on 7 june 2013.

directors
details of each of the directors who served throughout the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements are shown on
pages 20 and 21. all directors are subject to retirement by rotation under the company’s articles of association.

The directors are aware of the retirement by rotation provisions of the uK corporate Governance code (“the code”) that apply to fTse
350 companies, and have chosen to voluntarily adopt these provisions. accordingly, all directors shall be offering themselves for
re-election at the 2013 aGm. Terry Garthwaite will have completed nine years of service in june 2013 and will be replaced as senior
independent non-executive director during the year. He will also be subject to compulsory annual re-election from 2014.

each non-executive director is appointed for fixed terms of three years. Terry Garthwaite was initially appointed in june 2004, bill
Whiteley was appointed in july 2008, charles irving-swift was appointed in march 2010 and duncan magrath was appointed with
effect from march 2012.

details of directors’ attendance at board and committee meetings and a statement on board evaluation is set out in the corporate
governance report.

further details of the directors’ service contracts are set out in the Remuneration Report.

directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and indemnities
The company purchases liability insurance cover for directors and officers of the company and its subsidiaries which gives appropriate
cover for any legal action brought against them. The company has also provided an indemnity for its directors to the extent permitted
by the law in respect of liabilities incurred as a result of their office. The indemnity would not provide any coverage to the extent that a
director is proved to have acted fraudulently or dishonestly. prospectus liability coverage was put in place for directors and officers
of the company at the time of the 2009 rights issue. cover is in force until October 2015. The directors also have the benefit of the
indemnity provision contained in the company’s articles of association which is a qualifying indemnity provision within the meaning of
the companies (audit, investigations and community enterprise) act 2004. This indemnity provision was in force during the year and
at the date of approval of these financial statements.

directors’ interests
The beneficial interests of the directors and their immediate families in the shares of the company are set out in the Remuneration Report.

Substantial shareholdings
as at 19 february 2013, the company had notification that the following were interested in 3% or more of the company’s issued share
capital.

axa investment managers 13.17% majedie asset management 7.84%
fidelity investments 8.93% jp morgan asset management 6.56%
blackRock 8.93% legal & General investment management 5.90%
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Charitable and political donations in the united Kingdom
no charitable donations were made during the year (2011: £nil). no political donations were made (2011: £nil).

payment to suppliers
The company’s policy is normally to pay suppliers according to agreed terms of business. These terms are agreed with suppliers upon
entering into contracts and the company’s policy is to adhere to the payment terms providing the supplier meets its obligations.

purchase of own shares
during the year the company purchased none of its own ordinary shares of 20p each.

The brammer plc share Ownership Trust (“the Trust”) currently holds a total of 6,078 ordinary shares (2011: 208,121 ordinary shares)
in the company in order to meet part of the company’s liabilities under the brammer plc performance share plan and share matching
plan. The Trust deed contains a dividend waiver provision in respect of these shares. any voting or other similar decisions relating to
those shares would be taken by the Trustees, who may take account of any recommendations of the company.

The issued share capital of the company is shown in note 19 to the financial statements on page 78 and consists of ordinary shares
of 20p each. all of the issued ordinary shares rank pari passu.

in addition to the rights conferred by law, the rights and obligations attaching to the company’s ordinary shares are set out in the company’s
articles of association, a copy of which can be obtained by writing to the company secretary. at the last annual general meeting (“aGm”)
of the company, held on 17 may 2012, the company was authorised by shareholders to purchase in the market up to 11,694,407
ordinary shares of 20p each, representing 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company as at 4 april 2012. although this
authority was not utilised by the company during the last financial year, approval will be sought from shareholders at the forthcoming
aGm to renew this standard authority for a further year. it is the company’s intention that, should any ordinary shares be bought back,
they will be cancelled or retained in treasury pending a subsequent sale, cancellation or transfer. The company does not currently hold
any shares in treasury. The company will only purchase its own shares if the board believes that to do so would be in shareholders’
best interests and will increase earnings per share.

interim report
current regulations permit the company not to send copies of its interim results to shareholders. accordingly the 2012 interim results
published on 31 july 2012 were not sent to shareholders. furthermore the 2013 interim results and subsequent interim results will not be
sent to shareholders. The interim results and other information about brammer are available on the company’s website at www.brammer.biz.

electronic and website communication with shareholders
The company’s articles of association permit electronic and website communication with shareholders following the enactment of the
companies act 2006.

The company has implemented electronic and website communication with its shareholders. shareholders who consented to website
communication will be notified in writing when documents and communications have been published by the company so that they
can view them on the company’s website. it is intended that the annual Report 2012 will be subject to the electronic and website
communication regime.

financial risk management
The group’s financial risk management objectives and policies and exposure to market risk, (foreign exchange risk and hedging activities
together with cash flow and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements on
page 62.

employees
The group values the commitment of its employees and recognises the importance of good working relationships and communication.

The group is committed to open and regular communications with employees about business developments and issues of general
interest and concern to them, both on a formal and informal basis. The performance of the group is communicated regularly to all
staff. copies of the annual Report together with details of preliminary and interim announcements of the group’s results are available
to them. Translations of the executive statements are available to all of the group’s employees.

a formal human resources policy framework continues to be followed throughout the group. The framework includes a process of
appraisal and development to ensure companies get the best from their people; emphasis has been placed on career pathways with
individual training and development programmes. motivational events are organised during the year. The group operates internationally
and therefore its employment practices are varied to meet local conditions and requirements. These are established on the basis of
the best practice for each individual country. new and existing staff at all levels are trained to become familiar with products, markets,
systems, service standards and management skills in order to better satisfy customer needs and to enhance their own career prospects.
The brammer european council was established over 10 years ago with each company in the group selecting a representative. The
council meets once in each year. The purpose of the brammer european council is to encourage freedom of association amongst
brammer staff representatives from its operations in europe.
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both employment policy and practice in the group are based on non-discrimination and equal opportunities. The company remains
supportive of the employment and advancement of disabled people. applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully
considered, bearing in mind the respective aptitudes and abilities of the applicants concerned. in the event that members of staff become
disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the company continues and the appropriate training is arranged.

The group will be carrying out the ninth brammer employee survey (which is conducted electronically) in early 2013.

in addition to the results of the brammer employee survey, the group regularly monitors sales per employee and training costs per
employee to assess the efficiency of its employees through training in order to ensure the quality of its overall service delivery.

employee performance indicators
2012 2011
£000 £000

sales per employee 199.00 195.00
Training costs per employee 0.13 0.20

brammer continues to invest in training for its employees and during the year a greater proportion of training was delivered electronically
or was provided directly by suppliers.

Corporate social responsibility
The environment
brammer recognises that it is part of a wider community of employees, shareholders, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders
and recognises that group companies have a responsibility to act in a way that respects the environment.

it is the policy of brammer, so far as is reasonably practical, to protect and conserve the local and wider environment from any adverse
impacts caused by its operations. it is the policy of brammer across all its operations to:

> meet all relevant legislative requirements on environmental issues;

> seek to conserve energy and natural resources by minimising waste, recycling where possible and maximising the use of renewable
resources;

> consider the life cycle environmental effects of investment in premises and equipment; and

> ensure all contractors follow our practices while working on site and respond promptly and efficiently to adverse occurrences.

The group’s aim is to encourage more recycling and reduce energy costs, thereby improving efficiency and reducing the relative carbon
footprint of the group. The uK is leading the way in this regard. The group has extended this policy to other countries. Group initiatives
include the following:

brammer employed the services of carbon clear to produce a carbon accounting tool which is being used to measure our global carbon
footprint. The carbon accounting methodology adopted follows the GHG protocol corporate standard; an internationally recognised
standard which provides guidelines for companies and other organisations preparing a GHG emissions inventory. carbon clear were
involved in the measurement and reporting of our footprint ensuring that the data is credible, consistent and reliable. implementing a
structured and integrated approach to carbon accounting allows brammer to report an accurate and credible carbon footprint, enabling
the organisation to identify opportunities for improving its environmental performance across the group.

Working environment
The group continues with the transition to flat screen computer monitors with employees encouraged to leave all computers on standby
mode if they are away from the computer.

at weekends, all servers, faxes and printers are shut down and all computers are turned off. better control of temperature and regulation
of the hours of use of oil at national distribution centres (“ndcs”) to reduce consumption now takes place. The promotion of electronic
mail and telephone rather than post is encouraged.

energy saving lamps are used wherever possible and steps are taken to ensure that all lights are turned off when they are not in use.

Environmental performance indicators
The group, which does not have manufacturing activities, takes its environmental responsibilities very seriously. The main impact on the
environment is the group’s logistics. The group therefore monitors carefully its packaging and distribution costs from both an efficiency
and environmental point of view. The following key performance indicators are applicable:

2012 2011

packaging costs as % of costs of goods sold 0.18% 0.23%
distribution costs as a % of sales (representing delivery costs to customer) 0.95% 1.07%
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Transport
deliveries are in the main carried out overnight so that vehicles do not get held up in traffic, thus reducing their emissions. vehicles
with diesel particle filters are preferred and cars with low fuel consumption (fleet scheme) are utilised.

employees are encouraged to optimise their use of car pooling, use of public transport and limit the amount of air flights. drivers are
asked to conserve their speed as this is more energy efficient.

Recycling and waste reduction
Recycling is implemented where possible in relation to paper, glass and residual waste. Recycling is encouraged within ndcs by
reusing old packaging.

electronic purchasing is utilised to minimise paper usage. printing is carried out through central printers in order to reduce paper
consumption. a number of projects have been implemented to reutilise boxes for all internal transport and to improve the recycling
rates at both ndcs and branches.

suppliers are asked to use reusable pallets rather than disposable ones. The use of more environmentally friendly packaging is encouraged
as well as packaging more products in the same pack, where possible, in order to save material. employees are encouraged to
separate waste.

Accreditation and conformance with European legislation
brammer is working to ensure that all our businesses across the group achieve an environmental accreditation such as isO 14001 –
2004. The group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint through reducing energy consumption and proactive waste management.

brammer is committed to being a responsible company and to taking all reasonable steps to reduce its impact upon the environment.
as a distribution company, the interests of our major stakeholders, customers and the environment are well aligned as increased
efficiencies reduce our carbon footprint, drive increased shareholder value and improve costs for customers.

as noted earlier, the group has partnered with carbon clear and is in the process of undertaking a detailed assessment of its emission
levels across europe.

The group will use 2010 as its benchmark year and will set itself reduction targets based upon that year.

Specific country initiatives are as follows:
in the uK, the ndc employees continue to receive environmental training and awareness, which along with other environmental
improvements has resulted in the ndc receiving third party accreditation confirming that zero tonnes of waste per month were sent
to landfill (2011 – 1.99 tonnes per month, 2005 – 7.68 tonnes per month) which is a significant achievement given the size and volume
of transactions carried out through it; also a 64% increase in the volumes of cardboard and a 423% increase in paper sent for re-cycling
since 2007. cardboard recycled was up from 0.81 tonnes per month in 2005 to an average of 4.52 tonnes per month in 2012. Where
possible brammer uK continues to minimise cO2 emissions with improved Gps delivery routes introduced to reduce fuel costs. brammer
uK continues to adhere to the isO 140012004 accreditation across the entire branch network, gearbox centres, workshops, ndc
and Head Office.

Brammer UK are committed to:

> increasing energy efficiency;

> promoting energy awareness amongst employees and customers, ensuring that all staff are aware of the brammer energy policy
available on the company intranet;

> implementing energy awareness and savings throughout all our premises and equipment where it is cost effective to do so;

> monitoring and reporting energy performance in an appropriate way;

> ensuring that during refurbishment of any brammer premises consideration is given to environmental impacts; and

> complying with applicable legislation concerning the impacts of brammer’s energy usage.

in france, preparatory work for isO 14001 certification continues. This accreditation process has been completed up to level 2 and
only the ndc in nozay requires level 3 certification. it is anticipated that this will be completed in 2013.

brammer france also decided to adopt the united nations Global compact in june 2010 in the area of environmental compliance.
for 2012, the following actions were undertaken:

> cO2 emissions of the company car fleet were reduced;

> management of waste was improved; and

> “eco-friendly” compliance initiatives established.

selective sorting of waste has been established within the ndc and the head office at nozay.
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in Germany the third audit iaW din en isO 14001 for the ndc and dortmund was passed with no documented non-conformities.
The environmental management team in dortmund meets at least four times a year and internal audits are also planned. during the
year, the vehicles for technical field staff and insite™ managers were reviewed. The new fleet helps to reduce cO2 emissions of the
group in Germany by a further 5% over and above the 2012 reductions.

emission level brammer services car: 120g/km
average emission level of the business vehicle fleet Germany: 142g/km

for dortmund and 13 other sites, electricity supplies are procured from a green energy supplier. The power mix is 95% from hydro-electric
and 5% from wind power services.

in poland, the sales force was relocated into a new low energy building designed to reduce consumption of electricity and water and
to reduce other impact upon the environment. paper invoicing was replaced by electronic invoices reducing postage costs and associated
fuel consumption. The vehicle fleet was updated to significantly reduce emissions and the company invested in a transformer to convert
high frequency energy into a lower form which significantly reduces energy consumption.

brammer spain has commenced certification for isO 14001 and expects to complete the process during 2013.

Health and safety
The group strives to provide and maintain a safe environment for all employees, customers and visitors to its premises and to comply
with relevant health and safety legislation. in addition the group aims to minimise the risk of work based accidents by ensuring systems
are in place to address health and safety matters. The group encourages the involvement of employees and aims for continual improvement
in health and safety matters through a formal structure with a reporting and review process. compliance with health and safety policies
and legislation is monitored on a country by country basis. The goal of the group is to achieve best practice in all of its operations.
progress on implementation of country health and safety plans is closely monitored.

The group’s health and safety policy statement, which is published on our website, focuses on establishing a suitable environment,
providing proper training and communication with employees.

Reports on health and safety performance are made to meetings of the board on a quarterly basis. a format of health and safety reporting
is in place so that the board can monitor more carefully injury statistics and trends across the group, especially where there are locally
notifiable incidents.

a major investment programme in our ndcs over the past few years has given us the opportunity to introduce vehicle movement
practices both on branch forecourts and indoors. This has significantly improved the workplace transport flows involved, separating
workplace vehicle movements from people movements and significantly reducing the opportunity for accidents.

brammer’s use of vehicles and the composition of its fleet are continually under review to ensure that the most appropriate vehicles
are used for delivery from branches. deliveries from the ndcs to branches are normally carried out by an external logistics company.

standardisation of fork lift Truck (“flT”) procedures including external training continues to be applied across the group.

Health and Safety in specific countries:
brammer uK continues to work to the OHsas18001: 2007 accreditation across the entire branch network, gearbox centres, workshops,
ndc and Head Office ensuring that all employees carry out their functions in a safe and effective manner. The investment in automation
at the ndc in relation to the picking and despatch processes continues to bring about further reductions in the amount of manual
handling.

Other accreditations (which have elements of H&S within the audits and activities) include:

> fluid power Hose assemblies – bfpa certification accreditation;

> approved safe contractor – a leading health and safety pre-qualification assessment scheme, dedicated to promoting higher
standards of competence and compliance through the provision of relevant industry specific and tailored health and safety
assessments for all professions and sectors;

> achilles – uvdb verify (utilities industry) Quality, Health, safety and environmental assessment certification and assessment for
contracts of high operational risk, the utility second stage pre-qualification scheme uvdb verify applies. uvdb verify shows the
company’s ability to demonstrate compliance to health, safety, environmental and quality requirements;

> achilles – building confidence (construction industry) a Quality, Health, safety and environmental assessment providing an effective
pre-qualification and accreditation services for the uK construction industry;

> achilles – link-up (Rail industry) is the rail industry supplier qualification scheme, providing a single common registration, qualification
and audit process for suppliers that is shared by the uK rail industry in Quality, Health, safety and environmental assessment;

> achilles – fpal (Oil and Gas industry). fpal accreditation is the direct route to business in the Oil & Gas industry, which aims to
find the perfect supplier for every buyer. fpal works to identify, qualify, evaluate and monitor suppliers on behalf of its purchasing
members in Quality, Health, safety and environmental activities;
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> sedex – supplier ethical data exchange – is a membership organisation for businesses committed to continuous improvement of
the ethical performance of their supply chains;

> cips – chartered institute of purchasing and supply is an established international standard of excellence in procurement policies
and procedures. The purchasing accreditation assesses the company’s sustainability, corporate social Responsibility, Quality,
Health & safety and financial stability;

> Quality management system – isO 9001 accreditation; and

> environmental management – isO 14001 accreditation.

a driver online assessment programme has continued throughout 2012. The aim is to reduce the number of road accidents involving
employees whilst driving company vehicles. all new medium sized delivery vans ordered for the uK fleet are supplied with a 62mph
speed restrictor to improve the fuel efficiency of the vehicles and to prevent driving at excess speed.

in spain, an external expert company ensures compliance with current health and safety legislation. brammer spain, as part of its accident
prevention programme, is implementing actions to improve awareness of all its employees leading to the prevention of accidents and
work related illnesses. Routine medical examinations of employees are carried out every year in accordance with spanish health &
safety legislation in order to monitor the health of employees. The same applies to new starters.

all the flT drivers in spain are externally trained and tested in the use of such vehicles. They will also have to attend a refresher course
on a regular basis. all new starters in the ndcs or warehouses that use flTs have to pass a flT test.

in spain, anti-spill tanks and anti-spill emergency kits have been installed to cope with safety requirements for the warehousing of
chemicals and to act in case of emergency. High capacity outdoor safety cupboards have also been installed to comply with safety
requirements and to increase the capacity to store flammable products.

security at the Head Office in bilbao has improved by the introduction of an electronic swipe card system.

four branches which were relocated during the year were the subject of full Health and safety reviews, as were the main warehouse
and gearbox centre. all processes and documentation were reviewed and updated to ensure compliance.

in france, the health and safety committee meets quarterly and continuously works on improving safety. This committee has made a
major contribution to reducing the number of accidents in the past few years. Road traffic accident prevention is still a major initiative.
improvements in manual handling training and fire prevention measures continued during the year.

first aid training now takes place at the larger branches on a regular basis. manual handling training in the area of lifting is now targeted
at more senior employees in the ndc.

a safety manager for brammer Germany is nominated to support all employees across the country on matters of employee safety.
They conduct safety audits, lead safety council meetings, liaise with Government bodies and liability insurers and investigate any
incidents. in both dortmund and stuttgart formal safety councils are established to discuss safety issues of the north and south
German areas on a quarterly basis. The safety council is composed of one member of senior management, the safety manager, safety
specialists, occupational health physician and two members of the labour council.

Risk assessments are carried out in accordance with German law and practice. a central action plan is maintained to address any
issues highlighted during the annual review process.

all hazardous substances are stored in a purpose built storage area in the national distribution centre in dortmund. This storage area
is under special control of the safety manager and is inspected internally on a quarterly basis, and annually by governmental assessors.
no issues were reported or raised during the year.

a risk analysis is carried out by occupational health physicians and as a result an individual skin protection plan for cleaning, safety
and care of the skin has been established, communicated to employees and published in the operation areas. skin protection is part
of the annual health care service.

noise measurements at the dortmund and stuttgart locations showed compliance at stuttgart, and for dortmund a noise reduction
program was initiated to seek to further address issues over excess noise. in the short term, personal protective equipment has to be
used. all affected employees are fully trained to prevent any issues surrounding noise related injuries.

each site has a fire prevention and protection plan. internal fire inspections are conducted on a regular basis and fully documented.
unannounced visits by local authorities are also carried out and any issues raised addressed immediately.

first aiders for all sites are in place and trained in accordance with all relevant regulations.

internal health and safety training is undertaken throughout the organisation on an annual basis. in addition, specific training is implemented
for new employees, new processes or substances, or as otherwise required by German law. all training is fully documented in accordance
with best practice.
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employment of disabled persons
it is the policy of the group to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment received from disabled persons, having
regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities; and wherever possible to continue the employment of, and to arrange appropriate
training for, employees who have become disabled persons during the period of their employment. The group provides the same
opportunities for training, career development and promotion for disabled persons as for other employees.

Corporate governance
The company’s statement on corporate Governance is included in the corporate Governance report on pages 34 to 38 of these
financial statements.

takeover directive
The company has only one class of ordinary shares and these shares have equal voting rights. The nature of individual directors’ holdings
are disclosed on page 47.

as part of the resolutions approved at the 2012 annual general meeting of shareholders, shareholders’ authority was given to the company’s
directors for the allotment of up to 38,980,968 ordinary shares of 20p each if the authority is not utilised in connection with a rights
issue, representing 33.3% of the issued share capital of the company as at the date of the 2012 annual general meeting.

during the year, the directors did not exercise the authorities given to them (to allot shares) save in relation to the options exercised
under the executive share Option schemes. allotments of 260,000 shares were made in relation to employees who exercised options
during the year pursuant to the executive share Option schemes. as at 31 december 2012, the directors have the power to allot up
to 77,962,708 ordinary shares of 20p each representing 66.6% of the issued share capital as at the date of the 2012 annual general
meeting in connection with a rights issue, subject to a reduction of any amount of shares issued in accordance with the preceding
paragraph.

There are no significant agreements to which the company is a party which take effect, alter or terminate in the event of change of
control of the company except that the revolving credit facility agreement dated 11 july 2011 in respect of the €100 million revolving
credit facility (“the group facility”) contains mandatory pre-payment provisions on a change of control. The group facility contains a
prohibition on a merger of the company with another entity without the prior consent of the relevant banks.

as stated in the Remuneration Report on page 42, the current executive directors of the company are entitled to certain payments if
their employment is terminated or they are given notice by the company (save in circumstances giving rise to summary dismissal or
retirement) within one year of a change of control of the company.

certain of the company’s share incentive schemes contain provisions that permit awards or options to vest or become exercisable on
a change of control in accordance with the rules of the schemes.

transfer of shares
The board may refuse to register a transfer of a certificated share which is not fully paid or where a person with at least a 0.25% interest
in a class of shares has been served with a disclosure notice and has failed to provide the company with information concerning
interests in those shares. The board may also refuse to register a transfer of a certificated share if it is in respect of one class of share
or is in favour of more than four joint holders.

Transfers of uncertificated shares must be carried out using cResT and the board can refuse to register a transfer of an uncertificated
share in accordance with the regulations governing the operation of cResT.

There are no other limitations on the holding of ordinary shares in the company and the company is not aware of any agreements between
shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer of shares.

variation of rights
Rights attached to any class of shares may be varied with the written consent of the holders of at least three quarters in nominal value
of the issued shares of that class or by a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the shareholders.

The company by ordinary resolution may determine that any shares are allotted with special rights, privileges or restrictions.

Going concern
as highlighted in the financial review, during 2012 the group met its day to day working capital requirements principally through a
€100.0 million banking facility with Hsbc, yorkshire bank and Kbc bank. This €100 million facility is fully committed until june 2016.
The current economic conditions create uncertainty particularly over (a) the level of demand for the group’s products; (b) the exchange
rate between sterling and euro; and (c) the rate of interest paid on floating rate loans. The group’s forecasts and projections, taking
account of sensitivity analyses of changes in trading performance and exchange rate movements, show that the group is well placed
to operate within the level of its current facility for the foreseeable future.
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Therefore after making these enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company and the group have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the annual Report and accounts.

independent auditors
so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware. each director has taken all
the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Re-appointment
Resolutions to re-appoint pricewaterhousecoopers llp as independent auditor to the company and to authorise the directors to
determine their remuneration will be proposed at the annual general meeting.

annual general meeting
The annual general meeting of the company is to be held at 13.00 on 17 may 2013 at 43–45 broad street, Teddington, middlesex
TW11 8QZ.

The notice of meeting appears in the document accompanying this report and accounts. Three resolutions will be proposed as items
of special business at the meeting and explanations of these resolutions are given in the enclosed circular.

by order of the board
Steven Hodkinson
company secretary
19 february 2013
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The board is accountable to the company’s shareholders for good corporate governance. its policy is to manage the affairs of the
company in accordance with the principles of the uK corporate Governance code (formerly known as the combined code) referred
to in the listing Rules of the uK listing authority. a copy of this code is publicly available from www.frc.org.

for the year under review, the company has complied with the uK corporate Governance code including the 2012 updates by the
fRc (“the code”) in all respects.

The following parts of this report describe the board’s approach to corporate governance and how the principles of the code are applied.

part a: directors
Board balance and independence
The board currently comprises a non-executive chairman, two executive directors and three non-executive directors, who are equally
responsible for the proper stewardship and leadership of the company. The directors holding office at the date of this report and their
biographical details are given on pages 20 and 21.

all of the non-executive directors are independent of the company’s executive management and free from any business or other relationship
that could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement. They each meet the independence criteria set out in
the code. The terms and conditions of appointment of the non-executive directors are available for inspection at the registered office
of the company. The letters of appointment set out their expected time commitment to the role. Other significant commitments of the
non-executive directors are disclosed to the board.

david dunn, the chairman of the company until the 2012 aGm at the time of his appointment did meet and continued to meet the
independence criteria set out in the code. upon appointment, following the 2012 aGm, bill Whiteley met the independence criteria
set out in the code.

performance evaluation of individual directors regularly takes place to ensure that an individual’s performance continues to be effective
and commitment to the role is demonstrated. such evaluation took place in 2012. in addition, the training needs of the board are reviewed
regularly and, where appropriate, acted upon.

Terry Garthwaite is the senior independent non-executive director. He is available to shareholders if they have concerns which contact
through the chairman, chief executive or finance director have failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

all directors are supplied, in a timely manner, with all relevant documentation and financial information to assist them in the discharge
of their duties. This includes information on the company’s operational and financial performance. The board regularly reviews the
management and financial performance of the company, as well as long term strategic planning and risk assessment. Regular reports
are given to the board on matters such as pensions, health and safety and litigation. The management executive committee met with
the board three times during the year.

Chairman and chief executive
The positions of chairman and chief executive are held by separate individuals and the board has clearly defined their responsibilities.
The chairman is primarily responsible for the effective working of the board, ensuring that each director, particularly the non-executive
directors, is able to make an effective contribution. The chief executive has responsibility for all operational matters which includes the
implementation of the group strategy and policies approved by the board.

Appraisals and evaluation
during the year, the chairman held a meeting with the non-executive directors, without the executive directors being present. in addition,
led by the senior independent director, the non-executive directors met in the absence of the chairman to appraise the chairman’s
performance.

Attendance by individual directors at meetings of the board and its committees
The attendance of directors at the board and principal board committee meetings during the year are detailed in the chart below:

main board main board (Telephone) audit committee Remuneration committee nomination committee
7 meetings 3 meetings 3 meetings 7 meetings 2 meetings

bill Whiteley 7 3 1 4 2
david dunn 3 2 n/a 4 1
ian fraser 7 3 n/a n/a 2
Terry Garthwaite 7 3 3 7 2
paul Thwaite 7 3 n/a n/a n/a
charles irving-swift 7 3 3 7 2
dungan magrath 4 2 1 3 1

Appointment and resignation of directors
On appointment, new directors receive a full, formal and tailored induction. major shareholders are offered the opportunity to meet
newly appointed non-executive directors.
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directors have the right to ensure that any concerns they have, which cannot be resolved about the running of the company or a proposed
action, are recorded in the board minutes. upon resignation a non-executive director shall be asked to provide a written statement to
the chairman, for circulation to the board, if they have such concerns.

Advice for directors
a procedure has been adopted for the directors to obtain independent professional advice, in appropriate circumstances, at the company’s
expense. committees are provided with sufficient resources to undertake their duties. an internal governance policy provides that
directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the company secretary.

Delegation and working through committees
The board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for approval. This schedule is reviewed periodically. The board’s
main focus is on strategic and policy issues and reviewing objectives and performance. The board operates in such a way to ensure that
all decisions are made by the most appropriate people in a timely manner that will not unnecessarily delay progress. The board has
formally delegated specific responsibilities to board committees, including the audit committee, remuneration committee and nominations
committee (see pages 20 and 21). The board will also appoint committees to approve specific processes as deemed necessary.

The directors and management teams of each group company are responsible for those business entities. They are tasked with the
delivery of targets approved by the board on budgets, strategy and policy.

These policies and procedures collectively enable the board to make informed decisions on a range of key issues including those
relating to strategy and risk management.

Board evaluation
The board undertook a process of self-evaluation of its own performance during the year. a questionnaire was devised and approved
by the board. directors submitted their completed questionnaires to the chairman who reviewed the responses with the individual
directors and the board as a whole. The exercise was viewed positively by the board and will be undertaken again during the course
of the current financial year.

Retirement by rotation
each of the directors is subject to election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting after their appointment. Thereafter all of
the directors are subject to retirement by rotation at intervals of no more than three years. The directors are aware of the retirement by
rotation provisions of the code that apply to fTse 350 companies, and have chosen to voluntarily adopt these provisions. accordingly,
all directors shall be offering themselves for re-election at the 2013 aGm. Terry Garthwaite will have completed nine years of service
with the group on 1 june 2013. from that date, he will cease to be considered independent in accordance with the code. The board,
however, consider his experience, knowledge and contribution to be such that he will continue to serve beyond his 9th anniversary.
He will be subject to mandatory annual election from the 2014 aGm. biographical details of these directors are set out on pages 20
and 21. The directors are aware of the retirement and independent facilitation of the board provisions of the code that apply to fTse
350 listed companies and have chosen to voluntarily comply with these provisions. accordingly, all directors shall be standing for
re-election at the 2013 aGm.

Nominations committee
The nominations committee and the board seek to maintain an appropriate balance between the executive and non-executive directors.
during the year, the nominations committee was chaired by david dunn and then bill Whiteley and consists of all the non-executive
directors and the chief executive. it meets periodically as required, but at least once a year. bill Whiteley took over as chairman of the
nominations committee when david dunn stepped down after the aGm.

The terms of reference of the committee were reviewed during the year and are available on the company’s website at www.brammer.biz.

The committee reviews the structure, size, diversity and composition of the board and makes recommendations concerning the
re-appointment of any non-executive director at the conclusion of their specified term of office and in the identification and nomination
of new directors. The committee retains external search and selection consultants as appropriate. The committee also advises the
board on succession planning for executive board appointments although the board itself is responsible for succession generally.

all directors who are offering themselves for re-election at the 2013 annual general meeting, have been subject to a more formal evaluation
process. The nominations committee has concluded that they continue to contribute effectively and demonstrate their commitment
to the respective board and committee roles that they hold.

The committee evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the board and is responsible for board appointments.
following an evaluation, it prepares, in conjunction with the board, a detailed job description of the role with a candidate profile and
the capabilities required for a particular appointment. in drafting this, consideration would be given to the existing experience, knowledge
and background of board members as well as the strategic and business objectives of the group. it determines the scope of the role
of a new director, the skills and time commitment required and is actively involved in the recruitment process. short listed candidates
would then be invited to interview with members of the committee and, if recommended by the committee, would be invited to meet
the entire board before any decision is taken relating to the appointment.
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Audit committee
The audit committee consisted during the year of all the non-executive directors.

The board is satisfied that Terry Garthwaite, who chairs the committee, has recent and relevant financial experience. mr Garthwaite’s
professional qualifications and experience are set out in his biography on page 20.

The executive directors and the external auditor may attend at the invitation of the committee. However, the committee has the right
to request invitees to withdraw from the meeting to enable discussions to take place in their absence.

The main role and responsibilities of the audit committee are set out in written terms of reference. These terms of reference are available
on the company’s website at www.brammer.biz.

The committee has primary responsibility for making recommendations to the board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor which the board puts to shareholders for approval in general meetings. it keeps under review the scope and
results of the audit, and its cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the auditor. The committee keeps the nature
and extent of non-audit services under review by regularly reviewing the ratio of audit to non-audit fees. The committee is aware of the
need to safeguard auditor objectivity and independence and this issue is discussed by the committee and periodically with the audit
partner at pricewaterhousecoopers llp.

The committee reviews annual and interim financial statements before submission to the board and reviews the scope and effectiveness
of the group’s internal control functions. The committee will periodically review the scope, remit and effectiveness of the internal audit
function.

The committee reviews the policy by which employees of the company may, in confidence, raise matters of concern, including possible
improprieties in financial reporting or other matters.

The committee monitors the integrity of the group’s financial statements and announcements relating to financial performance and
reviews the significant financial reporting judgements contained in them.

Remuneration committee
The remuneration committee is chaired by charles irving-swift and consists of all the non-executive directors. members of the committee
have no personal financial interest in the company other than as shareholders and the fees paid to them as non-executive directors.
They are not involved in the day-to-day running of the company.

ian fraser, by invitation and for matters not relating to him, may attend meetings and is consulted by the committee on proposals
relating to the remuneration of the executive directors and appropriate senior executives. He does not participate in deliberations and
decisions where they have a direct personal interest.

further details are set out in the Remuneration Report on page 39.

part B: directors’ remuneration
details of directors’ remuneration are set out in the Remuneration Report. The report details the company’s compliance with the code’s
requirements with regard to remuneration matters. The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are available on the company’s
website at www.brammer.biz.

part C: relations with shareholders
The board is accountable to shareholders for the company’s continued success. The company accordingly places great emphasis on
maintaining good communications with shareholders. The chairman, chief executive and finance director meet regularly with major
shareholders to discuss the group’s performance, strategic issues and shareholder investment objectives. Reports of these meetings,
and any shareholder communications during the year, are reported to the board.

if requested, the non-executive directors are available to attend meetings with major shareholders. The board regularly receives copies
of analysts’ and brokers’ briefings.

The annual Report together with the brammer website are a substantial means of communication with all shareholders during the
year. The interim Report together with interim management statements are announced to the stock exchange and also published on
the brammer website.

The notice of the annual general meeting accompanies this report and accounts. The notice is despatched to shareholders, together
with explanatory notes or a circular on items of special business, at least 21 working days before the meeting. it is the company’s
practice to propose separate resolutions on each substantially separate issue.

The board welcomes questions from shareholders who have an opportunity to raise issues either informally or formally before or at the
annual general meeting. The chairmen of the audit, remuneration and nominations committees will normally be available at the meeting
to answer those questions relating to the work of these committees. The chairman generally makes a statement on current trading at
the meeting. The company counts all proxy votes and the chairman will inform shareholders of the level of proxies lodged on each
resolution. The votes for and against each resolution, together with the number of abstentions will be given following the show of
hands for that resolution.
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part d: accountability and audit
The respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors in connection with the financial statements are explained in the statement
of directors’ responsibilities and the auditors’ report.

Independence of auditors
The audit committee oversees the relationship with the external auditors including (but not limited to) approving their remuneration,
assessing annually their independence and objectivity, taking into account relevant professional and regulatory requirements and the
relationship with the auditors as a whole, including the provision of any non-audit services.

The directors ensure the independence of the auditors by requesting annual confirmation of independence which includes the disclosure
of all non-audit fees. The group policy with regard to the provision of audit and non-audit services by the external auditors is based on
the principles that they should only undertake non-audit services where they are the most appropriate and cost-effective provider of
the service, and where the provision of non-audit service does not impair, or is not perceived to impair, the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity.

The present auditors, pricewaterhousecooopers llp, were appointed in 2001. a review took place in 2006 leading to the continued
appointment of the present auditors. The previous lead audit partner, nicholas boden, stepped down at the conclusion of the year
ended 31 december 2010 audit and was succeeded by martin Heath in line with partner rotation policy pursuant to the requirements
of apb ethical standards.

The committee regularly reviews the analysis of all services provided by the external auditors. The policy is reviewed annually by the
committee and approved by the board.

details of the amounts paid to the external auditors for audit and non-audit services in 2012 are set out in note 3 to the accounts on
page 68.

Internal control
internal controls are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The board is responsible for the group’s system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness. The board works closely with local management and has established procedures in place to monitor
the operations and financial reporting processes across the group. see the ‘Operational structure, review and compliance’ section
below for further details.

The board, through the audit committee, conducts annually a review of the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal controls
covering all material controls including financial, operational, risk management and compliance. management reviews monthly control
reports and will identify any issues to the board.

in addition, the directors at least annually conduct a review of the effectiveness of the group’s process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks faced by the company; this has operated throughout the year and up to the date of signing these financial
statements. The board reviews the results of the process, which is in line with the Turnbull (2005) guidance.

Operational structure, review and compliance
Together with board reviews, there are regular review meetings to address operating performance, plans, risks and controls between
the corporate team and the country managing directors and finance directors.

The corporate team takes responsibility for finance, iT, the development of pan-european supplier relationships and the development
of pan-european Key account activity, which complements the work done within each of the subsidiaries. The continuing importance
to the business of european supplier agreements and customer contracts has made the role of this team all the more relevant. each
business already has an established enterprise resource planning (“eRp”) system; the overall strategy is to enhance the communication
between these systems as part of a process of continuous improvement of the management and control of the inventory and the sales
order process. as part of the development and improvement of the group’s reporting system, a financial reporting and consolidation
package is continually updated to improve the quality and speed of financial reporting.

brammer has had a finance manual in place for many years; it is a corporate manual with a wide range of contents, reflecting the evolution
in corporate governance from financial internal control to all aspects of internal control and is continually updated.

in addition to the group finance director, the group has senior financial managers at its head office. The board regularly considers the
effectiveness of the internal audit department; some subsidiaries have their own internal audit function and there is a group internal
audit officer.

The businesses have instituted internal monthly self-assessment processes at subsidiary level, tailored to their respective operations;
these assessments are submitted for review by the head office finance team and the regional finance controllers. monthly financial
results of each subsidiary are reviewed at group level; the monthly review includes meetings where performance and action plans are
presented to the brammer chief executive, finance director and controllers. This culminates in reports that cover operational, financial
and control reviews being submitted to the board.
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These control processes are under ongoing continuous review to ensure adequacy for the purpose and efficient working in furtherance
of their objectives.

Work of the audit committee
The principal work carried out by the audit committee during the period included the following:

> monitoring the financial reporting process throughout the year. Receiving reports from the internal audit department and reviewing
its plans during the year; a review of the internal audit work for the period to november 2012 was considered at the november
2012 meeting. The internal audit plan for 2013 was considered and approved at the november 2012 meeting;

> accounting policies and standards – during the year the committee reviewed the application of any new accounting policies or
standards which would be applicable to the group’s 2012 annual Report. The committee is updated regularly on actual and pending
changes to the accounting standards;

> internal controls and risk management – in february and july 2012, the committee considered reports on the operation of, and
issues arising from the group’s internal control procedures, together with observations from the external auditors. it also monitored
at its february 2012 and november 2012 meetings, the effectiveness of the group’s risk management process, which considers
the key risks, both financial and non-financial, facing the group and the effectiveness of the group’s controls to manage and reduce
the impact of those risks;

> in november 2012, the board reviewed the committee’s terms of reference and non-audit services policy; terms of reference for
the committee were amended to bring them into line with the 2010 code;

> external auditors’ work and relationship – the committee assessed the external auditors’ independence and objectivity throughout
the year; the audit report for 2011 was reviewed and discussed with the external auditors at the february 2012 meeting prior to
them issuing an unqualified audit report; a similar process has taken place in relation to the 2012 audit report; their interim report
was considered at the july 2012 meeting together with their strategy for the 2012 audit;

> “serious concerns” policy – the committee continues to operate the “serious concerns” policy, under which employees may in
confidence notify the company of any concerns, inter alia, involving financial reporting. a copy of the company’s serious concerns
policy is available on the company’s website; and

> “bribery act 2010” – an anti-corruption/bribery policy has been developed and implemented. an ongoing training programme is
being rolled out across the group.

Risk management
The subsidiaries are required to carry out periodic risk assessments of their business and submit them to the head office. Taking account
of risks identified during these reviews and risk assessment  processes such as the meetings described above, this is distilled into an
operational “Turnbull risk assessment” that is designed to summarise the key operational risks, how those risks are evolving and how
they are being mitigated. The risk assessment is presented to the board on a regular basis.

as part of the process that brammer has in place to review the effectiveness of the internal control system, there are procedures
designed to capture and evaluate failings and weaknesses. in the case of those failings and weaknesses categorised by the board as
“significant”, procedures exist to ensure that necessary action is taken to remedy such failings.

a separate exercise is carried out as part of an ongoing review by the board that focuses on corporate risks. These are the strategic
group level risks over and above the operational risks which have been reviewed and considered by the brammer management. This
was reviewed by the board in 2012 and adopted. a risk management policy has been formulated along with a board level risk
assessment register.

brammer’s insurance continues to be managed and co-ordinated centrally with the assistance of insurance brokers. This gives the
group full visibility of both claims history and the insurance industry’s perception of the group’s overall risk via the respective insurance
premiums. brammer examines the size and trend of these premiums and the extent to which it can mitigate the risks and reduce the
overall risk burden in the business by considering the appropriate level of insurance deductible and the potential benefit of self-insurance
in some areas.

part e: takeover directive
share capital structures are included in the directors’ report on page 32.

approved by the board of directors on 19 february 2013 and signed on its behalf by
Bill Whiteley
chairman
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a statement to shareholders from the Chairman of the remuneration committee
The subject of executive reward has been and continues to be a matter of interest to shareholders. in september, the department of
business innovation and skills (“bis”) issued two consultative papers on the subject, and whilst brammer shareholders seem satisfied
with the present report we have included a number of amendments to reflect some of the general concerns in the market.

Whilst the new regulations governing the shareholder approval of and reporting of executive reward do not come into force until brammer’s
2013 financial year and are yet to be finalised, we have incorporated a number of changes this year to help make our Remuneration
Report clearer and easier to understand. in particular we have divided this report into two sections; the first (a) outlines brammer’s forward-
looking remuneration policy, sets out components of pay, how they are linked to the business strategy, and reward opportunities for
the executive directors and is unaudited. The second (b) reviews how our remuneration policy was implemented in 2012 and is audited.

2012 saw the remuneration committee build upon previous years’ performance. during the year a new performance share plan was
adopted and approved by shareholders at the aGm for the executive directors which further aligned the performance of the executive
directors to shareholder interests.

it is the policy of the remuneration committee to ensure that our rewards packages are simple, competitive, transparent and targeted
to be consistent with shareholder expectations. We have sought to align performance and reward in such a way that shareholders
benefit from the sustained long-term performance of the company and that senior management are appropriately motivated to deliver
the same. We pro-actively engage in dialogue with our shareholders, and we are grateful for their support, in assisting us to deliver
these goals.

Charles irving-Swift
chairman of the remuneration committee
19 february 2013

a: policy section
Compliance statement
This report has been prepared by the remuneration committee on behalf of the board and complies with the requirements of the listing
Rules of the uK listing authority, schedule 8 of the large and medium-sized companies and Groups (accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 and the 2010 uK corporate Governance code. The structure of this report has been modified from previous years
based on the proposed regulations put forward by bis. in accordance with section 439 of the companies act, an advisory resolution
to approve this report will be proposed at the annual general meeting (‘aGm’) of the company to be held on 17 may 2013.

Role of the committee
The committee, on behalf of the board, determines and approves the remuneration policy for the group and all elements of the remuneration
arrangements for executive directors. details of the membership of the committee can be found on page 36.

On the board’s behalf, the committee approves the general recruitment terms, remuneration benefits, employment conditions and
severance terms for senior executives and determines the specific recruitment terms, remuneration benefits, employment conditions,
pension rights, compensation payments and severance terms for the executive directors. it also approves the rules and associated
guidelines for the granting of equity based incentives under the brammer share plans, which currently are the performance share plan
and the share matching plan.

The remuneration committee has its own terms of reference, which are approved by the committee and the board. These were reviewed
and updated in 2012 to ensure compliance with the june 2010 version of the code. They are displayed on the company’s website.

The chairman of the company and the chairman of the remuneration committee are available to shareholders to discuss remuneration
policy.

in its deliberations, the committee gives full consideration to the principles of good governance as set out in the code.

General policy
The committee and the board recognise that in order to attract, retain and motivate talented senior executives it is necessary to operate
a competitive pay and benefits structure. The committee aims to reward executives fairly and responsibly for their contribution to the
company’s performance, but avoid paying more than necessary to achieve this objective. The company’s executive remuneration policy
is regularly reviewed to ensure it takes due account of market/best practice, as well as the particular circumstances and challenges
faced by the company.

in setting all elements of remuneration, the committee is guided both by published surveys and by specific studies commissioned from
time to time by the committee from independent specialist consultants. it takes professional advice from within and outside the company.
The committee acknowledges that quantum of remuneration for senior executives is an issue of concern for shareholders and that
market data, when obtained and utilised, should be considered in the context of performance, affordability and pay for the other employees.

The committee also receives and considers general information on pay and employment conditions on a country by country basis
around the group, especially when determining the annual salary review.
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Summary of Brammer’s remuneration policy for executive directors

Purpose and link 
to strategy

fixed pay

Salary
To support recruitment
and retention of talent
by ensuring base
salaries are competitive
in the market in 
which the individual 
is employed

Operation

base salaries are 
reviewed annually 
in december with 
reference to the 
individual’s role, 
experience and 
performance; 
performance of 
the business; salary 
levels at relevant 
comparators; and 
the range of salary 
increases applying
across the group

Opportunity

base salary increases
are applied in line with
the outcome of the 
review, and apply from
1 january

any increases would
have due regard 
to those for the wider
employee population 
of the group

Performance metrics

individual and business
performance are both
key considerations 
in setting base salary

Changes for 2013

no changes to the 
policy for 2013

latest salary 
increases were effective
1 january 2013 and 
are set out on page 44

Pension
To provide competitive
retirement benefits

The ceO and fd 
receive cash allowances
in lieu of pension 
contributions

The ceO is also 
a member of the 
company db scheme,
in which his participation
has been frozen 
since 2006

The fd also receives
contributions to a 
self invested personal
pension

executive directors 
receive pension benefits
of up to 32% of salary

not specifically linked 
to performance

none

Benefits
To provide competitive
benefits

benefits include 
private healthcare,
health insurance, life
assurance, contribution
to home telephones,
and car allowance

benefits values vary 
by role and are reviewed
periodically against the
market

not specifically linked 
to performance

none

variable pay

Annual bonus
To incentivise 
sustainable short-term
performance

Quantified financial 
performance targets 
are set at the start 
of the year

at the end of the year,
the remuneration 
committee determines
the extent to which
these have been
achieved

maximum annual
bonus opportunity 
for executive directors
of 100% of salary

performance measures,
and their respective
weightings, vary each
year depending 
on strategic priorities

measures used for 
the 2012 short Term 
incentive plan and 
proposed for 2013 
are set out in the report
on Remuneration 
in 2012 on page 44

no changes to the 
policy for 2013
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Purpose and link 
to strategy

Share Matching Plan
(SMP)
To produce strong
alignment between the
interests of executives
and shareholders
through voluntary 
investment; to 
incentivise the delivery
of profit growth and 
returns to shareholders;
to ensure total 
remuneration is 
competitive

Operation

participants may invest
up to 25% of salary 
p.a. in brammer shares
under the smp. 
shares must be held 
for three years

Opportunity

participants may earn
up to one matching
share for each invested
share with all such
shares having been
grossed up for tax 
purposes

Performance metrics

The vesting of awards
is usually subject to:
> the company’s 

performance over a
3-year performance
period

> continued 
employment

The performance
measures applied 
to smp awards are 
reviewed from time 
to time to ensure they
remain appropriate and
aligned with share-
holder interests. 
measures used for 
outstanding smp
awards, and proposed
for the 2013 smp
award, are set out 
in the report on 
Remuneration in 2012
on page 46

Changes for 2013

no changes to the 
policy for 2013

The TsR comparator
group for 2013 smp
awards will be the 
fTse mid cap 
(excluding investment
Trusts)

Performance Share
Plan (PSP)
To incentivise the 
delivery of profit 
growth and returns 
to shareholders

The remuneration 
committee has 
the ability to grant 
performance shares 
or nil-cost options
under the psp. To 
date, the remuneration
committee has
awarded only nil-cost
options to executives

The award levels and
performance conditions
on which vesting 
depends are reviewed
from time to time 
to ensure they remain
appropriate

The remuneration 
committee has discretion
to allow amounts equal
to the dividends to 
accrue in respect of 
options which ultimately
vest and are exercised.
These dividend 
equivalents are paid on
exercise of the option.

The psp provides 
for annual awards 
of performance shares
or nil-cost options 
up to an aggregate 
limit of 150% of salary
in any given year

actual awards are 
determined with 
reference to the 
competitiveness 
of the overall package

The vesting of awards
is usually subject to:
> the company’s 

performance over a
3-year performance
period

> continued 
employment (save
for “good leavers”)

The performance
measures applied 
to psp awards are 
reviewed from time 
to time to ensure 
they remain appropriate
and aligned with 
shareholder interests.
measures used for 
outstanding psp
awards, and proposed
for the 2013 psp
award, are set out 
in the report on 
Remuneration in 2012
on page 45

no changes to the 
policy for 2013

Share ownership guidelines
formal share ownership guidelines are in place for executive directors. under the guidelines, executive directors are expected to build
and maintain a shareholding worth at least 100% of their salary within five years from appointment. The current executive directors
both satisfy this guideline.
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Performance related pay
The committee and the board seek to link a significant proportion of the remuneration package to individual specific performance and
to the financial performance of the group. The policy of the committee is to align directors’ interests with those of shareholders and to
give these executives keen incentives to perform at the highest levels, whilst neither encouraging inappropriate operational risk-taking
nor raising environment, social or governance risks.

performance related elements of the remuneration package are the annual bonus scheme and the equity-based awards made under
the performance share plan and share matching plan. further details of these incentives are set out below.

Pay-for-performance: scenario analysis
The graphs below provide estimates of the future reward opportunity potentially available to executive directors, and the split between
the different elements of remuneration under three different performance scenarios; ‘minimum’, ‘Target’ and ‘stretch’.

potential reward opportunities illustrated above are based on the policy which will apply in 2013, applied to the base salary in force at
1 january 2013. for the annual bonus, the amounts illustrated are those potentially receivable in respect of performance for 2013
(same as 2012). it should be noted that the smp and psp awards would only vest on or after the third anniversary of grant. The projected
value of smp and psp amounts exclude the impact of share price growth. in illustrating potential reward opportunities the following
assumptions have been made:

Service contracts
each of the executive directors has a service contract with the company.

contract date notice period

ian fraser 1 july 1998 Rolling 1 year
paul Thwaite 24 january 2002 Rolling 1 year

When considering these contracts, the committee has due regard to the provisions of the code. it is the committee’s intention that
any future executive directors will be subject to similar one year notice periods.

if a contract is to be terminated, the committee will determine such mitigation as it considers fair and reasonable in each circumstance
and the compensation that may be paid. it will take into account the best practice provisions of the code and it will take legal advice
on the company’s liability to pay compensation and the appropriate amount.

in this regard, the service contracts for ian fraser and paul Thwaite contain a liquidated damages clause. in the event of a change of
control of the company and termination of employment, save in circumstances where their employment is terminated by reason of
retirement or where summary dismissal is warranted, the company is obliged to pay to the director a sum representing basic salary,
pension benefit, car allowance and bonus (based on the average bonus payments made over the previous three years) for a period of
one year. These arrangements were put in place in 2003. for new executive appointments, liquidated damage provisions on change
of control shall be restricted to basic salary, pension benefit and car allowance only. chris short, the corporate development director,
has a similar liquidated damages clause in his service contract which was agreed in 2003 where the compensation was based on six
months’ basic salary, benefits and accrued bonus.

Scenario

minimum

stretch

Target

Annual Bonus

no bonus payable

maximum bonus

On-target bonus

SMP

maximum deferral,
threshold not achieved
(nil)

maximum deferral, 
performance warrants
full vesting

maximum deferral, 
performance warrants
threshold vesting (25%)

PSP

Threshold not achieved
(nil)

performance required
for full vesting

performance required
for threshold vesting
(16.7%)

Fixed pay

latest known base
salary, pension, benefits

Stretch

Salary

CeO

Target

Minimum

£m 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.0 1.2 1.4 1.6

Pension & benefit Annual bonus SMP PSP

Stretch

fd

Target

Minimum

£m 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.0 1.2
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B: remuneration in 2012
The following section provides details of how the remuneration policy was implemented during the year.

Remuneration committee membership in 2012
The remuneration committee in 2012 was composed of three independent non-executive directors. charles irving-swift is the chairman
of the committee, and its other members are Terry Garthwaite and duncan magrath. during the year, bill Whiteley ceased to be a member
and chairman of the committee as he became chairman of the company. He was replaced as chairman by charles irving-swift and as
a committee member by duncan magrath. The remuneration committee met seven times during the year. attendance at meetings by
individual members is detailed in the corporate Governance statement on page 34. a summary of the major topics discussed in 2012
is detailed below:

> salary levels for executive directors and senior management

> bonus Outcomes

> implementation of new performance share plan

> approval of awards and vestings under the lTips

The chairman and ceO usually attend meetings of the remuneration committee at the invitation of the chairman of the remuneration
committee, and the company secretary acts as secretary to the committee. no director is present when his own remuneration is
being discussed.

Advisers
The committee is advised by Kepler associates, who were appointed by the committee in 2010 after a market review and competitive
selection process. Kepler associates is a signatory to the Remuneration consultants Group code of conduct. during 2012, the committee
has taken advice from Kepler associates on market and best practice with regard to certain senior executive pay and share incentive
arrangements. Other than advice to the remuneration committee, no other services were provided by Kepler associates to the company.
The fees paid to Kepler associates in respect of work carried out in 2012 totalled £14,965.

Total shareholder returns
set out below are two graphs showing the company’s total shareholder return (“TsR”) over the last five years and over the last three
years. The company’s TsR is compared to the TsR of the fTse all share support services sector index and fTse small cap index
(excluding investment Trusts). The committee has selected these groups given that brammer is a member of both of them, and in the
case of the fTse small cap index, it is the group against which its TsR performance is compared under the share matching plan prior
to 2013 and performance share plan prior to 2012. for 2012 and future psp awards, and 2013 and future smp awards, the performance
comparator is fTse mid cap x iT and is included below for that reason. The graph of shareholder return over the last three years has
been included, as it reflects the three year performance period of the performance share plan and share matching plan.

Remuneration of executive directors
The components of the remuneration packages for the executive directors are set out below. The structure of the executive directors’
remuneration package is the same as the rest of the executive team. The various components are identical, although the levels of
awards vary due to the seniority of the directors in question.

The smp scheme is limited to the executive scheme, whereas the psp scheme is more widely available to members of the senior
management team. The company does not currently operate an all employee share plan.
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Basic salary
The committee seeks to pay salaries which take account of individual performance and are similar to those paid in comparable companies.
The committee uses comparisons with caution to avoid increasing remuneration levels without a corresponding improvement in
performance. basic salary is reviewed at 31 december each year. The committee approved a 2012 base salary of £362,000 in relation
to ian fraser and £236,000 in relation to paul Thwaite. The committee decided to increase the base salaries for these executives for
2012 given that the company had exceeded pre-recession growth and profitability in 2011. in addition, the significant personal
contributions of both executive directors in achieving such an improvement were an important factor in deciding these increases. in 2013,
there will be a basic salary increase for ian fraser and paul Thwaite of c.4.9% to base salaries of £380,000 and £248,000 respectively.
These salary increases reflect the continued growth of the company and are broadly in line with other increases across the plc.

name 2012 salary 2013 salary

ian fraser £362,000 £380,000
paul Thwaite £236,000 £248,000

ian fraser sacrificed part of his salary during the year. an amount equal to the amount sacrificed was paid into a pension scheme for
his dependants. The figure quoted reflects the full salary payable prior to sacrifice.

Pensions
The company made a contribution to paul Thwaite’s sipp (self invested personal pension) during the year of £15,741 (2011: £15,007).
no contributions were made to ian fraser’s sipp during the year (2011: also nil). dependents of both directors are eligible for payment
of a lump sum in the event of death in service.

cash allowances in lieu of pension contributions made to ian fraser during the year were £115,840 (2011: £110,400). cash allowances
in lieu of pension contributions made to paul Thwaite during the year were £38,208 (2011: £38,208).

ian fraser is a member of the brammer services Retirement benefit scheme. This is a defined benefits scheme which is funded and
approved by HmRc. The table below sets out the disclosures required for this pension under the uK listing Rules and the large and
medium-sized companies and Groups (accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. for the avoidance of doubt, the defined benefits
drawn by ian fraser set out below relate to service completed up to 28 february 2006 and are separate from his current pension
arrangements.

director’s accumulated total increase in increase in
contributions to accrued pension at increase in accrued pension Transfer value of Transfer value of transfer value

pension scheme 31 december 2012 accrued pension during the year accrued pension at accrued pension at (less director’s
age at 31 during the year (2011) during the year (net of inflation) 31 december 2012 31 december 2011 contributions)
december 2012 £ pa £ pa £ pa £ pa £ £ £

57 – 11,200 (10,700) 500 – 322,400 324,000 –1,600

Notes
1 The accumulated total accrued pension as at 31 december 2011 has been adjusted for inflation in arriving at the increase in the

accrued pension at 31 december 2012.
2 The transfer values have been calculated on the basis agreed by the Trustees of the scheme that was in force at the date of calculation

having regard to legislative requirements. The transfer value basis was last revised in january 2011.
3 all figures have been rounded to the nearest £100. His pension is reviewed annually on 1 january in line with the scheme Rules.
4 at 1 january 2012 ian fraser’s pension increased to £10,700 per annum. due to the level of price inflation over the period september

2011 to september 2012 there will be an increase to ian fraser’s pension as at 1 january 2013 of 2.6%.
5 ian fraser’s dependants are entitled to benefits on his death of 2/3 of the pension before commutation, increased from date of

retirement to date of death in line with scheme pension increases.
6 The pension increases in payment at the rate of the annual increase in Retail price inflation up to a maximum of 5% pa and subject

to a minimum of zero.

Benefits
Other benefits provided to the executive directors include private healthcare benefits, permanent health insurance (to secure income
in the event of ill health or disability), life assurance, contribution to home telephones and a car allowance as set out on page 49.

Annual bonus
The committee sets bonus targets to create annual incentives for executive directors to perform at the highest level and to help further
align their interests with those of shareholders. bonuses are not pensionable.

for 2012, executive directors could earn up to 100% of salary on the achievement of quantified financial targets. The remuneration
committee set performance targets based on achieving stretching profits and cash generation. up to 80% of salary could be payable
for achieving the profits target and (provided a threshold profit hurdle has been achieved) 20% for achieving the cash generation target.

ian fraser and paul Thwaite earned bonuses of £138,767 and £90,467 respectively for 2012 (2011: £307,050 and £200,250 earned
respectively) as the following targets were achieved.
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earnings: The remuneration committee set profit before tax on ordinary activities before amortisation of acquired intangibles (“pai”) of
£40m as the target for 2012, for which full bonus is payable, with a threshold pai of £32m. The achieved pai for 2012 was £34.5m.
accordingly, 32% of the earnings element of the bonus was earned.

cash generation: cash targets were achieved or exceeded in 8 of the 12 months during the year. accordingly, 67% of the cash generation
element of the bonus was earned.

The remuneration committee has considered bonus principles for 2013. Given the current economic climate and the uncertainties
over the trading environment in europe, it has been decided that the 2013 bonus metrics will again be based on profit and cash flow
targets. for 2013, as in 2012, the targets will be split profit 80%; cash flow 20% as shown in the table below:

debt management/
working capital maximum

profit before tax improvement bonus of
name % of salary % of salary % of salary

ian fraser 80% 20% 100%
paul Thwaite 80% 20% 100%

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The brammer plc performance share plan (“the psp”), together with the share matching plan described below, is the primary long-term
incentive for key senior brammer executives. under the psp, performance shares or nil-cost options may be awarded with a value at
grant of up to 150% of basic salary. actual award sizes each year are determined with reference to the competitiveness of the overall
package. These shares vest, at no cost to the executive, upon the achievement of stretching performance targets (together with continued
employment). The targets are set by the committee having taken external advice on market and best practice.

The committee gained approval for the revised performance share plan at the 2012 aGm. The psp rewards 3-year TsR relative to a
fTse general index, and 3-year growth in eps above Rpi. awards in 2012 vest subject to achievement of stretching performance targets
as follows:

A for 50% of the shares under the Performance Share Plan:

eps growth of brammer over three years vesting percentage of relevant proportion
less than Rpi + 10% 0%
Rpi + 10% 16.7%
between Rpi + 10% and Rpi + 25% between 16.7% and 66.7% on a straight-line basis
between Rpi + 25% and Rpi + 50% between 66.7% and 100% on a straight-line basis
Rpi + 50% or more 100% 

B for 50% of the shares under the Performance Share Plan:

TsR ranking of brammer against the fTse mid cap (excluding investment Trusts) vesting percentage of relevant proportion
below median ranking 0%
median ranking 16.7%
between median and upper quartile ranking between 16.7% and 66.7% on a straight-line basis
between upper quartile and upper decile ranking between 66.7% and 100% on a straight-line basis
upper decile ranking (top 10%) 100%

additionally, for any of the TsR element to vest, the remuneration committee must be satisfied that the recorded TsR is a genuine
reflection of brammer’s underlying financial performance over the performance period. There is no opportunity to retest performance
if the performance conditions are not satisfied over the three year performance period. in determining whether performance targets
have been met, independent verification is sought where appropriate.

conditional awards of nil-cost options of 150% of salary were made to executive directors in 2012. The three year performance period
over which TsR performance will be measured began on 1 january 2012 and will end on 31 december 2014. The committee expects
to make awards in 2013 on the same basis as in 2012.

2010 and 2011 performance share plan awards were made under the scheme which was adopted on 30 april 2002 and expired in
april 2012, for which the vesting schedules were as follows:

> up to 75% of salary was based on eps growth over the three financial years following grant. This required a minimum growth of
10% in excess of Rpi for the participants to receive any shares (at which point 25% vests). for full vesting, the required growth is
25% growth in excess of Rpi. This revised range of targets reflected broker  forecasts for growth at the time; and

> up to 25% of salary was based on relative total shareholder return (“TsR”) performance. This required a TsR ranking equal to
median for the participants to receive any shares (at which point 25% vests). for full vesting, the required ranking is upper quartile.
The comparator group against which TsR is measured is the fTse small cap (excluding investment Trusts).
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Share Matching Plan (SMP)
in 2005 the company established the brammer share matching plan (the “smp”), to operate alongside the performance share plan.
in the remuneration committee’s view, the smp produces a strong alignment between the interests of executives and shareholders as
it links part of the executive’s rewards to his or her retention of brammer shares.

matching awards (granted in the form of nil/nominal cost awards) are only granted provided that shares beneficially owned by the employee
are first invested in the smp (“investment shares”). investment shares worth up to 25% of the employee’s basic salary can be lodged
in the smp each year, with matching awards then being granted on a maximum matching award ratio of 1:1 (with this ratio applying
to the pre-tax number of shares that are lodged in the smp). investment shares for these purposes can be any existing shares deemed
beneficially owned by the employee and lodged in the smp at the time that the matching award is granted.

The vesting of a matching award depends upon the investment shares continuing to be held in the smp, the satisfaction of the
performance conditions (see below) and the executive’s continued employment.

if a participant sells their investment shares at any time during the three year performance period, this will reduce (on a pro-rata basis)
the number of shares comprised in a matching award.

vesting of one half of each matching award will be determined by the company’s normalised eps growth over the three year performance
period. vesting of the other half of each award is determined by the company’s performance in terms of its TsR relative to a peer
group of companies over a three year period.

The vesting schedules that apply to the 2010, 2011 and 2012 share matching plan are as follows:

A for 50% of the matching shares under the Share Matching Plan:

eps growth of brammer over three years vesting percentage of relevant proportion
less than Rpi + 10% 0%
Rpi + 10% 25%
between Rpi + 10% and Rpi + 25% between 25% and 100% on a straight-line basis
Rpi + 25% or more 100%

B for 50% of the matching shares under the Share Matching Plan:

TsR ranking of brammer against the fTse small cap 
(excluding investment Trusts) vesting percentage of 50% of relevant proportion

below median ranking 0%
median ranking 25%
between median and upper quartile ranking between 25% and 100% on a straight-line basis
upper quartile (top 25%) ranking 100%

for 2013 smp awards, the TsR comparator group will be aligned to the psp awards namely the fTse mid cap (excluding investment
Trusts). There is no opportunity to retest performance if the performance conditions are not satisfied over the three year performance
period. in determining whether performance targets have been met, independent verification is sought where appropriate.

The performance conditions that apply to awards under both the smp and psp have been chosen to encourage executives to deliver
(i) superior TsR performance against an appropriate group of peer companies and (ii) improving earnings per share.

Vesting of 2009 SMP and PSP awards
shares awarded in march and september 2009 under the eps element of the performance share plan which vested in march and
november 2012 respectively vested in full as the eps performance criterion for maximum vesting was achieved. The eps element of
the awards under the share matching plan granted in march 2009 vesting in march 2012 also vested in full as the eps performance
criterion for maximum vesting was achieved.

in addition, the 25% of shares under the performance share plan which are linked to TsR performance also vested in full as the TsR
performance criterion for maximum vesting was achieved. in addition, the 50% of the awards under the share matching plan, which
relate to company TsR performance, also vested in full as the maximum performance criterion was achieved.

Remuneration of non-executive directors
The chairman and the other non-executive directors are paid fees for their services. These fees are related to the time spent on the
company’s business and are set at levels similar to those of comparable companies. The chairman and other non-executive directors
do not participate in bonus, share incentive or pension schemes.

The fees of the non-executive directors, other than the chairman, are determined by the board (excluding the non-executive directors)
on the recommendation of the chairman and the chief executive. The remuneration of the chairman is determined by the board on the
recommendation of the other non-executive directors. in both cases the recommendations are supported by independent advice.
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consideration is given to the time commitment and responsibilities of the roles. fees are normally reviewed every few years with the
last review carried out by the board in december 2010.

Role fee

chairman fee £110,000
non-executive director base fee £37,000
committee chairman fee £5,000
senior independent director fee £3,000

The company’s practice is to appoint non-executive directors under letters of engagement rather than under service contracts. These
letters of engagement set out terms of appointment, usually three years, and it is anticipated that the period will be extended for a
second term of three years with the agreement of the board and the non-executive director, although re-appointment is not automatic.
in certain circumstances non-executive directors may be invited to serve for further terms if their continued appointment is considered
to be in the interests of the company. These appointments may be terminated on three months’ notice by either party.

non-executive director position date of appointment legal date of re-election

bill Whiteley chairman (from 17 may 2012) july 2008 2015
david dunn chairman (to 17 may 2012) november 2001 n/a
Terry Garthwaite senior independent non-executive director 1 june 2004 2014
charles irving-swift non-executive director 1 march 2010 2013
duncan magrath non-executive director 1 march 2012 2015

Audited information
The remainder of the Remuneration Report is audited information with the exception of the section entitled “directors’ interests”.

Directors’ interests
formal share ownership guidelines are in place for executive directors. under the guidelines, executive directors are expected to build
and maintain a shareholding worth at least 100% of their salary within five years from appointment. The current executive directors
both satisfy this guideline.

shares held shares held shares held shares held
name Owned outright under nil cost option subject to performance subject to deferral value as % salary Guideline met?

ian fraser 1,355,151 1,567,899 873,340 – 1,175% 3

paul Thwaite 1,054,650 1,030,385 572,409 – 1,394% 3

base salary is that which is effective 31 december 2012. The value of shareholdings is based on the closing price of a brammer share
on 31 december 2012. additional shares under option consist of all options including those where the performance criteria have not
yet been met.

The beneficial interests of the directors and their immediate families in the shares of the company, according to the register of directors’
interests are set out below:

Ordinary shares of 20p Ordinary shares of 20p Ordinary shares of 20p Ordinary shares of 20p
31 december 2012 31 december 2012 31 december 2011 31 december 2011

Shares nil-cost options shares nil-cost options

bill Whiteley 50,755 – 45,000 –
david dunn 60,000 – 60,000 –
Terry Garthwaite 10,000 – 10,000 –
ian fraser 1,355,151 694,559 1,365,876 –
paul Thwaite 1,054,650 457,976 951,619 –
charles irving-swift 7,000 – 7,000 –
duncan magrath 5,000 – – –

Notes
1 There were no changes in the above mentioned interests between 1 january 2013 and 19 february 2013.
2 no director was materially interested in any contract of significance with the company during the year.
3 during 2012, the highest mid-market price of the company’s shares was 380p and the lowest was 220p. The year-end price

was 312p.
4 david dunn’s shareholding is stated at the date of leaving.
5 nil cost options consist of all options where the performance criteria have been met, the options have vested but have not yet

been exercised.
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Director’s options
mr fraser holds 694,559 vested but unexercised nil cost options over shares in the company. mr Thwaite holds 457,976 vested but
unexercised options over shares in the company.

Performance Share Plan

market price on value Granted value vested
award grant 31 dec 2011 Granted vested lapsed 31 dec 2012 £’000 £’000 vesting date

ian fraser 73.25p 436,860 – (436,860) – 1,499 spring 2012
ian fraser 115p 278,260 – 278,260 spring 2013
ian fraser 268p 128,737 – 128,737 spring 2014
ian fraser 245p – 221,633 221,633 543 summer 2015
paul Thwaite 73.25p 288,054 – (288,054) – 988 spring 2012
paul Thwaite 115p 183,478 – 183,478 spring 2013
paul Thwaite 268p 83,955 – 83,955 spring 2014
paul Thwaite 245p – 144,490 144,490 354 summer 2015

The middle market price for an ordinary share at close of business on 19 march 2012 when the relevant shares were released was
343.25p. following the advice received from Kepler associates in relation to the fulfilment of the performance criteria, 100% of the
awards granted in 2009 vested in 2012.

Share Matching Plan

market price on value Granted value vested
award grant 31 dec 2011 Granted vested lapsed 31 dec 2012 £’000 £’000 vesting date

ian fraser 73.25p 257,699 – (257,699) – 884 spring 2012
ian fraser 129.5p 126,073 – 126,073 spring 2013
ian fraser 275p 63,948 – 63,948 spring 2014
ian fraser 350p – 54,689 54,689 191 spring 2015
paul Thwaite 73.25p 169,922 – (169,922) 583 spring 2012
paul Thwaite 129.5p 83,129 – 83,129 spring 2013
paul Thwaite 275p 41,703 – 41,703 spring 2014
paul Thwaite 350p – 35,654 35,654 124 spring 2015

The middle market price of an ordinary share at the close of business on 19 march 2012 when the relevant shares were released was
343.25p. following advice received from Kepler associates in relation to the fulfilment of performance criteria, 100% of the matching
awards granted in 2009 vested in 2012. These awards had been converted from conditional awards to nil cost Options prior to their
vesting.

The performance conditions applying to performance share plan and share matching plan awards are set out above.

Dilution limits
until 2009, the company has satisfied vestings of awards under both plans from market purchased shares sourced from the brammer
plc employee share Ownership Trust (“the Trust”). for calculating the dilution limits, such awards have not been deducted until such
time as the awards are satisfied. The vesting of the 2009 awards under the performance share plan and share matching plan in 2012
was satisfied from a combination of market purchase shares sourced from the Trust and allotment of new shares. The vesting of the
2010 awards under the psp and smp in 2013 will be satisfied by issuing and allotting new ordinary shares in the company and by
market purchases.

in line with abi Guidelines, the following limits apply to the number of shares which may be issued under the company’s share plans:

> The number of issued, issuable and treasury shares that may be allocated under all employee plans adopted by the company is
restricted to 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company over any ten year period. as at 19 february 2013, there was
headroom of 4,604,428 shares (i.e. 3.9% of share capital) after deducting outstanding awards and options (excluding lapsed awards
and options).

> in addition, the number of issued, issuable and treasury shares that may be allocated under the “discretionary” executive share
plans adopted by the company (the psp and smp) shall be restricted to 5% of the issued share capital of the company in the ten
year period commencing from the 2005 annual general meeting when the share matching plan was adopted. as at 19 february
2013, there were a total number of outstanding awards of 6,974,000 shares (i.e. 5.9% of share capital). for any awards which vest
over the 5% limit, the awards will be satisfied by purchasing shares on the open market.
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Directors’ remuneration and emoluments
The remuneration and taxable benefits in kind of the directors in the year ended 31 december 2012 are set out below.

benefits payments in
(excluding pension lieu of pension

fees/salary bonus & share options) contributions2 2012 total 2011 total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non-executives
bill Whiteley (chairman) 81 – – – 81 42
david dunn 45 – – – 45 111
Terry Garthwaite 45 – – 45 45
charles irving-swift 40 – – – 40 37
duncan magrath 27 – – – 27 –

Executives
ian fraser 362 139 16 116 633 782
paul Thwaite 236 90 13 54 393 477

836 229 29 170 1,264 1,494

Notes
1 The highest paid director in the year ended 31 december 2012 was ian fraser.
2 full details of payments made in lieu of pension contributions are set out in the directors’ pension entitlements section above.

during the year, ian fraser sacrificed part of his salary. an amount equal to this sacrifice was paid into his spouse’s pension scheme.
The gross amount of his salary is shown above.

3 in addition ian fraser and paul Thwaite will be able to acquire shares in brammer plc to the value of £393,347 and £259,362
respectively in accordance with the brammer plc share matching plan. The share matching plan relates to matching awards
granted in march 2010 vesting in march 2013. vesting of matching awards is determined by the criteria as set out on pages 45 to
46 of the Remuneration Report. vesting of 50% of the matching awards relating to the eps target has been achieved in full. vesting
of the 50% of the awards relating to TsR has been achieved in full. brammer’s TsR in 2012 resulted in 100% of the total award of
the TsR element of the award vesting in march 2013. accordingly, 100% of the matched awards shall vest. This outcome has
been independently verified by Kepler associates. The value of the shares has been estimated using the middle market share price
at 31 december 2012 namely 312p.

4 in addition ian fraser and paul Thwaite will be able to acquire shares in brammer plc to the value of £868,171 and £572,451
respectively in accordance with the brammer plc performance share plan. The performance share plan relates to awards granted
in march 2010 vesting in march 2013. vesting of matching awards is determined by the criteria as set out on pages 45 to 46 of
the Remuneration Report. vesting of 75% of the performance share plan awards relating to the eps target have been achieved
in full. vesting of the other 25% of the award relating to TsR has been achieved in full. brammer’s TsR in 2012 resulted in 100%
of the total award of the TsR element of the award vesting in march 2013. accordingly, 100% of the awards shall vest. This
outcome has been independently verified by Kepler associates. The value of the shares has been estimated using the middle
market share price at 31 december 2012 namely 312p.

5 ian fraser was appointed as a non-executive director of acal plc with effect from 1 january 2010 until his retirement on 31 december
2012. during the period from 1 january 2012 to 31 december 2012, ian fraser retained fees paid to him in performance of his
external commitments at acal plc of £30,000.

approved by the board of directors on 19 february 2013 and signed on its behalf by
Charles irving-Swift
chairman of the remuneration committee

Executive plans (5% limit)

Used

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Headroom

All plans (10% limit)

dilution limits
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the annual report, 
the directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report, the directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. under that law the directors have elected
to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with international financial Reporting standards (ifRss) as adopted by the
european union, and the parent company financial statements in accordance with united Kingdom Generally accepted accounting
practice (united Kingdom accounting standards and applicable law). under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the
profit or loss of the company for that period. in preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

> select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

> make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

> state whether ifRss as adopted by the european union and applicable uK accounting standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the group and parent company financial statements respectively; and

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and the group and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements and the directors’ remuneration report comply with the companies act 2006 and, as regards the group
financial statements, article 4 of the ias Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the
group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. legislation in the united Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

each of the directors whose names and functions are listed on pages 20 and 21 confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

> the group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with ifRss as adopted by the european union, give a
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the group; and

> the directors’ report, the chairman’s statement, the chief executive’s operational review and the financial director’s review contained
in pages 2 to 33 include a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the group, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

by order of the board
Steven Hodkinson Bill Whiteley
company secretary chairman
19 february 2013



51 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2012

independent auditOrS’ repOrt tO tHe memBerS Of Brammer plC 

We have audited the group financial statements of brammer plc for the year ended 31 december 2012 which comprise the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow  statement, the accounting policies including financial risk management, and the related
notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and international financial Reporting
standards (ifRss) as adopted by the european union.

respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
as explained more fully in the statement of directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 50, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express
an opinion on the group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and international standards on auditing (uK and
ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the auditing practices board’s ethical standards for auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with chapter
3 of part 16 of the companies act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
an audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. in addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements. if we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
in our opinion the group financial statements:

> give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 december 2012 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

> have been properly prepared in accordance with ifRss as adopted by the european union; and

> have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the companies act 2006 and article 4 of the las Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies act 2006
in our opinion:

> the information given in the directors’ Report for the financial year for which the group financial statements are prepared is consistent
with the group financial statements; and

> the information given in the corporate Governance statement set out on pages 37 and 38 in the annual Report with respect to
internal control and risk management systems and about share capital structures is consistent with the financial statements.

matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

under the companies act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

> certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

> we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

> a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the parent company.

under the listing Rules we are required to review:

> the directors’ statement, set out on page 32, in relation to going concern;

> the part of the corporate Governance statement relating to the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the uK corporate
Governance code specified for our review; and

> certain elements of the report to shareholders by the board on directors’ remuneration.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of brammer plc for the year ended 31 december 2012 and
on the information in the directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

martin Heath (senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of pricewaterhousecoopers llp
chartered accountants and statutory auditors
manchester
19 february 2013
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COnSOlidated inCOme Statement for the year ended 31 december 2012

year to year to
31 december 31 december

2012 2011
notes £m £m

Revenue 1 639.6 571.5
cost of sales (444.8) (398.2)

Gross profit 194.8 173.3

distribution costs (164.0) (144.7)
amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3) (1.3)

Total sales distribution and administrative costs (165.3) (146.0)

Operating profit 1 29.5 27.3

Operating profit before amortisation and exceptional items 1 37.2 31.8
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3) (1.3)
Exceptional items 4 (6.4) (3.2)

Operating profit 1 29.5 27.3

finance expense 2 (2.8) (2.9)
finance income 2 0.1 0.1

profit before tax 26.8 24.5

Profit before tax before amortisation and exceptional items 34.5 29.0
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3) (1.3)
Exceptional items 4 (6.4) (3.2)

Profit before tax 26.8 24.5

Taxation 5 (7.0) (6.2)

profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 19.8 18.3

all activities relate to continuing operations

Earnings per share – total 7

basic 16.9p 16.8p
diluted 16.4p 16.4p

Earnings per share – pre amortisation and exceptional items 7

basic 21.9p 19.8p
diluted 21.2p 19.3p

COnSOlidated Statement Of COmpreHenSive inCOme for the year ended 31 december 2012

year to year to
31 december 31 december

2012 2011
£m £m

profit for the year 19.8 18.3

Other comprehensive expense
net exchange differences on translating foreign operations (2.4) (3.1)
actuarial losses on pension schemes (5.9) (4.2)
effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (0.2) –

Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax (8.5) (7.3)

Total comprehensive income for the year 11.3 11.0

items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. The income tax relating to the components of other comprehensive income is
disclosed in note 5.

The notes on pages 56 to 87 form part of these accounts.
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COnSOlidated BalanCe SHeet at 31 december 2012

31 december 31 december
2012 20111

notes £m £m

Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 8 89.8 90.0
acquired intangible assets 8 10.4 11.7
Other intangible assets 8 8.9 7.4
property, plant and equipment 9 14.8 13.4
deferred tax assets 18 8.9 6.6

132.8 129.1

Current assets
inventories 10 97.7 88.1
Trade and other receivables 11 109.1 114.8
cash and cash equivalents 12 2.2 15.9

209.0 218.8

Liabilities
Current liabilities
financial liabilities – borrowings 14 (3.2) (3.4)
Trade and other payables 13 (121.9) (131.6)
provisions 16 (0.7) (1.3)
deferred consideration 17 (4.2) (10.8)
current tax liabilities (4.7) (5.0)

(134.7) (152.1)

Net current assets 74.3 66.7

Non-current liabilities
financial liabilities – borrowings 14 (52.8) (47.8)
deferred tax liabilities 18 (8.8) (10.0)
derivative financial instruments 15 (0.3) –
provisions 16 (2.0) –
deferred consideration 17 (0.5) (3.6)
Retirement benefit obligations 26 (21.7) (16.8)

(86.1) (78.2)

Net assets 121.0 117.6

Shareholders’ equity
share capital 19 23.5 23.4
share premium 18.2 18.2
Translation reserve (1.1) 1.3
cash flow hedging reserve (0.2) –
Retained earnings 80.6 74.7

Total equity 121.0 117.6

1 december 2011 balance sheet has been restated for fair value adjustments to the assets and liabilities acquired with the buck &
Hickman business on 30 september 2011 (note 8).

The notes on pages 56 to 87 form part of these accounts.

The accounts were approved by the board on 19 february 2013 and were signed on its behalf by

Bill Whiteley paul thwaite
chairman finance director
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COnSOlidated Statement Of CHanGeS in equity for the year ended 31 december 2012

cash flow
share share Treasury Hedging Translation Retained

capital premium shares Reserve Reserve earnings Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

balance at 1 january 2011 21.3 18.1 (0.2) – 4.4 43.4 87.0

profit for the year – – – – – 18.3 18.3
Other comprehensive expense – – – – (3.1) (4.2) (7.3)

Total comprehensive income – – – – (3.1) 14.1 11.0

Transactions with owners
shares issued during the year – 0.1 – – – – 0.1
shares issued in repect of the placing1 2.1 – – – – 22.7 24.8
purchase of own shares – – (0.1) – – – (0.1)
Transfer on vesting of own shares – – 0.1 – – (0.1) –
value of employee services – – – – – 2.0 2.0
Tax credit on share performance plans – – – – – 0.7 0.7
dividends – – – – – (7.9) (7.9)

Total transactions with owners 2.1 0.1 – – – 17.4 19.6

movement in year 2.1 0.1 – – (3.1) 31.5 30.6

At 31 December 2011 23.4 18.2 (0.2) – 1.3 74.9 117.6

profit for the year – – – – – 19.8 19.8
Other comprehensive expense – – – (0.2) (2.4) (5.9) (8.5)

Total comprehensive income – – – (0.2) (2.4) 13.9 11.3

Transactions with owners
shares issued during the year 0.1 – – – – – 0.1
purchase of own shares – – (1.1) – – – (1.1)
Transfer on vesting of own shares – – 1.2 – – (1.2) –
value of employee services – – – – – 2.0 2.0
Tax credit on share performance plans – – – – – 1.3 1.3
dividends – – – – – (10.2) (10.2)

Total transactions with owners 0.1 – 0.1 – – (8.1) (7.9)

movement in year 0.1 – 0.1 (0.2) (2.4) 5.8 3.4

At 31 December 2012 23.5 18.2 (0.1) (0.2) (1.1) 80.7 121.0

1 Ordinarily, the excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of the share capital issued would be credited to a non-distributable
share premium account. However, the placing of shares completed in september 2011 was effected through a structure which
resulted in the creation of a reserve of £22.7 million that was credited to retained earnings under section 612 of the companies
act 2006. following the finalisation of the buck & Hickman fair value adjustments, £17.4 million is considered to be non-distributable.

The notes on pages 56 to 87 form part of these accounts.



55 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2012

COnSOlidated CaSH flOW Statement for the year ended 31 december 2012

year to year to
31 december 31 december

2012 2011
notes £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
cash generated from operations 22 25.2 28.2
interest received 0.1 0.1
interest paid (2.6) (2.5)
Tax paid (7.9) (4.1)
funding of pension schemes less income statement charge (2.3) (3.3)

Net cash generated from operating activities 12.5 18.4

Cash generated from operating activities before exceptional items 15.9 19.1
Cash outflow from exceptional items (3.4) (0.7)

Net cash generated from operating activities 12.5 18.4

Cash flows from investing activities
acquisition of businesses (net of cash and overdrafts acquired) (1.1) (26.9)
deferred consideration paid on prior acquisitions 17 (10.4) (1.8)
proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.2 0.5
purchase of property, plant and equipment (4.7) (3.0)
additions to other intangible assets (4.4) (3.3)

Net cash used in investing activities (20.4) (34.5)

Cash flows from financing activities
net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 0.1 0.1
net proceeds from placing – 24.8
Repayment of loans under old financing facility – (56.1)
net drawdown of loans under new financing facility 5.9 50.6
net repayment of finance leases (0.1) (0.1)
dividends paid to shareholders 6 (10.2) (7.9)
purchase of own shares 19 (1.1) (0.1)

Net cash (absorbed)/generated from financing activities (5.4) 11.3

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 21 (13.3) (4.8)
exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents (0.3) (0.6)
net cash at beginning of year 15.6 21.0

Net cash at end of year 2.0 15.6

cash and cash equivalents 12 2.2 15.9
Overdrafts (0.2) (0.3)

Net cash at end of year 2.0 15.6

The notes on pages 56 to 87 form part of these accounts.
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General information
brammer plc is a company incorporated and domiciled in the uK, and listed on the london stock exchange. The address of the registered
office is disclosed on page 24.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international financial Reporting standards as adopted
by the european union (ifRss as adopted by the eu), ifRic interpretations and the companies act 2006 applicable to companies
reporting under ifRs. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified for fair values
under ifRs. a summary of the more important group accounting policies is set out below, together with an explanation of where
changes have been made to previous policies on the adoption of new accounting standards in the year.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ifRs requires the use of certain key accounting estimates and assumptions.
it also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where the assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are detailed in the financial risk management section. although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
of the amount, events or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

new standards, amendments to standards or interpretations
The following new standards, amendments to standards or interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning
1 january 2012. They are not relevant or do not have a material effect on the group’s financial statements and are as follows:

applicable for financial years
standard or interpretation content beginning on or after

amendment: ifRs 7 financial instruments: disclosures on transfers of assets 1 july 2011

amendment: ifRs 1 first time adoption: fixed dates and hyperinflation 1 july 2011

amendment: ias 12 income taxes: deferred tax 1 january 2012

standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective are as follows:
applicable for financial years

standard or interpretation content beginning on or after

ias 28 (revised 2011)1 associates and joint ventures 1 january 2013

ifRs 10 consolidated financial statements 1 january 2014

ifRs 111 joint arrangements 1 january 2014

ifRs 121 disclosures of interests in Other entities 1 january 2014

ifRs 131 fair value measurement 1 january 2013

ias 19R (revised 2011) employee benefits 1 january 2013

amendment: ias 1 financial statement presentation: Other comprehensive income 1 july 2012

ias 27 (revised 2011) separate financial statements 1 january 2013

amendment: ifRs 7 financial instruments 1 january 2013

amendment: ias 32 financial instruments: presentation 1 january 2014

amendment: ifRs 11 first time adoption 1 january 2013

1 These standards are not expected to be relevant to the group

ias 19R – employee benefits – is likely to have a significant impact on future financial statements when it is adopted. under ias 19R
the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation, and the expected rate of return on plan assets, will be replaced with a net interest
charge based on the net defined benefit liability using the discount rate measured at the beginning of the year. With effect from 1
january 2013 this is likely to result in a higher charge being recognised in the income statement. preliminary indication is that the
impact of adopting ias 19R will be an additional charge to profit in 2013 of up to £1.0 million.
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Group accounting
Subsidiaries
subsidiaries are those entities in which the group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to
govern the financial and operating policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or presently
convertible are considered when assessing whether the group controls another entity.

subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the group has the ability to exercise control, and are no longer consolidated from
the date that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. inter-company
transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. unrealised losses are also
eliminated but considered an impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, the accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
aligned in order to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
items included in the financial statements of each entity in the group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the
functional and presentation currency of the parent.

Transactions and balances
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred
in equity as qualifying net investment hedges.

Group companies
income statements, balance sheets and cash flows of foreign entities are translated into the group’s presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;
(b) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and
(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings designated
as of such investments are taken to a translation reserve within shareholders’ equity. The exemption under ifRs 1, allowing these
exchange differences to be reset to zero on adoption of ifRs has been utilised. When a foreign entity is sold, these exchange differences
are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate.

property, plant and equipment
all property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. cost includes the original purchase price of the asset
and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

land and buildings:
freehold buildings individually estimated subject to a maximum of 50 years.
leasehold properties The term of the lease subject to a maximum of 50 years.

equipment 3-10 years

land is not depreciated

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in operating profit.

Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. The cost of major
renovations is included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally
assessed standard of performance of the existing asset will flow to the group. major renovations are depreciated over the remaining
useful life of the related asset.
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The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of the net assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries occurring on or after 1 january 1998 is included in intangible
assets. Goodwill on acquisitions that occurred prior to 1 january 1998 has been charged in full to retained earnings in shareholders’
equity; such goodwill has not been retrospectively capitalised.

prior to 1 january 2004, (the date of transition to ifRs) goodwill was amortised over its estimated useful life; such amortisation ceasing
on 31 december 2003. Goodwill is subject to impairment review, both annually and when there are indicators that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. a write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified
according to operating segment.

Acquired intangibles
acquired intangibles principally comprise customer relationships recognised as separately identifiable assets on acquisitions. customer
relationships are considered to have estimated useful lives of between 5 and 20 years and amortised accordingly.

Software development
costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. costs that are directly
associated with identifiable software systems operated by the group and will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond
one year, are recognised as intangible assets. direct costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate
portion of direct overheads.

expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of identifiable software systems beyond their original specifications is recognised
as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. computer software development costs recognised as assets
are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 7 years.

impairment of long life assets
property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets, including goodwill and intangible assets are reviewed on an annual basis
to determine whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. if
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated as either the higher of the asset’s net selling price or value
in use; the resultant impairment (the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount) is recognised
as a charge in the consolidated income statement.

The value in use is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of assets and their
eventual disposal proceeds. in order to calculate the present value of estimated future cash flows the group uses a discount rate
based on the group’s estimated weighted average cost of capital, together with any risk premium determined appropriate. estimated
future cash flows used in the impairment calculation represent mangement’s best view of the likely future market conditions and current
decisions on the use of each asset or asset group.

for the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels at which there are separately identifiable cash flows.

finance and operating leases where the group is the lessee
leases of property, plant and equipment where the group is subject to substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified
as finance leases. finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the
present value of the minimum lease payments. each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in other payables. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of
the asset or the lease term.

leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. incentives received are recorded as deferred income and spread over the term of the
lease on a straight line basis.

Where reference is made in the annual Report and consolidated financial statements to finance leases, this includes hire purchase
agreements.
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inventories
inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on a weighted average cost formula, and net realisable value. cost of inventory
represents material and a proportion of procurement overheads. provisions are made for slow moving and obsolete items. net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less selling expenses.

trade receivables
Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amount less provision made for impairment of these receivables. a provision for impairment
of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the best estimate
of the amount recoverable.

trade payables
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

Cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. for the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts. bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

deferred consideration
The amounts recognised for deferred consideration are the directors’ best estimates of the actual amounts which will be payable. deferred
consideration is discounted at an appropriate risk-free rate. deferred consideration relates to acquisitions made prior to the application
date of ifRs 3 (revised) ‘business combinations’ and therefore changes in estimates are reflected in the valuation of goodwill.

employee benefits
Defined Contribution schemes
a defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will
have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. contributions are charged to the income statement in the year
in which they arise.

Defined Benefit schemes
a defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a function of one or more
factors such as age, years of service or compensation.

The operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised separately in the income statement; service costs are spread systematically
over the lives of employees and financing costs are recognised in the periods in which they arise. finance costs are included in distribution
costs.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rates of government securities, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.

actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity
in the statement of comprehensive income.

curtailment gains in respect of discontinued operations are recognised in the income statement in the year of disposal.

Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility
of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. benefits falling due
more than 12 months after balance sheet date are discounted to present value.

Profit sharing and bonus plans
liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when they are settled.



60 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2012

aCCOuntinG pOliCieS

Share-based payments
The fair values of employee share option and share performance plans are calculated at the date of grant using the black-scholes
model. in accordance with ifRs 2, ‘share-based payments’ the resulting cost is charged to the income statement over the vesting
period of the options and plans. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. The charge in relation to employee share options
and share performance plans with market vesting conditions is calculated using scenario modelling and is the expected outcome of
meeting the performance criteria. non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. at each balance sheet date, the value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of options
vesting for changes in non market vesting criteria.

Treasury shares
The cost of the purchase of own shares is taken directly to reserves and is included in retained earnings.

Borrowings
borrowings are recognised as the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. The transaction costs incurred are amortised
over the expected life of the facility. borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

derivative financial instruments
The group does not enter into speculative derivative contracts. The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure
to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from operational and financing activities. it principally employs forward foreign exchange
contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge the risks associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations relating to certain
firm commitments and highly probable forecast transactions.

certain derivative financial instruments are designated as hedging instruments in line with the group’s risk management policies. Hedges
are classified as follows:

> cash flow hedges when they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk that is associated
with a forecast transaction; and

> fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability.

all derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at each balance sheet date. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange
contracts with similar maturity profiles.The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for
similar instruments and is the amount that the group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

Hedge accounting
all derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at each balance sheet date. changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for cash flow
hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement as they arise. Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a
cash flow hedge, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity; the ineffective
part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Current and deferred income tax
Current tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the group’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.

Deferred tax
deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. current or substantively enacted tax rates are used in
the determination of deferred income tax.

deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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no deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches,
associates and joint ventures, where the group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

provisions
provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made. Restructuring provisions include lease termination penalties and employee termination payments. Where the
group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amount to be spent and are discounted where material.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the invoiced value for the sale of goods and services net of value-added tax, customer rebates and discounts, and
after eliminating sales within the group. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the goods are transferred to the buyer, which is usually on despatch.

dividends
The final dividend is recognised in the group’s financial statements in the period in which it is approved by the group’s shareholders.
The interim dividend is recognised when paid.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the board.

corporate costs are allocated to segments on the basis of external turnover.

exceptional items
ias 1 – ‘presentation of financial statements’ requires material items of income and expense to be disclosed separately. exceptional
items are items which, in management’s judgement, need to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence in order for the user to
obtain a proper understanding of the group’s financial performance.
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i: financial risk factors
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk,
cash flow and interest rate risk. The group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (group treasury) under policies approved by the board of directors.
Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the group’s operating units. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, use of non-derivative financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity. derivative financial instruments are used
to hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates in accordance with group policy.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk and hedging activities
The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures, primarily with respect to
the euro and sterling. foreign exchange risk arises primarily from recognised assets and liabilities and also net investments in foreign
operations.

The group has significant investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through hedging borrowings denominated
in foreign currencies against the net assets of foreign operations denominated in the same currencies. The group documents these
hedging relationships at inception and assesses, both at inception and on an on-going basis, whether they are highly effective. Where
the hedges are highly effective, gains or losses on the borrowings are recognised in equity. The gains or losses relating to the ineffective
portion are recognised immediately in the income statement.

in 2012 the group did not apply hedge accounting for hedges of exposures arising from recognised assets and liabilities in foreign
currency. foreign operations operate primarily in local currency or have minimal net exposure to foreign currencies.

The impact on revenue and operating profit of sterling weakening against the euro is reflected in the segmental analysis (note 1) which
shows the results at the 2012 actual average exchange rate (€1.23:£1) and at the 2012 ‘management rate’ (€1.20:£1).

(ii) Cash flow and interest rate risk
The group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The group’s interest
rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. borrowings issued at variable rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk. borrowings
issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value interest rate risk.

as the group is principally financed by a €100 million floating rate revolving credit facility the group uses interest rate swaps to manage
exposure to floating interest rates. at 31 december 2012, the group had in place interest rate swaps which had the effect of fixing the
rate on a notional principal debt of €30 million and £10 million respectively. The group classifies such swaps as cash flow hedges and
states them at fair value which amounted to a loss of £0.3 million recognised on the balance sheet.

The group seeks to minimise cash deposits held at banks; surplus cash is used to repay external debt. The group manages liquidity
with a combination of short term cash forecasts that look three months forward on a rolling basis and identify short term cash surpluses
and requirements. long term cash requirements are identified with a five year financial planning model that uses scenario based
planning to assess the impact of the group’s strategic plans on profitability and liquidity.

The euro yield curve at 31 december 2012 implied a decrease in interest rates of 1.5% over the course of 2013. an increase of 1.0%
applied to the borrowing under the central facility would result in an increase of approximately £0.4 million in the group’s interest expense.

(b) Credit risk
The group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. it has policies in place to ensure that sales of products are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history.

(c) Liquidity risk
prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities. Group treasury aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity position on the basis of expected and projected cash flow.
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Contractual obligations
The table below analyses the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period from the balance sheet
date to the contractual maturity date. short-term creditors, including trade creditors and accruals, are excluded from the analysis as
they are considered to form part of the group’s day-to-day operating cycle.

At 31 December 2012
less than 1 year 2-5 years more than 5 years total

£m £m £m £m

long term debt obligations (note 14) 2.9 52.7 – 55.6
finance lease obligations (note 15) 0.1 0.1 – 0.2

3.0 52.8 – 55.8

At 31 December 2011
less than 1 year 2-5 years more than 5 years Total

£m £m £m £m

long term debt obligations (note 14) 3.0 47.6 – 50.6
finance lease obligations (note 15) 0.1 0.2 – 0.3

3.1 47.8 – 50.9

long term debt obligations comprise the principal amount of borrowings where the borrowings are drawn down against a facility which
is available for more than one year. under the facility each drawing is a separate utilisation and interest is payable at the maturity of
each utilisation. no utilisation is made for a period greater than six months.

deferred tax, deferred consideration, and post employment benefit liabilities are not included in the table above. during 2010, the
group agreed a deficit funding plan with the trustees of the brammer services limited Retirement benefit scheme, which provides for
the group to make payments of £2.8 million, indexed for inflation, in the years 2011 to 2023 inclusive.

ii: Capital risk management
The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The group considers the gearing and capital structure of the business periodically and adjusts as appropriate. in september 2011 a
placing of 10,535,000 new ordinary shares, representing approximately 9.9% of the total issued share capital, was made in order to
fund the acquisition of the buck & Hickman business.

The group monitors capital on the basis of headroom against its committed borrowing facilities, compliance with the covenants imposed
by the committed borrowing facilities, and the group’s ability to raise further equity capital.

The group was in full compliance with all its financial covenants throughout each of the periods presented.

2012 2011
£m £m

Total borrowings (note 14) 56.0 51.2
less: cash and cash equivalents (note 12) (2.2) (15.9)

net debt 53.8 35.3
Total equity 121.0 117.6

Total capital 174.8 152.9

in july 2011 the group signed new banking facilities for a five year term which provides up to €100 million (£81.1 million) of debt
finance. at 31 december 2012 the committed facility is €100 million (2011: €100.0 million).

The group’s headroom against its committed facility was as follows:
2012 2011

£m £m

committed group facility 81.1 83.9
current utilisation 51.3 46.4

Headroom (note 15) 29.8 37.5

under the terms of the facility the group is permitted to enter into up to £53.9 million of additional net borrowings outside this facility.
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iii: Key accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions
estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) estimated impairment of goodwill
The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated on page 58.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates (note 8).

(b) income tax provisions
The group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made (notes 5 and 18).

(c) determination of deferred consideration payable
The level of deferred consideration recognised in respect of acquisitions is subject to continual evaluation by the directors. any subsequent
revision to the amounts recognised will have no impact on the group’s results as those adjustments will be reflected in the carrying
value of goodwill (note 17).

(d) retirement benefit obligations
The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number
of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net expense for pensions include the discount rates. any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of retirement benefit obligations.

note 26 details the actuarial assumptions used in determining the carrying amount at 31 december 2012.

(e) share-based payments
The inputs to the black-scholes option-pricing model, which include dividend yield, expected volatilities and risk free interest rates impact
the valuation of the fair value of the share-based payments (note 20).
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1 SeGmental analySiS

The board has been identified as the chief operating decision-maker. The board reviews the group’s internal reporting as the basis for
assessing performance and allocating resources. management has determined the operating segments based on these reports. The
group is primarily controlled on a country by country basis, in line with the legal structure, and accordingly the operating segments are
unchanged from those previously reported.

The group’s internal reporting is primarily based on performance reports run at ‘management’ exchange rates – exchange rates which
are set at the beginning of each year. for 2012 the management rate used was €1.20: £1.

accordingly the segment information below is shown at the ‘management’ exchange rates with the exchange effect being a reconciling
item between the segment results and the totals reported in the financial statements at actual exchange rates. The management rate
applies to income statement, balance sheet and cash flows.

The board assesses the performance of the operating segments based on their underlying operating profit, which comprises profit
before interest and taxation, excluding amortisation of acquired intangibles and non-recurring or exceptional items such as restructuring
costs and impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated, non-recurring event.

segment assets include property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets, inventories, and trade and other receivables. all inter-
segmental trading is on an arms-length basis.

year ended 31 december 2012 – Continuing operations
Other

eastern operating
uK Germany france spain benelux europe segments total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue
Total revenue 287.2 118.0 88.5 43.6 54.3 48.8 16.7 657.1
inter company sales (3.8) (2.4) (0.8) (0.8) (1.2) (0.4) (0.4) (9.8)

sales to external customers 283.4 115.6 87.7 42.8 53.1 48.4 16.3 647.3
exchange effect (7.7)

Total sales to external customers 639.6

underlying operating profit 18.1 7.9 4.4 4.3 2.8 0.9 (0.6) 37.8
exchange effect (0.6)

Total underlying operating profit 37.2
amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3)
exceptional operating items (6.4)

Total operating profit 29.5
finance expense (2.8)
finance income 0.1

profit before tax 26.8
Tax (7.0)

profit for the year 19.8

Segment assets 89.4 33.7 33.1 17.2 24.7 25.9 8.2 232.2
exchange effect (1.7)

230.5
Goodwill 89.8
acquired intangibles 10.4
cash 2.2
deferred tax 8.9

Total assets 341.8
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Other
eastern operating

uK Germany france spain benelux europe segments total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Other segment items
capital expenditure
– intangible assets 0.6 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.3 – 3.2 4.4
– property, plant and equipment 2.2 0.2 0.5 0.2 0.5 0.3 0.8 4.7
exchange effect –

Total capital expenditure 9.1

amortisation/depreciation
– intangible assets (0.1) (0.1) – – (0.2) – (1.9) (2.3)
– property, plant and equipment (1.2) (0.2) (0.3) (0.3) (0.4) (0.4) (0.2) (3.0)
exchange effect 0.2

Total amortisation and depreciation (5.1)

year ended 31 december 2011 – Continuing operations
Other

eastern operating
uK Germany france spain benelux europe segments Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue
Total revenue 193.4 118.7 85.5 43.8 50.9 56.9 18.0 567.2
inter company sales (2.9) (3.2) (1.0) (0.9) (1.7) (0.1) (0.3) (10.1)

sales to external customers 190.5 115.5 84.5 42.9 49.2 56.8 17.7 557.1
exchange effect 14.4

Total sales to external customers 571.5

underlying operating profit 9.4 7.8 4.0 3.3 2.6 3.6 0.2 30.9
exchange effect 0.9

Total underlying operating profit 31.8
amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3)
exceptional operating items (3.2)

Total operating profit 27.3
finance expense (2.9)
finance income 0.1

profit before tax 24.5
Tax (6.2)

profit for the year 18.3

Segment assets 89.4 27.8 31.1 15.3 22.3 28.5 8.7 223.1
exchange effect 0.6

223.7
Goodwill 90.0
acquired intangibles 11.7
cash 15.9
deferred tax 6.6

Total assets 347.9
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Other
eastern operating

uK Germany france spain benelux europe segments Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Other segment items
capital expenditure
– intangible assets 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.3 – 2.5 3.3
– property, plant and equipment 1.0 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.4 0.6 0.1 2.9
exchange effect 0.1

Total capital expenditure 6.3

amortisation/depreciation
– intangible assets (0.1) (0.1) – (0.1) (0.1) – (1.2) (1.6)
– property, plant and equipment (0.9) (0.2) (0.3) (0.3) (0.4) (0.4) (0.3) (2.8)
exchange effect –

Total amortisation and depreciation (4.4)

The table below details the ‘management rate’ used and the actual exchange rates used for the primary exchange rate of sterling to
euro for the year and the comparative year.

2012 2011

management rate €1.20 €1.20
actual average rate €1.23 €1.152
year end rate €1.233 €1.192

an analysis of goodwill by operating segment is included in note 8.

2 finanCe expenSe and inCOme

2012 2011
£m £m

Finance expense
bank overdrafts and short term borrowings 0.5 0.5
loans 2.3 2.1
finance leases – 0.2
deferred consideration – unwinding of discount (note 17) – 0.1

2.8 2.9

Finance income
bank and other short term deposits (0.1) (0.1)

2.7 2.8
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2012 2011
£m £m

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before taxation:
staff costs (note 23) 115.8 104.1
cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales (note10) 443.5 396.3
depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 9)
– Owned assets 2.9 2.7
– under finance leases – 0.1
amortisation of software development (included in distribution costs) (note 8) 2.2 1.6
amortisation of acquired intangibles 

(shown separately on the face of the income statement) (note 8) 1.3 1.3
Operating leases on property, plant and equipment 12.9 10.6
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment 1.0 0.9
Trade receivables impairment (note 11) 0.6 0.5
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (0.1) (0.3)
net exchange (gains)/losses (0.4) 0.4

Auditor remuneration
Services provided by the company’s auditors and associates
fees payable for audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements 0.1 0.1
fees payable for other services:
auditing of accounts of associates of the company pursuant to legislation 

(including that of countries and territories outside Great britain) 0.3 0.3
Tax services 0.1 –
Other services – 0.1

4 exCeptiOnal itemS

2012
a total pre-tax operating exceptional charge of £6.4 million has been recognised in 2012. as part of the continuing programme of
integrating the buck & Hickman business, which was acquired on 30 september 2011, further lines of stock identified as no longer
integral to brammer’s core tools & general maintenance product portfolio and future trading strategy were written down to their estimated
net realisable value. The resulting £0.8 million charge has been recognised as an exceptional item. software which will no longer be
developed or supported in the combined business going forward has been written down to reflect its revised estimated useful life
resulting in a £0.8 million charge.

a wider review of the group’s operating cost base resulted in headcount and other restructuring costs of £4.8 million being incurred
and recognised as an exceptional charge. These actions were taken in response to the challenging market conditions in which the
group operated during the year, to optimise headcount in order to continue to realise operational benefits in the uK business and the
wider group.

2012 2011
£m £m

included in operating profit
stock written down 0.8 0.4
Write down of intangible assets 0.8 –
Headcount and other restructuring costs 4.8 1.5
branch co-location costs – 0.8
acquisition costs – 0.5

Total exceptional items 6.4 3.2

2011
following the acquisition of the buck & Hickman business in september 2011, the following exceptional charges were recognised in
2011. acquisition costs of £0.5 million incurred, together with £0.8 million of branch co-location costs and a £0.4 million charge for
write-down of stock, being related costs incurred up to 31 december 2011 in the first phase of integrating the business with that of
brammer uK, were recognised as exceptional costs in the income statement. in addition a further charge of £1.5 million, the majority
of which related to restructuring actions taken in the wider group as first steps in realising operational benefits from the acquisition,
was also included in the total pre-tax operating exceptional charge of £3.2 million.
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2012 2011
£m £m

Current tax
current year (8.5) (6.5)
prior year – (0.8)

(8.5) (7.3)

Deferred tax (note 18)
current year 1.6 0.3
prior year (0.1) 0.8

1.5 1.1

Taxation (7.0) (6.2)

Tax on items taken to equity
deferred tax on share based payments 1.3 0.6
current tax on pension schemes’ movements 0.5 0.8
deferred tax on pension schemes’ movements 0.8 0.1
current tax relief on share awards vesting – 0.1
deferred tax on exchange movements posted to reserves (0.3) –

factors affecting the tax charge for the period
The differences are explained below.

2012 2011
£m £m

profit on ordinary activities before tax 26.8 24.5

profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax 
in the uK of 24.5% (2011: 26.5%) (6.6) (6.5)

effects of
expenses not deductible for tax purposes (0.7) (0.4)
Reduction in contingent tax liabilities 0.7 0.8
different tax rates on overseas earnings (0.3) (0.1)
adjustments in respect of previous periods – 0.1
impact of change in tax rate (0.1) (0.1)

Total taxation (7.0) (6.2)

Overall effective tax rate for the year 26.0% 25.4%

The standard rate of corporation tax in the uK changed from 26% to 24% with effect from 1 april 2012 which was enacted in march
2012. accordingly, the company’s profit chargeable to corporation tax for the prior accounting period was taxed at the effective rate
of 26.5% and at 24.5% in the current accounting period.

The change in the corporation tax rate from 24% to 23% with effect from 1 april 2013 was enacted in the finance act 2012 and, as
a result, uK deferred tax balances have been re-measured to the enacted rate of 23%. a deferred tax charge of £0.1 million has been
recognised in the period in respect of this.

in addition to the changes in rates of corporation tax disclosed above further changes to the uK corporation tax system were announced
in the autumn statement 2012. This includes a further reduction to the main rate to reduce the rate to 21% from 1 april 2014. This
change had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, is not included in these financial statements.
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2012 2011
£m £m

final 2011 paid july 2012: 5.70p (final 2010: 4.50p) per 20p share 6.7 4.8
interim 2012 paid november 2012: 3.0p (2011: 2.70p) per 20p share 3.5 3.1

10.2 7.9

in addition the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 december 2012 of 6.4p per share that
will absorb an estimated £7.5 million of shareholders’ funds. it will be paid on 2 july 2013 to shareholders on the register of members
on 7 june 2013.

7 earninGS per SHare

basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held in the employee share trust which are treated as cancelled.

for diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The only class of potentially dilutive ordinary shares are the company’s ordinary shares contingently issuable
under the group’s long term incentive plan.

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below:

2012
earnings earnings per share earnings per share

£m Basic diluted

average number of shares in issue (’000) 117,117 120,980

Total pence pence

profit for the financial year 19.8 16.9 16.4
amortisation of acquired intangibles 1.3
exceptional items 6.4
Tax on exceptional items (1.6)
Tax on amortisation of acquired intangibles (0.3)

earnings before amortisation of acquired intangibles and exceptional items 25.6 21.9 21.2

The increase in the weighted average number of shares in the year reflects the full year impact of the 10,535,000 shares issued by
way of a placing in september 2011.

2011
earnings earnings per share earnings per share

£m basic diluted

average number of shares in issue (’000) 109,019 111,759

Total pence pence

profit for the financial year 18.3 16.8 16.4
amortisation of acquired intangibles 1.3
exceptional items 3.2
Tax on exceptional items (0.9)
Tax on amortisation of acquired intangibles (0.3)

earnings before amortisation of acquired intangibles and exceptional items 21.6 19.8 19.3
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Goodwill Acquired intangibles Other – Software development
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
at 1 january 89.5 74.8 9.3 9.8 17.9 13.4
prior year adjustment 0.5 – 7.9 – – –

at 1 january restated 90.0 74.8 17.2 9.8 17.9 13.4
exchange adjustments (1.4) (2.2) (0.1) (0.5) (0.1) (0.2)
additions – 8.8 – – 4.4 3.3
acquisitions 1.2 8.1 – – – 1.5
disposals – – – – (0.1) (0.1)

At 31 December 89.8 89.5 17.1 9.3 22.1 17.9

Impairment and amortisation
at 1 january – – 5.5 4.5 9.9 8.5
prior year adjustment – – – – 0.6 –

at 1 january restated – – 5.5 4.5 10.5 8.5
exchange adjustments – – (0.1) (0.3) (0.2) (0.2)
charge for the year – – 1.3 1.3 2.2 1.6
Write-down of software included in 

exceptional items (note 4) – – – – 0.8 –
acquisitions – – – – – 0.1
disposals – – – – (0.1) (0.1)

At 31 December – – 6.7 5.5 13.2 9.9

Net book value
At 31 December 89.8 89.5 10.4 3.8 8.9 8.0

additions to goodwill of £1.2 million represent the goodwill arising on two small bolt-on businesses acquired during the year in the
netherlands and france, the trade and assets of which were purchased in march 2012 and October 2012 respectively. The goodwill
arising represents the excess of the consideration over the value of the assets acquired.

as permitted by ifRs 3 (revised) ‘business combinations’, at 31 december 2011, the fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired
in respect of the acquisition of the buck & Hickman business were considered to be provisional. during the year, the exercise to separately
identify the intangible assets acquired has been completed, together with the final determination of the fair values of assets and liabilities
acquired.

The acquired intangibles recognised comprise £5.2 million of trade names which are considered to have an indefinite life, and £2.7
million of customer relationships which are considered to have estimated useful lives of 20 years. adjustments identified during the
period include £0.6 million additional depreciation on bringing assets’ lives in line with the group accounting policy, £0.4 million write
down of fixed assets to net realisable value, £2.8 million provision for slow-moving and obsolete stock following a detailed line-by-line
review of stock held, and £2.7 million provision for onerous contracts including leases relating to certain of the businesses’ properties.

The comparative information at 31 december 2011 has been restated to reflect these adjustments in accordance with ifRs 3 (revised).
This restatement has no impact on reported profits, equity or cash flows for the year ended 31 december 2011.

The carrying value of acquired intangibles recognised on earlier acquisitions principally comprises customer relationships which are
considered to have estimated useful lives of between 5 and 10 years.

The amortisation of software development expenditure has been charged in distribution costs.

Goodwill is carried at cost less amortisation to the date of transition effective 1 january 2004, subject to review for potential impairment.
in accordance with ias 36 ‘impairment of assets’ impairment testing has been carried out by comparing goodwill plus associated
operating assets with the expected value in use, calculated as the net present value of discounted future cash flows expected to be
derived from the assets.
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Goodwill is allocated to the group’s cash generating units defined as the geographical split of countries in which the group operates.
an operating segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below.

2012 2011
£m £m

uK 17.5 17.5
france 5.4 4.8
Germany 32.8 34.0
spain 5.0 5.2
benelux 8.0 7.7
eastern europe 15.0 14.5
Other operating segments 6.1 6.3

89.8 90.0

The expected value in use has been calculated using assumptions arising from management’s data and metrics used on an ongoing
basis. These assumptions reflect management’s past experience arising from the application of the group strategy.

Key assumptions are:

> The cash generating operating units are defined according to the country of operation and related goodwill has been allocated on
this basis.

> The recoverable amount for each cash generating operating unit is determined from value-in-use calculations based on approved
budgets and management projections thereon and pre-tax cash flows projected forward assuming a growth rate into perpetuity of
2.0% (2011: range between 1.73% and 2.96%).

> The group’s methodology is to use a projection period of five years being the maximum period over which detailed cash flows for each
cGu are prepared. for periods after this five year period, the methodology applies a long term growth rate to derive a terminal value.

> The key assumptions in these calculations relate to future revenue growth rates, gross margin percentage and the discount rates
applied.

> The five year average growth rate applied in the management projections is 4.50% (2011: country specific inflation rates). Gross
margin percentages have been assumed to remain at budgeted levels.

> a nominal pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (“Wacc”) of 11.51% (2011: 12.52%) has been used to discount future cash flows.
although based on a company specific Wacc, it has been adjusted to reflect higher long term financing costs than the company
currently experiences. The nominal Wacc has been adjusted for tax and inflation rates in each of the countries that the company
currently operates.

pre-tax discount rate pre-tax discount rate inflation rate inflation rate
cash generating unit 2012 2011 2012 2011

uK 11.26% 9.46% 2.02% 2.74%
france 12.93% 11.76% 1.26% 1.73%
Germany 12.42% 11.19% 2.05% 1.76%
spain 12.34% 11.01% 1.97% 1.84%
benelux 11.54%–12.87% 10.49% 1.88% 2.20%
eastern europe 10.72% 8.14% 2.88% 2.96%

> sensitivity tests have been performed. The key sensitivity is forecast trading profit and decreasing forecast trading profit by 30% on
a sustained basis over the five year forecast would not indicate an impairment of any cash generating unit.
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2012 2011
land and land and
buildings equipment total buildings equipment Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
at 1 january 16.7 35.5 52.2 13.4 33.1 46.5
prior year adjustment – (0.9) (0.9) – – –

at 1 january restated 16.7 34.6 51.3 13.4 33.1 46.5
exchange adjustments (0.1) (0.6) (0.7) (0.3) (0.6) (0.9)
additions 0.7 4.0 4.7 0.6 2.4 3.0
acquisitions – – – 3.1 2.8 5.9
disposals (0.6) (1.7) (2.3) (0.1) (2.2) (2.3)

At 31 December 16.7 36.3 53.0 16.7 35.5 52.2

Depreciation
at 1 january 9.6 28.8 38.4 7.6 27.9 35.5
prior year adjustment – (0.5) (0.5) – – –

at 1 january restated 9.6 28.3 37.9 7.6 27.9 35.5
exchange adjustments (0.1) (0.3) (0.4) (0.1) (0.5) (0.6)
charge for the year 0.8 2.1 2.9 0.6 2.2 2.8
acquisitions – – – 1.5 1.3 2.8
disposals (0.6) (1.6) (2.2) – (2.1) (2.1)

At 31 December 9.7 28.5 38.2 9.6 28.8 38.4

Net book value
At 31 December 7.0 7.8 14.8 7.1 6.7 13.8

details of the prior year adjustment are given in note 8 above.
2012 2011

£m £m

At 31 December
Assets held under finance leases (land and buildings and equipment included above)
cost 1.3 1.4
depreciation (0.9) (0.9)

0.4 0.5

10 inventOrieS

The group consumed £443.5 million (2011: £396.3 million) of inventory during this period.

finished goods inventories of £97.7 million (2011: £88.1 million) comprise entirely goods for resale. finished goods inventories of £5.8
million (2011: £5.5 million) are carried at fair value less costs to sell being lower than cost.

exceptional costs include £0.8 million charge (2011: £0.4 million charge) for stock written down in the year (note 4).

The 2011 balance sheet has been restated following the finalisation of the buck & Hickman fair value adjustments including an adjustment
of £2.8 million to inventories (note 8).
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2012 2011
£m £m

amounts due within one year
Trade receivables 102.8 112.6
provision for impairment of receivables (3.3) (3.3)

net trade debtors 99.5 109.3
Other debtors 6.6 2.4
prepayments and accrued income 3.0 3.1

109.1 114.8

The movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is analysed as follows:
2012 2011

£m £m

at 1 january 3.3 2.7
exchange adjustments – (0.1)
income statement charge included in distribution costs (note 3) 0.6 0.5
acquisitions – 0.6
Recovered (0.3) (0.3)
Written of (as uncollectable) (0.3) (0.1)

3.3 3.3

concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the group’s customer base being large and unrelated.
accordingly, management consider that no further credit risk provision is required above the current provision for impairment.

certain european subsidiaries of the group transferred receivable balances amounting to €6.8 million (£5.5 million) (2011: €5.0 million,
£4.2 million) to banks, under bills of exchange without recourse, in exchange for cash at the year end 31 december 2012.

12 CaSH and CaSH equivalentS

2012 2011
£m £m

cash at bank and in hand 2.1 15.8
short term bank deposits 0.1 0.1

2.2 15.9

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have an original maturity of three months or less at acquisition.

13 trade and OtHer payaBleS

2012 2011
£m £m

Trade creditors 96.2 97.0
Other taxes and social security 9.7 9.6
Other creditors 0.3 0.3
accruals 15.7 24.7

121.9 131.6

The 2011 balance sheet has been restated following the finalisation of the buck & Hickman fair value adjustments including an adjustment
of £2.7 million to accruals (note 8).
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2012 2011
£m £m

Current
unsecured bank and other borrowings 0.2 0.3
unsecured loans less than one year 2.9 3.0
finance lease commitments due within one year 0.1 0.1

3.2 3.4

Non-current
unsecured bank loan repayable
between one and two years 1.7 2.0
between two and five years 51.0 45.6
Over five years – –

52.7 47.6

Finance lease commitments
between one and two years 0.1 0.1
between two and five years – 0.1
Over five years – –

0.1 0.2

52.8 47.8

bank loans are denominated primarily in euros and in sterling which bear interest based on euRibOR and libOR respectively. The
effective interest rate on bank borrowings for the year to 31 december 2012 was 4.2% (year to 31 december 2011: 4.5%).

in july 2011 the company entered into a five year revolving multicurrency credit finance facility which provided for borrowings of €100.0
million. This facility can be drawn until it expires on 30 june 2016. The amount of finance available under this facility as at 31 december
2012 was €100.0 million (£81.1 million).

15 finanCial liaBilitieS

fair values of financial liabilities
The group has mainly euro denominated borrowings which it has designated as a hedge of the net investment in its subsidiaries in
continental europe. The fair value of these euro borrowings at 31 december 2012 was £24.3 million (2011: £39.4 million).

The foreign exchange gain of £0.8 million (2011: gain of £0.8 million) on the translation of these borrowings into sterling at the closing
exchange rate has been recognised in the translation reserve.

Where market values are not available, fair values of financial assets and liabilities have been calculated by discounting expected cash
flows at prevailing interest rates and by applying year end exchange rates. The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate
to book value and there are no significant differences between the book value and fair value of non-current borrowings.

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period from the balance sheet
date to the contractual maturity date. short-term creditors, including trade creditors and accruals, are excluded from the analysis as
they are considered to form part of the group’s day-to-day operating cycle. The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows including an estimation of the future interest cost.
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maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the carrying value of the group’s non-current liabilities was as follows:

finance deferred derivative
debt leases consideration financial liabilities Total

£m £m £m £m £m

At 31 December 2012
in more than one year but not more than two years (4.3) (0.1) (0.5) – (4.9)
in more than two years but not more than five years (54.9) – – (0.3) (55.2)
in more than five years – – – – –

(59.2) (0.1) (0.5) (0.3) (60.1)

At 31 December 2011
in more than one year but not more than two years (2.0) (0.1) (3.6) – (5.7)
in more than two years but not more than five years (45.6) (0.1) – – (45.7)
in more than five years – – – – –

(47.6) (0.2) (3.6) – (51.4)

The group’s financial liabilities are all at floating rates and comprise drawn sterling and euro bank facilities which are mainly central
multi-currency committed lines. The unutilised portion of these central committed lines amounts to £29.8 million (2011: £37.5 million)
which is available to the group up to 30 june 2016 and carries interest based on currency libOR.

derivative financial liabilities comprise the fair value of interest rate swaps used for hedging the group’s interest rate risk. The fair values
reflected above have been determined by reference to available market information at the balance sheet date.

minimum lease payments
The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:

2012 2011
£m £m

not later than one year 0.1 0.1
later than one year but not more than five years 0.1 0.2
more than five years – –

0.2 0.3

book value of finance lease liabilities 0.2 0.3

16 prOviSiOnS

2012 2011
Restructuring Other total Total

£m £m £m £m

at 1 january 1.1 0.2 1.3 0.9
charged to the income statement in the year (note 4) 4.8 – 4.8 1.1
utilised in the year (3.4) – (3.4) (0.7)

At 31 December 2.5 0.2 2.7 1.3

amounts falling due:
Within one year 0.7 1.3
in more than one year but not more than two years 2.0 –

Total 2.7 1.3

The opening balance on the restructuring provision principally comprised the £0.8 million of costs relating to the co-location of existing
brammer uK and buck & Hickman branches, of which £0.3 million was utilised during the year. The charge to the income statement
in 2012 comprises the headcount and other restructuring costs described in note 4 above. This provision is expected to be utilised
within one to two years. Other provisions relate to warranty claims for the disposal of a discontinued business. The date for notification
of any claims under the warranty expired in 2010.
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2012 2011
£m £m

at 1 january 14.4 8.0
exchange adjustments – (0.7)
acquisitions 0.7 –
accrual of earn outs payable – 8.8
unwinding of discount – 0.1
paid (10.4) (1.8)

At 31 December 4.7 14.4

amounts falling due:
Within one year 4.2 10.8
in more than one year but not more than two years 0.5 3.6

Total 4.7 14.4

The amounts recognised on acquisition are management’s best estimates of the amounts which will be payable. both the amounts and
the timing of future payments are uncertain as they are dependent upon the future performance of the businesses acquired. additions
in the year of £0.7 million relate to the two small bolt-on businesses acquired during the year in the netherlands and france (note 8).

18 deferred tax

2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012
accelerated pension share Tax

capital allowances liability options losses provisions total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Assets
at 1 january 1.3 4.2 1.1 0.4 – 7.0
prior year adjustment (0.4) – – – – (0.4)

at 1 january restated 0.9 4.2 1.1 0.4 – 6.6
Taken to equity – 0.8 1.3 – – 2.1
income statement credit (0.7) – 0.5 0.4 – 0.2

at 31 december 0.2 5.0 2.9 0.8 – 8.9

Liabilities
at 1 january (8.5) (8.5)
prior year adjustment (1.5) (1.5)

at 1 january restated (10.0) (10.0)
exchange adjustment 0.2 0.2
net amount taken to equity (0.3) (0.3)
income statement credit 1.3 1.3

at 31 december (8.8) (8.8)
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2012 2011
£m £m

Net total
at 1 january (1.5) (3.3)
prior year adjustment (1.9) –

at 1 january restated (3.4) (3.3)
exchange adjustment 0.2 0.2 
acquisitions – (0.2)
Taken to equity 1.8 0.7
income statement credit 1.5 1.1

at 31 december 0.1 (1.5)

deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate applicable to the relevant jurisdiction.
deferred tax assets have been recognised in full on taxable losses and provisions where realisation of the tax benefit from these items
is probable. The deferred tax on losses not recognised amounts to £2.5 million. no deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings
of overseas subsidiaries and associates as there will be no additional liability arising on repatriation to the uK.

based on current capital investment plans, the group expects to be able to claim capital allowances in excess of depreciation in future
years at a similar level to the current year.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction as permitted by
ias) during the period are shown above. deferred tax falling due after more than one year amounts to £0.1 million (2011: £1.5 million).

The 2011 balance sheet has been restated following the finalisation of the buck & Hickman fair value adjustments (note 8).

19 Called up SHare Capital

2012 2012 2011 2011
number £m number £m

Ordinary shares of 20p each
allotted, called up and fully paid
at 31 december 117,204,074 23.5 116,944,074 23.4

Resolution One passed at the General meeting held on 29 October 2009 removed the limit on the company on its ability to issue
shares. accordingly the company has no limit on authorised share capital (2011: no limit).

purchase of own shares
during the period the company acquired 634,026 of its own shares of 20p each through the brammer plc employee share Ownership
Trust (“the Trust”) for an aggregate consideration of £1,136,676, which has been deducted from shareholders’ equity. The shares are
held by the Trust to meet vestings under the group’s performance share plans and share matching plans. Tranches of these plans vested
during the period and 806,794 shares were transferred to directors and senior managers in order to meet vestings under these plans.

at 31 december 2012 the Trust held a total of 6,078 shares in the company in order to meet part of the company’s liabilities under the
performance share plans and share matching plans. The Trust deed contains a waiver provision in respect of these shares.

Ordinary shares issued
during the period the Trust subscribed for 260,000 ordinary shares of 20p each at par. Options exercised during the period under the
group’s employee share option schemes resulted in 29,275 ordinary 20p shares being issued with exercise proceeds of £29,129.
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movements on share options and plans during the year were as follows

1 january exercised/ vested but 31 december date from which
price per share 2012 Granted vested not exercised1 lapsed 2012 exercisable expiry date

Executive share option schemes
1995 scheme
102p 30,906 – – – – 30,906 7 Oct 2006 7 Oct 2013
90p 18,025 – – – – 18,025 15 apr 2007 15 apr 2014
99.5p 106,589 – (15,354) – – 91,235 6 sep 2007 6 sep 2014
1997 scheme
90p 13,921 – (13,921) – – – 15 apr 2007 15 apr 2014
99.5p 2,091 – – – – 2,091 6 sep 2007 6 sep 2014

Total 171,532 – (29,275) – – 142,257

Performance share plan
0p 1,354,822 – (1,354,822) 965,156 – 965,156 spring 2012
0p 424,705 – (424,705) 260,577 – 260,577 autumn 2012
0p 1,024,168 – – – – 1,024,168 spring 2013
0p 387,078 – – – (22,398) 364,680 autumn 2013
0p 491,619 – – – – 491,619 spring 2014
0p 300,962 – – – (15,274) 285,688 autumn 2014
0p – 946,210 – – – 946,210 summer 2015
0p – 628,182 – – – 628,182 autumn 2015

Total 3,983,354 1,574,392 (1,779,527) 1,225,733 (37,672) 4,966,280

Share matching plan
0p 960,278 – (960,278) 707,278 – 707,278 spring 2012
0p 541,151 – – – – 541,151 spring 2013
0p 370,557 – – – – 370,557 spring 2014
0p – 350,693 – – – 350,693 spring 2015

Total 1,871,986 350,693 (960,278) 707,278 – 1,969,679

Total 6,026,872 1,925,085 (2,769,080) 1,933,011 (37,672) 7,078,216

details of the terms of the executive share Option scheme (“esOs”) performance share plan (“psp”) and share matching plan (“smp”)
are disclosed in the remuneration report.

1 under the terms of the psp and smp, in respect of shares that have vested, employees are entitled to exercise their option to take
up the shares for a period of seven years from the vesting date.
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in accordance with ifRs2, the fair value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees is determined at the date of grant and
is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period based on the group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest. a charge
of £2.0 million (2011: £2.0 million) was recognised in the year in respect of employee share based payment plans as the maximum
performance targets have been achieved. The plans all comprise equity-settled share based transactions. The fair value is measured using
a black-scholes pricing model. The fair value of the TsR conditions element of the 2012 awards has been calculated using scenario-
modelling and is the expected outcome of meeting the performance criteria. The fair value per option granted and the assumptions
used in the calculations are as follows:

share matching plan performance share plan

Awards granted in the year ended 31 December 2012
Grant date 19 march 2012 25 june 2012 21 august 2012
share price at grant date 320.0p 245.0p 239.25p
exercise price n/a n/a n/a
number of shares under option (initial grant) 350,693 946,210 628,182
vesting period (years) 3 3 3
expected volatility 0.47 0.44 0.43
expected option life (years) 3 3 3
Risk free rate 0.65 0.38 0.32
expected dividend yield 2.63 3.43 3.51
possibility of ceasing employment before vesting 10% 10% 10%
expectation of meeting performance criteria 100% 100% 100%
fair value per option 296p 221p 215p

share matching plan performance share plan

Awards granted in the year ended 31 December 2011
Grant date 18 march 2011 16 march 2011 12 september 2011
share price at grant date 275.25p 268.0p 275p
exercise price n/a n/a n/a
number of shares under option (initial grant) 375,629 491,619 302,153
vesting period (years) 3 3 3
expected volatility 0.56 0.56 0.55
expected option life (years) 3 3 3
Risk free rate 1.65 1.61 0.74
expected dividend yield 2.40 2.46 2.62
possibility of ceasing employment before vesting 10% 10% 10%
expectation of meeting performance criteria 100% 100% 100%
fair value per option 256p 249p 254p

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the last three years. The expected life is the average expected period to
exercise. The risk free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon uK Government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life.
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a reconciliation of option movements over the year to 31 december 2012 is shown below:

2012 2012 2011 2011
Weighted average Weighted average

exercise price exercise price
number pence number pence

Share option and savings related schemes
Outstanding at 1 january 171,532 98 232,102 103
exercised (29,275) 95 (56,393) 98
lapsed – – (4,177) 366

Outstanding at 31 december 142,257 99 171,532 98

exercisable at 31 december 142,257 – 171,532 98

Performance share plan
Outstanding at 1 january 3,983,354 – 3,689,678 –
Granted 1,574,392 – 793,772 –
vested (1,779,527) – – –
vested but not exercised 1,225,733 – – –
lapsed (37,672) – (500,096) –

Outstanding at 31 december 4,966,280 – 3,983,354 –

exercisable at 31 december 1,225,733 – – –

Share matching plan
Outstanding at 1 january 1,871,986 – 1,848,676 –
Granted 350,693 – 375,629 –
vested (960,278) – (88,567) –
vested but not exercised 707,278 – – –
lapsed – – (263,752) –

Outstanding at 31 december 1,969,679 – 1,871,986 –

exercisable at 31 december 707,278 – – –

2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011
Weighted average Weighted average

Range of exercise prices Weighted average remaining life Weighted average remaining life
(excluding performance share exercise price number of Contractual exercise price number of contractual
plan and share matching plan) pence of shares years pence of shares years

1p – 100p 98.0 111,351 1.6 97.3 140,626 2.6
100p – 200p 102.0 30,906 0.8 102.0 30,906 1.8

21 reCOnCiliatiOn Of net CaSH tO mOvement in net deBt

2012 2011
£m £m

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (13.3) (4.8)
net (increase)/decrease in borrowings (5.8) 5.6

(19.1) 0.8
exchange 0.6 0.6

movement in net debt (18.5) 1.4
net debt at 1 january (35.3) (36.7)

net debt at 31 december (53.8) (35.3)
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2012 2011
£m £m

net profit 19.8 18.3
Tax charge 7.0 6.2
depreciation/amortisation of tangible and intangible assets 7.9 5.7
share options – value of employee services 2.0 2.0
Gain on disposal of tangible and intangible assets (0.1) (0.3)
financing expense 2.7 2.8

Changes in working capital (excluding the effect of exchange movements 
and fair value adjustments)

increase in inventory (10.8) (9.0)
decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 3.8 (11.8)
(decrease)/increase in trade and other payables and provisions (7.1) 14.3

Cash generated from operations after exceptional items 25.2 28.2

23 emplOyeeS and Key manaGement

2012 2011
£m £m

Staff costs for the group during the year
Wages and salaries 91.8 82.3
social security costs 19.4 18.2
pension costs (note 26) 2.6 1.6
equity settled share-based payments (note 20) 2.0 2.0

115.8 104.1

number number

Average number of employees, including executive directors
uK 1,426 1,000
Germany 453 428
france 351 325
spain 234 216
benelux 220 208
eastern europe 362 346
Other 63 69

3,109 2,592

2012 2011
£m £m

Key management compensation
short term employee benefits 4.2 4.6
post employment benefits 0.1 0.2
equity settled share-based payments 2.0 2.0

6.3 6.8

The key management figures shown above include all the directors together with members of the brammer executive team as detailed
on pages 22 and 23.
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2012 2011
£m £m

Directors
aggregate emoluments 1.3 1.5
aggregate amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes 0.6 0.7

1.9 2.2

details of directors’ pension entitlements, together with details of benefits accrued on service completed up to 28 february 2006
under the defined benefit scheme which was closed to future accrual at that date, are given in the Remuneration Report on page 44.

24 OperatinG leaSe COmmitmentS – tOtal future minimum leaSe paymentS

Property Vehicles, plant and equipment
2012 2011 2012 2011

£m £m £m £m

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Within one year 8.9 8.2 4.9 3.9
between two and five years 19.4 17.6 8.9 6.3
after five years 10.6 9.5 – –

38.9 35.3 13.8 10.2

25 future Capital expenditure

2012 2011
£m £m

commitments for which contracts have been placed 0.5 0.2

26 penSiOn COmmitmentS

uK Schemes
The uK group operates the brammer services limited Retirement benefit scheme, which until 28 february 2006, provided benefits
on a final salary and defined contribution basis. With effect from 1 march 2006, the defined benefit section of the scheme was closed
to future accrual. existing members of the defined benefit section were offered membership of the defined contribution section of the
scheme. The defined benefit scheme is funded by the group and contributions are paid as determined by the actuary following
discussions with the trustees and the company. The assets of the scheme are held in nominee accounts separate from the group’s
finances under the control of the trustees. an investment review took place in november 2007 and changes to the existing arrangement
were carried out in 2008. The current fund managers are legal & General investment management, fidelity investments, blackRock
investment management and baring asset management, under a pooled arrangement in each case. Within the pooled fund the
trustees have no investment in the share capital of the company.

company contributions to the defined benefit scheme during the year were being made at the rate of 7.2% of contributory salary up
to february 2006. following completion of the triennial actuarial valuation as at 31 december 2008, the company agreed a deficit
funding plan with the trustees of the scheme to make payments of £2.7 million, indexed for inflation, in the years 2010 to 2023 inclusive.
employer contributions for 2013 are currently estimated to be £3.0 million.
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The latest completed triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 december 2008, using the defined accrued
benefit method (the same method that was used at the previous valuation), by an independent actuary employed by barnett Waddingham
llp. The assumptions, which were agreed between the company and trustees, that have the most significant effect on the results of
the valuation are those related to the rates of return on investments and the rates of increase in future price inflation and pensions.
Over the long term, the returns on investments backing the scheme’s liabilities were assumed to be 5.80% per annum before retirement
and 4.30% per annum after retirement. for pensions in payment (for both current pensioners and non-retired members) the return on
underlying investments was assumed to exceed future pension increases (in excess of the guaranteed minimum pension) by 1.55%
per annum. pensions in excess of the guaranteed minimum pension were assumed to increase at 2.75% per annum. The valuation
showed that the market value of the scheme's assets was £63.5 million as at 31 december 2008, which represented 63% of the
value of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date. The next triennial valuation is due to be completed as at 31 december
2011 and the results of the valuation are expected to be received during 2013.

a defined contribution scheme, the “brammer services defined contribution pension scheme”, was launched on 1 january 2002 for
new uK employees joining the group and membership of that scheme was offered to existing members of the defined benefit scheme
with effect from 1 march 2006, the date at which the defined benefit scheme was closed to future accrual. The charge in the year for
this scheme was £1.2 million (2011: £0.9 million).

dutch Schemes
The two pension schemes operated by the group in the netherlands are defined benefit schemes that provide benefits related to
service and salary. The scheme based on final pay was closed to new members on 1 january 2003. new members participate in a
defined benefit scheme based on average pay. The managing director is entitled to an individual pension plan that is based on final
pay. brammer nederland funds all these schemes and contributions are paid as determined by the insurance company. The assets of
the scheme are held within the insurance company and are separate from the group’s finances.

The insurance company has calculated company contributions to the defined benefit scheme during the year. it is not expected for
2013 that company contributions will change significantly. past service entitlements originating from before 1 january 2000 are not yet
fully funded. The funding of these entitlements is included in the contributions.

The latest actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 december 2010, using the projected unit method, by an independent
actuary based on data provided by the plan administrators, nationale nederlanden.

Other Schemes
The group operates a number of defined contribution schemes overseas and contributes to the state pension scheme arrangements
in a number of european countries. costs incurred in the year and charges to the income statement in respect of these schemes were
£0.5 million (2011: £0.6 million).

iaS 19 retirement benefits
The valuations used for ias 19 disclosures have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations updated to take account of the
requirements of ias 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the scheme. assets are stated at their market value at 31 december 2012.

UK Netherlands
At 31 December At 31 December

2012 2011 2012 2011

inflation rate 3.00% 3.20% 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of increase in salaries n/a n/a 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of increase of pensions in payment 2.80% 3.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of increase for deferred pensioners 2.20% 2.40% 2.00% 2.00%
discount rate 4.40% 4.80% 3.50% 5.50%
life expectancy at age 65 for:
current pensioners – males 21.50 21.40
current pensioners – females 24.10 24.00
future pensioners – males 22.90 22.90
future pensioners – females 25.50 25.40
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The assets held and the expected rate of return were

long term rate of long term rate of
return expected at fair value at return expected at fair value at
31 december 2012 31 december 2012 31 december 2011 31 december 2011

% £m % £m

UK scheme
equities 5.80 55.3 6.00 49.5
corporate bonds 4.40 12.1 4.80 11.3
fixed interest gilts 2.30 11.7 2.50 11.2
index linked gilts 2.30 12.0 2.50 11.6
diversified growth fund 5.80 6.7 6.00 7.3
cash 0.50 0.2 0.50 0.6

Total market value of assets 4.80 98.0 4.97 91.5
present value of pension liabilities (118.8) (107.9)

deficit (20.8) (16.4)
Related deferred tax asset 4.8 4.1

net pension liability (16.0) (12.3)

Netherlands scheme
fixed interest gilts 6.1 4.3

Total market value of assets 6.1 4.3
present value of pension liabilities (7.0) (4.7)

deficit (0.9) (0.4)
Related deferred tax asset 0.2 0.1

net pension liability (0.7) (0.3)

Where investments are held in bonds and cash the expected long term rate of return is taken to be the yields generally prevailing on
such assets at the balance sheet date.

a higher rate of return is expected on equity investments, which is based more on realistic future expectations than on the returns that
have been available historically. The overall expected long term rate of return is then the average of these rates taking into account the
underlying asset portfolio of the pension plan.

pensions and other post retirement obligations
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m £m

present value of funded obligations 125.8 112.6 110.2 107.3 81.0
fair value of plan assets (104.1) (95.8) (94.4) (81.6) (67.7)

net liability recognised in the balance sheet 21.7 16.8 15.8 25.7 13.3

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
2012 2011

£m £m

current service cost 0.4 0.4
interest cost 5.3 5.9
expected return on plan assets (4.8) (6.2)

Total pension expense included within distribution costs 0.9 0.1
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analysis of the movement in the balance sheet liability
2012 2011

£m £m

Opening 16.8 15.8
On-going expense as above 0.9 0.1
employer contributions (3.2) (3.4)
actuarial loss recognised as a reserves movement 7.1 5.1
valuation adjustments to dutch schemes – (0.8)
exchange adjustments 0.1 –

closing 21.7 16.8

The actual return on plan assets was a positive £8.3 million (2011: £2.3 million positive return).

reconciliation of defined benefit obligation
2012 2011

£m £m

Opening defined benefit obligation 112.6 110.2
exchange adjustments (0.1) (0.1)
service cost 0.4 0.4
interest cost 5.3 5.9
actuarial loss on defined benefit obligation 10.6 1.2
valuation adjustments to dutch schemes – (2.0)
actual benefit payments (3.0) (3.0)

closing defined benefit obligation 125.8 112.6

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets
2012 2011

£m £m

Opening fair value of plan assets (95.8) (94.4)
exchange adjustments 0.2 0.1
expected return on assets (4.8) (6.2)
(Gain)/loss on assets (3.5) 3.9
valuation adjustments to dutch schemes – 1.2
employer contributions (3.2) (3.4)
actual benefit payments 3.0 3.0

closing fair value of plan assets (104.1) (95.8)
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uK Scheme
31 december 31 december 31 december 31 december 31 december

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

details of experience (gains) and losses for the year
difference between the expected 

and actual return on scheme assets
amount (£ million) (2.3) 3.7 (7.4) 10.1 20.8
percentage of scheme assets 2.40% 4.00% 8.30% 13.10% 32.80%

experience losses on scheme liabilities
amount (£ million) 3.6 – – – –
percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 3.00% – – – –

Total amount recognised in statement 
of comprehensive income

amount (£ million) 6.5 5.3 (8.2) 13.4 1.6
percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 5.40% 4.90% 7.90% 13.20% 2.10%

dutch Scheme
31 december 31 december 31 december 31 december 31 december

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

details of experience (gains) and losses for the year
difference between the expected 

and actual return on scheme assets
amount (£ million) (1.2) – – – –
percentage of scheme assets 19.70% – – – –

experience losses on scheme liabilities
amount (£ million) 1.8 – – – –
percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 25.70% – – – –

Total amount recognised in statement 
of comprehensive income

amount (£ million) 0.6 (0.2) 1.0 0.5 (0.1)
percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 8.60% 3.60% 17.90% 9.80% 3.70%
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2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m £m

Profit and loss
Revenue 639.6 571.5 468.4 426.1 478.4

profit before goodwill, exceptional items and finance costs 37.2 31.8 23.0 18.4 26.2
amortisation of acquired intangibles and goodwill, 

and exceptional items (7.7) (4.5) (1.3) (14.5) (0.9)

profit on ordinary activities before finance costs 29.5 27.3 21.7 3.9 25.3
net finance costs (2.7) (2.8) (2.4) (5.4) (6.4)

profit on ordinary activities before tax 26.8 24.5 19.3 (1.5) 18.9
Tax (7.0) (6.2) (5.5) 1.1 (5.9)

profit on ordinary activities after tax 19.8 18.3 13.8 (0.4) 13.0
discontinued operations – – – 0.5 –

profit for the year retained in the business 19.8 18.3 13.8 0.1 13.0

Geographic segments
UK
Revenue 283.4 190.5 144.0 132.8 134.3
Operating profit 18.1 9.4 6.5 4.6 3.7
segment (net) assets 35.6 34.3 15.1 16.5 16.9
Germany
Revenue 112.6 120.3 105.3 95.9 123.9
Operating profit 7.7 8.1 5.9 4.9 9.2
segment (net) assets 23.6 17.0 15.6 15.2 22.0
France
Revenue 85.5 88.0 77.4 71.8 75.2
Operating profit 4.3 4.2 3.2 2.8 2.9
segment (net) assets 9.0 10.6 7.1 8.3 12.9
Spain
Revenue 41.8 44.6 40.1 38.1 43.6
Operating profit 4.2 3.5 2.8 2.6 3.3
segment (net) assets 6.4 3.2 3.4 4.6 11.9
Benelux
Revenue 51.8 51.3 46.4 43.4 48.2
Operating profit 2.7 2.7 2.4 1.8 4.0
segment (net) assets 10.0 9.6 9.9 10.9 14.3
Eastern Europe
Revenue 48.5 58.2 48.5 39.6 46.1
Operating profit 0.8 3.7 2.2 2.0 3.1
segment (net) assets 17.8 16.7 16.4 16.9 21.6
Other
Revenue 16.0 18.6 6.7 4.6 7.1
Operating profit (0.6) 0.2 – (0.1) –
segment (net) assets 13.9 11.1 11.3 8.5 6.4

Net assets employed
Goodwill 89.8 90.0 74.8 76.6 83.6
property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 34.1 32.5 21.2 23.7 26.4
Other working capital 81.9 70.0 57.5 57.2 79.6
net debt (53.8) (35.3) (36.7) (39.9) (83.9)
deferred consideration (4.7) (14.4) (8.1) (15.6) (25.0)
Tax (4.6) (8.4) (6.0) (1.4) (8.3)
Retirement benefit obligations (21.7) (16.8) (15.8) (25.7) (13.3)

Financed by
shareholders’ equity 121.0 117.6 87.0 74.9 59.1
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five year reCOrd

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m £m

Cash flow
net cash inflow from operating activities 25.2 28.2 26.1 27.3 29.2
interest paid and received (2.5) (2.4) (2.2) (5.9) (3.9)
Tax paid (7.9) (4.1) (2.7) (2.3) (4.2)
funding of pension schemes less income statement charge (2.3) (3.3) (2.6) (1.5) (2.6)
net fixed assets movements – software (4.4) (3.3) (1.6) (1.0) (1.0)
net fixed assets movements – property, plant and equipment (4.5) (2.5) (1.7) (0.7) (3.3)
acquisitions, deferred consideration and earn-out payments (11.5) (28.7) (7.9) (8.8) (9.8)
dividends paid (10.2) (7.9) (6.0) (4.1) (4.1)
financing 4.8 19.3 (11.2) 11.9 9.1

movement in cash (13.3) (4.8) (9.8) 14.9 9.3
movement in debt, finance lease and liquid resources (5.8) 5.6 11.3 23.1 (11.3)
exchange movements on opening balances 0.6 0.6 1.7 6.1 (22.6)

movement in net debt (18.5) 1.4 3.2 44.1 (24.5)

Ratios
earnings per share – basic1 16.9p 16.8p 13.0p 0.1p 17.4p
earnings per share – fully diluted1 16.4p 16.4p 13.0p 0.1p 17.1p
earnings per share – before amortisation and exceptionals1 21.9p 19.8p 13.9p 13.1p 18.2p
dividend per share1 9.4p 8.4p 6.6p 5.5p 5.5p
interest cover – profit before amortisation 

of acquired intangibles and exceptional items 13.8x 11.3x 10.1x 4.4x 4.4x
ebiTda 42.5 36.2 27.4 23.1 31.0
Return on organic operating capital employed 34.3% 38.1% 31.0% 24.1% 28.9%
Return on investment (excluding net pension) 26% 25% 27% 16% 32%
Gearing (excluding net pension) 39% 27% 37% 43% 122%

1 2008 earnings and dividend per share amounts have been restated to reflect the effect of the 1 for 1 rights issue completed in
november 2009.
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direCtOrS’ repOrt

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 december 2012.

principal activities
The company is the holding company for, and also provides management services to, the group.

Business review, results and dividends
The profit for the year was £10.7 million (2011: profit of £5.9 million). The directors have recommended that a final dividend of £7.5
million be paid (2011: £6.7 million).

from the perspective of the company, the key performance indicators are integrated with the key performance indicators of the group
and are not managed separately. accordingly, the key performance indicators of the brammer group, which include those of the company,
are discussed in the chief executive’s review and the financial review of the group’s annual Report which do not form part of this report.

principal risks and uncertainties
from the perspective of the company, the principal risks and uncertainties, including the financial risks, are integrated with the principal
risks of the group and are not managed separately. accordingly, the principal risks and uncertainties of the brammer group, which include
those of the company, are discussed on pages 18 and 19 of the group’s annual Report which does not form part of this report; and
the financial risk factors, which include those of the company, are discussed on pages 62 and 63 of the group’s annual Report.

payment to suppliers
The company is a holding company and had no trade suppliers at the end of the financial year.

directors and directors’ interests
This information is shown in the group section of the annual Report.

employees
This information is shown in the directors’ Report in the group section of the annual Report on page 27.

tax status
The company is not a close company for tax purposes.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual Report, the directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. under that law the directors have prepared
the group financial statements in accordance with international financial Reporting standards (ifRss) as adopted by the european
union, and the parent company financial statements in accordance with united Kingdom Generally accepted accounting practice
(united Kingdom accounting standards and applicable law). under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the profit or loss
of the company and group for that period. in preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

> select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

> make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

> state whether ifRss as adopted by the european union and applicable uK accounting standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the group and parent company financial statements respectively; and

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and the group and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements and the directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the companies act 2006 and, as regards the group
financial statements, article 4 of the ias Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the
group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. legislation in the united Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.



93 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2012

direCtOrS’ repOrt

each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed on pages 20 and 21 confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

> the financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with united Kingdom Generally accepted accounting practice
(united Kingdom accounting standards and applicable law), give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and
profit of the company; and

> the directors’ report contained in the annual Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

auditors
so far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware. each director has taken all the
steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

by order of the board
Steven Hodkinson
secretary
19 february 2013
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independent auditOrS’ repOrt tO tHe memBerS Of Brammer plC 

We have audited the parent company financial statements of brammer plc for the year ended 31 december 2012 which comprise
the parent company balance sheet, the parent company statement of total recognised gains and losses, the accounting policies and
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and united Kingdom
accounting standards (united Kingdom Generally accepted accounting practice).

respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
as explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 92, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and
express an opinion on the parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and international standards on
auditing (uK and ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the auditing practices board’s ethical standards for auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with chapter
3 of part 16 of the companies act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
an audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment
of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of
the financial statements. in addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. if we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies
we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
in our opinion the parent company financial statements:

> give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 december 2012;

> have been properly prepared in accordance with united Kingdom Generally accepted accounting practice; and

> have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the companies act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies act 2006
in our opinion:

> the part of the directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the companies act
2006; and

> the information given in the directors’ Report for the financial year for which the parent company financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the companies act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

> adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

> the parent company financial statements and the part of the directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

> certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

> we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the group financial statements of brammer plc for the year ended 31 december 2012.

martin Heath (senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of pricewaterhousecoopers llp
chartered accountants and statutory auditors
manchester
19 february 2013
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BalanCe SHeet at 31 december 2012

2012 2011
notes £m £m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 1 7.5 5.2
investments – shares in group undertakings 2 112.8 112.7

120.3 117.9

Current assets
debtors – due after more than one year 3 106.2 110.0
debtors – due within one year 3 16.0 5.4

122.2 115.4
cash at bank and in hand 0.1 0.1

122.3 115.5
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 4 (70.6) (65.0)

Net current assets 51.7 50.5

Total assets less current liabilities 172.0 168.4
creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 5 (51.2) (48.9)

Net assets 120.8 119.5

Capital and reserves 7

called up share capital 8 23.5 23.4
share premium account 18.2 18.2
special capital reserve 12.1 12.1
profit and loss account 67.0 65.8

Total shareholders’ funds 120.8 119.5

The notes on pages 96 to 101 form part of these accounts.

The financial statements on pages 95 to 101 were approved by the board on 19 february 2013 and were signed on its behalf by

Bill Whiteley paul thwaite
chairman finance director

Statement Of tOtal reCOGniSed GainS and lOSSeS for the year ended 31 december 2012

2012 2011
notes £m £m

profit for the year 7 10.7 5.9
effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 7 (0.2) –

Total recognised gains and (losses) for the year 10.5 5.9

The notes on pages 96 to 101 form part of these accounts.
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aCCOuntinG pOliCieS

Basis of preparation
The company financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the historical cost convention modified
for fair values and in accordance with the companies act 2006 and with applicable uK accounting standards. The accounting policies
have been applied consistently.

a separate profit and loss account dealing with the results of the company has not been presented as permitted by section 408(3) of
the companies act 2006.

foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling on the balance sheet date and
exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

fixed assets
fixed assets are stated at cost and include the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to
its working condition for its intended use.

Software development
costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. costs that are directly
associated with identifiable software systems operated by the group and will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond
one year, are recognised as fixed assets. direct costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate portion
of direct overheads.

expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of identifiable software systems beyond their original specifications is recognised
as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. computer software development costs recognised as assets
are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 7 years.

Depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation. depreciation is provided by equal annual instalments to write off the cost of
fixed assets, net of residual values, over the expected useful life of the asset concerned. in general the lives of the assets have been
estimated as follows:

equipment 4 – 7 years

investments
shares in subsidiary companies and fixed asset investments are shown at cost subject to provision for impairment in valuation.

Borrowings
borrowings are recognised as the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred, which are then amortised over the expected
life of the facility.

deferred consideration
The amounts recognised for deferred consideration are the directors’ best estimates of the actual amount which will be payable.
deferred consideration is discounted at an appropriate risk-free rate.

derivative financial instruments
The company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing activities. interest
rate swaps are used which swap a portion of the floating rate loans into fixed rate.

certain derivative financial instruments are designated as hedging instruments in line with the company’s risk management policies.
Hedges are classified as follows:

> cash flow hedges when they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk that is associated
with a forecast transaction

> fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability.

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.
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aCCOuntinG pOliCieS

Hedge accounting
all derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at each balance sheet date. changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for cash flow
hedge accounting are recognised in profit and loss as they arise. Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a cash flow
hedge, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity; the ineffective part of
any gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit and loss.

pension costs
The company participates in a funded group operated defined benefit pension scheme, the brammer services Retirement benefit
scheme. under the definitions set out in fRs 17, the brammer scheme is a multi-employer pension scheme. The company is unable
to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore treats the
scheme as a defined contribution scheme. pension costs related to defined contribution schemes are charged as contributions fall due.

provisions
provisions in respect of liabilities are made in accordance with fRs 12 and are discounted where the effect is material. provisions are
recognised when the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Share based payments
The fair values of employee share option and share performance plans are calculated using the black-scholes model. in accordance
with fRs 20, ‘share-based payments’ the resulting cost is charged to the profit and loss account over the vesting period of the options
and plans. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted,
excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. The charge in relation to employee share options and share performance
plans with market vesting conditions is calculated using scenario modelling and is the expected outcome of meeting the performance
criteria. non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. at each
balance sheet date, the value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of options vesting for changes in non
market vesting criteria.

Current and deferred tax
Current tax
corporation tax payable is provided on taxable profits at the current rate.

Deferred tax
deferred taxation is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date
where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred
at the balance sheet date. deferred tax assets are regarded as recoverable and recognised in the financial statements when, on the
basis of available evidence, it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the timing
differences can be deducted. The recoverablility of tax losses is assessed by reference to forecasts which have been prepared and
approved by the board. deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

dividends
The final dividend is recognised in the group’s financial statements in the period in which it is approved by the group’s shareholders.
The interim dividend is recognised when paid.

directors’ remuneration, employee share schemes and dividends
details of directors’ remuneration, employee share schemes and dividends are included in the group section of the annual report.



98 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2012

nOteS tO tHe aCCOuntS

1 fixed aSSetS – tanGiBle aSSetS

2012 2011
£m £m

Equipment
Cost
at 1 january 10.6 7.9
additions 3.7 2.7

At 31 December 14.3 10.6

Accumulated depreciation
at 1 january 5.4 4.4
charge 1.4 1.0

At 31 December 6.8 5.4

Net book value
at 1 january 5.2 3.5
movement in year 2.3 1.7

At 31 December 7.5 5.2

2 fixed aSSetS – inveStmentS (unliSted)

2012 2011
£m £m

Subsidiaries
at 1 january 112.7 94.8
additional investment in existing subsidiaries 0.1 17.9

At 31 December 112.8 112.7

details of the principal operating subsidiaries which are either wholly owned by the company or its subsidiaries are shown in the group
section of the report on page 24.

in the opinion of the directors, the value of the company’s investments in its subsidiaries is not less than the amount at which it is
stated in the balance sheet.

3 deBtOrS

2012 2011
£m £m

amounts due after one year
amounts owed by group undertakings 106.2 110.0

amounts due within one year
amounts owed by group undertakings 13.4 4.0
Other debtors 1.4 0.5
prepayments and accrued income 0.5 0.4
deferred tax (note 6) 0.7 0.5

16.0 5.4

122.2 115.4

amounts due from group undertakings are unsecured and carry interest at varying margins relating to base rate. The loans are repayable
at any time with the mutual agreement of both parties.
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nOteS tO tHe aCCOuntS

4 CreditOrS – amOuntS fallinG due WitHin One year

2012 2011
£m £m

bank overdrafts 27.1 8.3
amounts owed to group undertakings 36.2 42.0
corporation tax 1.0 0.9
deferred consideration 3.7 10.4
accruals 2.6 3.4

70.6 65.0

amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured and carry interest at varying margins relating to base rate. The loans are repayable
at any time with the mutual agreement of both parties.

The amounts recognised on acquisition in respect of deferred consideration are management’s best estimates of the amounts which
will be payable. both the amounts and the timing of future payments are uncertain as they are dependent upon the future performance
of the businesses acquired.

5 CreditOrS – amOuntS fallinG due after mOre tHan One year

2012 2011
£m £m

bank and other borrowings
unsecured bank loan repayable
between one and two years 50.9 45.3
between two and five years – –
Over five years – –

50.9 45.3

derivative financial liabilities 0.3 –
deferred consideration – 3.6

51.2 48.9

details of the bank loans and derivative financial liabilities are given in notes 14 and 15 of the group financial statements.

6 deferred tax

2012 2011
£m £m

Deferred tax
at 1 january 0.5 (0.1)
profit and loss account 0.2 0.6

At 31 December 0.7 0.5

The movement in the year and the closing asset principally relate to deferred tax on share-based payments.
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nOteS tO tHe aCCOuntS

7 mOvement in SHareHOlderS’ fundS

share share special cash flow profit and loss 2012 2011
capital premium capital hedging reserve account total Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

at 1 january 23.4 18.2 12.1 – 65.8 119.5 94.7

shares issued during the year 0.1 – – – – 0.1 0.1
net proceeds from share placing – – – – – – 24.8
profit for the financial year – – – (0.2) 10.7 10.5 5.9
dividends – – – – (10.2) (10.2) (7.9)
purchase of own shares (note 8) – – – – (1.1) (1.1) (0.1)
value of employee services – – – – 2.0 2.0 2.0

movement in year 0.1 – – (0.2) 1.4 1.3 24.8

At 31 December 23.5 18.2 12.1 (0.2) 67.2 120.8 119.5

The special capital reserve is non-distributable.

The share placing in 2011 resulted in the creation of a reserve of £22.7 million that was credited to retained earnings. following the
finalisation of buck & Hickman fair value adjustments, £17.4 million is considered to be non-distributable.

8 Called up SHare Capital

2012 2012 2011 2011
number £m number £m

Ordinary shares of 20p each
allotted, called up and fully paid
At 31 December 117,204,074 23.5 116,944,074 23.4

Resolution One passed at the General meeting held on 29 October 2009 removed the limit on the company on its ability to issue shares.
accordingly the company has no limit on authorised share capital (2011: no limit).

in the period from 1 january 2013 to 19 february 2013 no shares were issued on the exercise of options under the company’s share
option schemes.

purchase of own shares
during the period the company acquired 634,026 of its own shares of 20p each through the brammer plc employee share Ownership
Trust (“the Trust”) for an aggregate consideration of £1,136,676, which has been deducted from shareholders’ equity. The shares are
held by the Trust to meet vestings under the group’s performance share plans and share matching plans. Tranches of these plans vested
during the period and 806,794 shares were transferred to directors and senior managers in order to meet vestings under these plans.

at 31 december 2012 the Trust held a total of 6,078 shares in the company in order to meet part of the company’s liabilities under the
performance share plans and share matching plans. The Trust deed contains a waiver provision in respect of these shares.

Ordinary shares issued
during the period the Trust subscribed for 260,000 ordinary shares of 20p each at par. Options exercised during the period under the
group’s employee share option schemes resulted in 29,275 ordinary 20p shares being issued with exercise proceeds of £29,129.
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nOteS tO tHe aCCOuntS

9 emplOyee Benefit expenSe

2012 2011
£m £m

Wages and salaries 5.2 5.1
social security costs 1.1 0.8
share options granted to directors and employees 2.0 2.0
Other pension costs 2.8 2.5

11.1 10.4

average number of employees (including directors on a service contract) 81 50

10 auditOrS’ remuneratiOn

fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the financial statements were £0.1 million (2011: £0.1 million). non-audit fees
payable to the company’s auditors were £0.1 million (2011: £0.1 million).

11 COntinGent liaBilitieS

The company’s major subsidiaries are party to a bank guarantee whereby they agree to discharge on demand, in part or in total, bank
borrowings under a specific facility of other companies within the brammer plc group.

12 related party tranSaCtiOnS

The company is exempt under the terms of fRs8 from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are part of the group as
these transactions are fully eliminated on consolidation.
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finanCial Calendar 2013

17 may 2013 annual general meeting at 43– 45 broad street, Teddington, middlesex TW11 8QZ
7 june 2013 Record date
2 july 2013 dividend payment date
30 july 2013 announcement of interim results for the six months to 30 june 2013
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SHareHOlder infOrmatiOn

if you require any information about your shareholding please contact the company’s registrars, equiniti, aspect House, spencer Road,
lancing, West sussex bn99 6da telephone 0871 3842215. calls to this number cost 8p per minute from a bT landline; other providers’
costs may vary. lines are open from 8.30am to 5.30pm, monday to friday. for overseas callers the number to call is +44 (0)121 4157047.

The registrar has introduced a service for shareholders which gives them on-line internet access to their shareholding. To register
please go to www.shareview.co.uk. you will need your shareholder account number and you will be asked to select your own pin. if
you have any further questions about this service please contact equiniti on the above number.

Our website
you can find out further information about brammer plc and view company announcements on the brammer website at www.brammer.biz.

ShareGift scheme
some shareholders find themselves owning a very small number of shares that would cost them more to dispose of than they are worth.
They bring with them a tax liability and unwanted documentation.

The shareGift scheme is a registered charity run by The Orr mackintosh foundation. any shares donated to the shareGift scheme
are transferred into the name of The Orr mackintosh foundation, the shares are sold where possible and the proceeds are donated
to charity.

if you would like further information on the shareGift scheme please call 020 7930 3737 or visit its website at www.sharegift.org.
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